
AB 
 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 20 APRIL 2021 
1.30 PM 
 
Peterborough City Council YouTube Page 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council.  

 

 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor 
 

 

4. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 

 

 4.1 19/00272/OUT - Land Off Newborough Road, North Of A47 And 
West Of A16 Paston Peterborough PE4 7AA 
 

5 - 50 

 4.2 20/00846/HHFUL - 21 Cherryfields Orton Waterville 
Peterborough PE2 5XD 
 

51 - 62 

 4.3 20/01502/FUL - 266 Eastfield Road Eastfield Peterborough PE1 
4BE 
 

63 - 88 

 4.4 21/00132/FUL - 60 Hodney Road Eye Peterborough PE6 7YJ 
 

89 - 104 

 
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. Audio-recordings of 
meetings may be published on the Council’s website. A protocol on this facility is available at: 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=

690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: G Casey (Vice Chairman), C Harper (Chairman), P Hiller, R Brown, Warren, Hussain, 
Iqbal, Jones, B Rush, Hogg and Bond 

 
Substitutes: Councillors: N Sandford, Simons and M Jamil 

 
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Karen Dunleavy on telephone 01733 
452233 or by email – karen.dunleavy@peterborough.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

1

https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=peterborough+city+council
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


CASE OFFICERS: 
 
Planning and Development Team:  Nicholas Harding, Sylvia Bland, Janet Maclennan, David 

Jolley, Louise Simmonds,, Amanda McSherry, Matt Thomson, 
Asif Ali, Michael Freeman, Jack Gandy, Carry Murphy, Mike 
Roberts, Karen Ip, Shaheeda Montgomery and Susan 
Shenston 

 
Minerals and Waste:   Alan Jones 
 
Compliance:   Jason Grove, Amy Kelley and Alex Wood-Davis 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer, 

Head of Planning and/or Development Management Manager as soon as possible. 
 
2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  

Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.   
 
3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 

implications for that policy, except where expressly stated. 
 
4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 

specifically referred to in the report itself. 
 
5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
 received after their preparation. 
 
 
 

2



The Site

Print Date: 24/03/2021

Committee Location Plan 19/00272/OUT Land Off Newborough Road, North Of A47 And West Of A16 Paston Peterborough PE4 7AA. NTS

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:2,500

0 100 200 300 40050
Meters

Scale

3



T
his page is intentionally left blank

4



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee 20 April 2021            Item No. 1 
 
Application Ref: 19/00272/OUT  
 
Proposal: Outline application for the Erection of up to 870 residential dwellings with 

access from Newborough Road; provision of a two-form entry primary 
school and playing field; a local centre up to 0.25ha with 
A1/A2/A3/A4/A5/D1 use classes; open space and landscaping; and other 
infrastructure and associated works including demolition of all buildings on 
site, with access secured and all other matters reserved. 

 
Site: Land Off Newborough Road, North Of A47 And West Of A16, Paston, 

Peterborough, PE4 7AA 
Applicant: Taylor Wimpey and Calco 101 Ltd 
Agent: Mr Kieran Rushe 
 Stantec Uk Ltd 
Site visit: 14.03.2019 
 
Case officer: Miss A McSherry 
Telephone No. 01733 453410 
E-Mail: amanda.mcsherry@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions, and the completion of a S106  
   agreement.  Delegated Authority is requested to allow the Head of  
   Planning Services to agree the final planning conditions and completion of 
   the Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations.   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
 
The application site measures approximately 35.03 hectares in size, and is located within the 
urban boundary of Peterborough.   
 
The application site forms part of the Norwood LP35.6 Urban Extension.  The total urban extension 
is for an indicative 2,000 residential dwellings, and is approximately 74.47 hectares in size.  This 
application site therefore covers about 47% of the total land area for the Norwood Urban Extension 
site.     
 
The site is generally level and lies at approximately 14m above ordnance datum (AOD).  The 
majority of the site is agricultural fields in arable use, with a small area of broadleaved semi-natural 
woodland, known as Norwood Spinney present along the northern boundary.  Leeds Cottage and 
associated buildings are located in the south west corner of the site.  There are a number drainage 
ditches running across the site, which are marked by hedgerows with the occasional hedgerow 
trees, a number of small scattered trees are also present within the site.   
 
There are no public rights of way which pass through the site.  Bridleway Peterborough 70 is 
situated approximately 120m south of the site and connects Newborough Road with Whitepost 
Road.  There are no listed buildings within the site.   
 
The site is bounded by and contains part of the Scheduled Monument the Roman Car Dyke which 
runs along the northern part of the application site.   
 
To the east of the site the land is bounded by the remaining land of the allocation and beyond this 
is the A16 road.  To the south similarly is the other allocated land and beyond this the A47 and A16 
road and the roundabout intersection between them.   

5



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

 
 
To the west the site is bounded by land of the wider allocation and the Newborough Road.  On the 
opposite side of Newborough Road are some houses and the Paston Reserve housing site and 
new school site beyond.   
 
Proposal 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for :- 
 

• Up to 870 residential dwellings with access from Newborough Rd; 

• A 2 form entry primary school and playing field (enough land for a 3 form entry primary 
school, 2.9 hectares, is being provided for); 

• A local centre of up to 0.25 hectares with up to 929sqm of A1/A2/A3/A4/A5/D1 (now all 
new Class E )uses 

• Open space, recreation areas and landscaping (including buffer to the Car Dyke); 

• Associated works and infrastructure; 

• Demolition of all buildings on site (Leeds Farm cottages and associated farm buildings) 

• 2 foul water pumping stations 
 
Under this outline planning permission, all matters, except access, are reserved for future 
applications and consideration.   
 
2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
17/00001/SCOP Scoping opinion Comments  16/06/2017 
16/00002/SCOP Scoping opinion request Comments  06/06/2016 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Paragraph 47 - Determination of Applications  
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with 
the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Paragraph 94 - School Provision  
Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to ensuring 
the sufficient choice of school place is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. Great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools. 
 
Paragraph 108 - Transport Impacts  
Any significant impacts from development on the transport network (capacity and congestion) or on 
highway safety should be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. Development should 
only be prevented or refused on highway safety grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety or the residual cumulative impact on the road network would be severe. 
 
Paragraph 163 - Flood Risk - Site Specific FRA  
In determining applications Local Planning Authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased 
elsewhere. Where appropriate applications should be supported by a Site Specific Flood Risk 
Assessment. Development should only be allowed in areas of flooding where in lighting of the 
assessment (and the sequential test and exceptions test as applicable) it has been demonstrated 
that within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless 

6



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

there is an overriding justification, the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient, it 
incorporates sustainable drainage systems unless inappropriate, any residual risk can be managed 
and safe access and escape routes are included as appropriate. 
 
Paragraph 175 - Biodiversity Enhancement  
Development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported. 
Opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged. 
 
Paragraph 180 - Pollution  
New development should be appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects 
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment. 
In doing so they should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from 
noise from new development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health 
and quality of life, identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by 
noise and limit the impact of light pollution from artificial lighting on local amenity, intrinsically dark 
landscapes and nature conservation. 
 
Paragraph 189 – Significance of Heritage Assets 
In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the 
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. 
 
Paragraph 190 – Impact on heritage Assets 
Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage 
asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. 
 
Paragraph 193 – Impact on heritage Assets 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be).  
 
Paragraph 196 – Weighing up the harm on heritage Assets 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.   
 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
 
MW26 - Mineral Safeguarding Areas  
Mineral Safeguarding Areas identify potentially economic deposits of mineral to ensure they are 
not unknowingly or needlessly sterilised. 
 
MW30 - Waste Consultation Areas  
Waste Consultation Areas will be identified through the Core Strategy and Site Specific Proposals 
Plan and development will only be permitted in these areas where it is demonstrated it will not 
prejudice future or existing planned waste management operations. 
 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP35 - Urban Extensions Allocations  
Identifies the site allocated for urban extensions in accordance with policy LP05. 
 
LP05 - Urban Extensions  
Development of new urban extensions (500 or more dwellings) must be planned and implemented 
and in a comprehensive way through an agreed broad concept plan. Urban extensions should (as 
appropriate) make efficient use of land, provide open space, play facilities and landscaping, a mix 
of housing including self-build plots, include a range of employment opportunities, provide an 

7



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

appropriate level of school facilities, retail, leisure, social, cultural, community and health facilities, 
minimise the need to travel and maximise sustainable travel, provide appropriate access and 
mitigate against any wider highways impacts. 
 
LP01 - Sustainable Development and Creation of the UK's Environment Capital  
The council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development within the National Planning Policy Framework. It will seek to approve development 
wherever possible and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area and in turn helps Peterborough create the UK's Environment 
Capital. 
 
LP02 - The Settle Hierarchy and the Countryside  
The location/scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Proposals 
within village envelopes will be supported in principle, subject to them being of an appropriate 
scale. Development in the open countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met. 
 
LP03 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development  
Provision will be made for an additional 21,315 dwellings from April 2016 to March 2036 in the 
urban area, strategic areas/allocations. 
 
LP07 - Health and Wellbeing  
Development should promote, support and enhance the health and wellbeing of the community. 
Proposals for new health facilities should relate well to public transport services, walking/cycling 
routes and be accessible to all sectors of the community. 
 
LP08 - Meeting Housing Needs  
LP8a) Housing Mix/Affordable Housing - Promotes a mix of housing, the provision of 30% 
affordable on sites of 15 of more dwellings, housing for older people, the provision of housing to 
meet the needs of the most vulnerable, and dwellings with higher access standards 
 
LP8b) Rural Exception Sites- Development for affordable housing outside of but adjacent to village 
envelopes maybe accepted provided that it needs an identified need which cannot be met in the 
village, is supported locally and there are no fundamental constraints to delivery or harm arsing. 
 
LP8c) Homes for Permanent Caravan Dwellers/Park Homes- Permission will be granted for 
permanent residential caravans (mobile homes) on sites which would be acceptable for permanent 
dwellings. 
 
LP12 - Retail and Other Town Centre Uses  
Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City Centre and 
where appropriate district and local centres. Retail development will be supported within the 
primary shopping area. Non retail uses in the primary shopping area will only be supported where 
the vitality and viability of the centre is not harmed. Only retail proposals within a designated 
centre, of an appropriate scale, will be supported. A sequential approach will be applied to retail 
and leisure development outside of designated centres. 
 
The loss of village shops will only be accepted subject to certain conditions being met. New shops 
or extensions will be supported in connection with planned growth and where it would create a 
more sustainable community subject to amenity and environmental considerations provided it is of 
an appropriate scale. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 

8



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP13d) City Centre- All proposal must demonstrate that careful consideration has been given to 
prioritising pedestrian access, to improving access for those with mobility issues, to encouraging 
cyclists and to reducing the need for vehicles to access the area. 
 
LP14 - Infrastructure  
Permission will only be granted where there is, or will be via mitigation measures, sufficient 
infrastructure capacity to support the impacts of the development. Developers will be expected to 
contribute toward the delivery of relevant infrastructure. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP21 - New Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities  
LP12 Part A New Open Space, Outdoor Sport and Recreation Facilities- Residential schemes of 
15 or more dwellings will be required to make appropriate provision for new or enhanced open 
space, sports and recreation facilities in accordance with the standards. The council's first 
preference is for on site provision.  
 
LP21 Part B: Indoor Sports and Recreation Facilities- All residential development below 500 
dwellings will contribute to the provision of 'off site' strategic indoor sports and recreation facilities 
by way of CIL. For sites of 500 dwellings more a S106 Planning Obligation will be sort. 
 
LP21 Part C Designated Sites- Mitigation of Recreational Impacts of Development- Where 
development has the potential to have a significant adverse effect on the integrity of a designated 
international or national site for nature conservation as a result of recreation pressure, the 
development maybe require to provide open space of sufficient size, type and quality over and 
above the standards to mitigate that pressure. 
 
LP22 - Green Infrastructure Network  
The council in partnership with others will seek to maintain and improve the existing green 
infrastructure. Strategic and major development proposals should incorporate opportunities for 
green infrastructure. Proposals will be expected to provide clear arrangements for long term 
maintenance and management. Development must protect existing linear features of the green 
infrastructure network. Proposals which would cause harm will not be permitted unless the need for 
and benefits of the development demonstrably outweigh any adverse impacts. 
 

9



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

LP27 - Landscape Character  
New development in and adjoining the countryside should be located and designed in a way that is 
sensitive to its landscaping setting, retaining and enhancing the landscape character. 
 
LP28 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  
Part 1: Designated Site  
International Sites- The highest level of protection will be afforded to these sites. Proposals which 
would have an adverse impact on the integrity of such areas and which cannot be avoided or 
adequately mitigated will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances where there are no 
suitable alternatives, over riding public interest and subject to appropriate compensation.  
National Sites- Proposals within or outside a SSSI likely to have an adverse effect will not normally 
be permitted unless the benefits outweigh the adverse impacts. 
 
Local Sites- Development likely to have an adverse effect will only be permitted where the need 
and benefits outweigh the loss. 
Habitats and Species of Principal Importance- Development proposals will be considered in the 
context of the duty to promote and protect species and habitats. Development which would have 
an adverse impact will only be permitted where the need and benefit clearly outweigh the impact. 
Appropriate mitigation or compensation will be required. 
 
Part 2: Habitats and Geodiversity in Development 
All proposals should conserve and enhance avoiding a negative impact on biodiversity and 
geodiversity.  
 
Part 3: Mitigation of Potential Adverse Impacts of Development 
Development should avoid adverse impact as the first principle. Where such impacts are 
unavoidable they must be adequately and appropriately mitigated. Compensation will be required 
as a last resort. 
 
LP29 - Trees and Woodland  
Proposals should be prepared based upon the overriding principle that existing tree and woodland 
cover is maintained. Opportunities for expanding woodland should be actively considered.  
Proposals which would result in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodland and or the loss of 
veteran trees will be refused unless there are exceptional benefits which outweigh the loss. Where 
a proposal would result in the loss or deterioration of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order 
permission will be refused unless there is no net loss of amenity value or the need for and benefits 
of the development outweigh the loss. Where appropriate mitigation planting will be required. 
 
LP30 - Culture, Leisure, Tourism and Community Facilities  
LP30a) Development of new cultural, leisure and tourism facilities will be supported in the city 
centre. Facilities elsewhere may be supported in accordance with a sequential approach to site 
selection.  
 
LP30b) Development proposals should recognise that community facilities are an integral 
component in achieving and maintaining sustainable development. Proposals for new community 
facilities will be supported in principle.  
 
LP30c) The loss via redevelopment of an existing community, cultural, leisure or tourism facility will 
only be permitted if it is demonstrated that the facility is no longer fit for purpose, the service 
provided can be met by another facility or the proposal includes a new facility of a similar nature. 
 
LP32 - Flood and Water Management  
Proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk management in line with the NPPF and 
council's Flood and Water Management SPD.. Sustainable drainage systems should be used 
where appropriate. Development proposals should also protect the water environment. 
 
LP33 - Development on Land Affected by Contamination  

10



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused. 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services  
No Objection – Subject to the imposition of conditions.  The modelling undertaken has established 
that the first 200 dwellings could be built out without highway mitigation measures being required.  
However ongoing monitoring will be required to ensure the actual traffic impacts reflect those of the 
modelling.  Monitor and manage conditions are recommended to ensure the highway mitigation 
measures are implemented at the correct time.  The Norwood Access study funded by the 
Combined Authority is looking at highway schemes for the whole of the Norwood housing 
allocation including providing access through the site to the A16.  It could be that rather than 
implement the highway mitigation measures identified through the ‘Monitor and Manage’ process  
developer contributions are re-directed to deliver the wider highway scheme for the whole site.  
Conditions in respect of the detailed access, works to Newborough Road and provision of a 
footpath are also recommended.   
 
PCC Conservation Officer  
No Objection - There is some concern regarding the proximity of the development to the Car Dyke 
and the interaction and relationship of the site to the Scheduled Monument. The Dyke for a 
significant section provides a boundary between the city of Peterborough and the adjacent Fen. 
This is an important relationship that helps define the founding of the city as well as a substantial 
and significant part of Peterborough’s existing setting. It is noted that the development is on the city 
non-fen side of the Dyke continuing the existing arrangement to the north. 
 
Car Dyke is a Scheduled Monument and as such we defer to Historic England’s expertise in 
ensuring that the development does not unduly impact upon the heritage asset. 
 
The heritage statement identifies six Listed Buildings and a Conservation Area within a 1.5km 
radius. There is agreement however with the submitted assessment that none of these heritage 
assets has a material relationship with the proposed site and therefore the proposal will not impact 
upon their significance. 
 
PCC Pollution Team  
No Objection – Subject to the imposition of conditions in respect of contamination.  A Phase 11 
report is required together with details of any required remediation.  Once the remediation works 
are completed on site a site completion report will be required to be submitted for agreement. An 
unsuspected contamination condition is also recommended.  A condition in respect of details for 
the extract and ventilation for cooking smells/fumes should be imposed.  Details of plant noise 
should be secured by condition.  Electric charging points should be proposed for both the 
residential and business uses.   
 
PCC Archaeological Officer  
The proposed development site borders onto the well-preserved scheduled section of the Roman 
Car Dyke (SM1021133), which forms the northern boundary of the site. The development will have 
no direct effect on the scheduled monument. The retention of the existing woodland and the 
provision of a buffer zone will contribute to conserve the asset integrity and minimise potential 
physical damage during all stages of development and subsequent occupation and use of the site. 
The introduction of buildings will have a negative impact on the current rural setting of the 
monument.  Historic England will advise on the setting issues and the provision of a buffer zone, as 
well as the need to secure temporary/permanent fencing.   
 
Past archaeological work carried out in the areas adjacent to the proposed development site had 
already identified evidence for Iron Age, Roman and medieval activity. A recent programme of pre-

11



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

determination archaeological geophysical survey and trial trenching evaluation has confirmed the 
presence of three ‘zones’ of archaeological interest within the site boundary.   Zone 1 is in the 
north-eastern corner where uncharacterised and undated shallow features may have been 
associated with the use of the Car Dyke in Roman times. Zones 2 and 3 in the central and south-
western part of the site have produced evidence for activity of Early to Middle Bronze Age date 
contemporary with Flag Fen, which is located some 3.5km to the south.  
 
The three ‘Zones’ (Zones 1-3) of archaeological interest, are located in areas which will be affected 
by groundwork in the form of housing and/or SuDS, as well as utility provision, access and 
landscaping. Therefore, further archaeological work in the form of open area excavations targeted 
on the identified areas of significance should be carried out pre-determination (preferred option) or 
at least secured by condition, as part of the formulation of a strategy to ensure the recording, 
preservation and management of the resource directly threatened by the proposed development 
during all phases of construction. The programme of excavation may lead to the formulation of a 
proposal for further archaeological investigation within a programme of research.  
 
Although the geophysical survey and evaluation by trial trenching have revealed three main ‘zones’ 
of activity (to be further investigated, above) and scattered peripheral features, further, undetected 
features may be present. Therefore, monitoring of all groundwork operations should be carried out 
under archaeological supervision, in addition to the targeted open area excavations (above). The 
proposed open space would include the provision of SuDs which may affect potential features 
associated with Car Dyke. Monitoring of all groundwork operations within the area of open space 
should be carried out under archaeological supervision. 
 
All archaeological work must be carried out in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation 
(WSI) which is expected to fulfil the conditions specified in a brief issued by this office, unless 
otherwise agreed, and must be approved by the local planning authority. No 
demolition/development shall take place/commence until the WSI has been submitted to, and 
approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing in advance of fieldwork. For land that is 
included within the WSI, no demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance with 
the agreed WSI. 
 
Lead Local Drainage Authority  
No Objection – 2 different FRA and drainage strategies have been submitted, this needs 
clarification.  The quick storage estimate used to calculate the surface water attenuation only 
accounts for 30.5 ha, however the FRAs state the site is between 34.4 - 35.03ha. Therefore we 
require clarification of why 30.5ha has been used as the total area. Clarification of how the 60% 
impermeability was calculated for the site.  Confirmation of who will be responsible for the 
maintenance and management of all of the ditches within the allocated land, as well as the final 
outfall. These ditches are a fundamental part of the surface water management strategy and their 
maintenance is essential for the site to function.  We require confirmation in principle of the types 
of SuDS proposed for all phases and what techniques are proposed to drain different areas of 
each phase. Confirmation of what effects the increased volume of surface water entering the ditch 
system will have on the PCC Highways pond asset downstream; with details of the mitigation 
measures required to prevent deterioration the asset.   
 

In respect of the amended FRA and drainage strategy and additional information received.  The 

methodology in calculating the 18.36 ha impermeable area is based on the 60% positively drained 
area for the development, and I note that as part of the MicroDrainage Flood Storage Estimates 
that both CV values have been set at 0.750 and 0.840. However, as these estimates are based on 
the impermeable area both CV values should be set to 1 and the drainage strategy amended to 
reflect this.  Although I have no concerns with the principle of providing swales / filter strips and 
detention basins to fufill some aspects of the SuDS requirement on site, I do note that the FRA and 
Drainage Strategy states that the development will also utilise traditional drainage methods in order 
to collect and convey surface water runoff. However, it should be noted that traditional drainage 
methods would only be considered where all other SuDS methods have been proven to not be 
viable as part of the detailed design for each phase, including source control SuDS. Therefore, the 

12



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

current SuDS statement within the FRA and Drainage Strategy needs to be amended to reflect this 
requirement. I note that the proposals of the development only cover a proportion of the site 
allocation.  As such, we require clarification that the proposed development will allow for the 
remainder of the allocated land to be drained successfully, and as a result not impede other 
development going forward.  I would encourage the applicant to contact with Anglian Water 
regarding the potential adoption of SuDS features, you can email any queries to 
SuDS@anglianwater.co.uk.  I would encourage contacting the Environment Agency as the 
proposed development may require an environmental permit.   
 
The amended FRA and drainage strategy now received are now acceptable, subject to the detailed 
drainage strategies being secured by condition.   
 
PCC Landscape Technical Officer  
Objection – None of the pre application open space comments appear to have been taken on 
board or addressed.   
 
Further consultation – I am pleased that a Central Green Area of POS has been created with the 
inclusion of the NEAP.  A couple of points on such the watercourse running through here that 
appears to be retained will need to be piped. Secondly I see where it says about Natural 
Contour all Play Areas need to be fenced & PCC and require in this location not to use Natural (ie 
wooden) Play Equipment.  I see that 2 x LEAPS are also proposed while this is welcomed, to 
enable the 450m buffer to reach the outside perimeters of the Development the LEAP nearest 
Newborough Road is needing to be relocated into the area forming the rest of the Development. It 
may well be that with the split in Developments that this Developer contributes via offsite to the 
neighbouring Development on this aspect. I can see no inclusion of Allotments. To be clear to 
make sure all households are within the required 560m buffer the Allotments are needing to be in a 
central location.  We are needing to slightly amend the set backs still on the Hedgerows, while 
what is proposed is definitely an improvement on the already constructed Paston Reserve the set 
back needs to be a minimum of 3m from Private Drives and Pedestrian footpaths (with root 
protection barriers installed). 
 
PCC Bereavement Services  
No Objection - The development will potentially impact on bereavement services and a s106 
contribution should be sought towards the provision of a new cemetery as existing facilities are 
nearing exhaustion.  The estimate capital cost for the New Cemetery Project - purchasing 20 acres 
for 15,000 graves, will be £2,220,500,therefore £148.00 per bedroom however as the current 
demand for burials are at 20% compared to cremations, I request that the contribution per 
bedroom, per property should be £29.60. 
 
PCC Travel Choice  
I have considerable concerns about sustainable travel accessibility options.  It seems the only way 
out of the site is by car or over a footbridge through a Travellers site.  There is currently no safe or 
convenient cycle route currently available between the site and the city centre. The submitted 
information highlights that there is an extensive network of pedestrian and cycle routes accessible 
from Welland Road.  However Welland Road cannot be conveniently or safely accessed by cycle 
from the site.  The Travel plan mentions the pedestrian/cycle footbridge that crosses the A15 
however this is not on the dominant desire line from the site and therefore is unlikely to be 
attractive route for use by pedestrian or cyclist from the site.  The Travel Plan mentions he 
bridleway that runs along the southern boundary of the allocated site, and then has a Pegasus 
crossing on the A16 to connect to Whitepost Road.  This route runs in the opposite direction for the 
city centre and employment areas and therefore is likely to be used for leisure only.  In addition to 
this route not being a desire line, the Pegasus crossing on the A16 does not provide a safe route to 
Welland Road.  It can be used to reach an uncontrolled crossing on the A47 immediately east of 
the A47/A16 roundabout but this does not provide a safe or convenient route to Welland Road.  
The A47 crossing is located on a multi lane, high speed section of road which carries a high 
volume of traffic.  It is at a point where drivers enter or exit the roundabout, often at speed, and 
where they will be focusing on the movements of other vehicles.  Even if drivers do observe a 

13



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

pedestrian or cyclist waiting to cross they are unlikely to slow or stop in order to give way.  The 
bridleway is mainly unlit, and does not connect to any existing infrastructure, ending on Welland 
Road, therefore this is not a safe and attractive route.  Welcome Packs with travel information for 
all new residential units will be required.  The householder travel survey questions need 
clarification.  An outline travel plan for the school would have been expected.  Followed by a full 
travel plan once open.              
 
PCC Strategic Housing  
Objection – We expect to accord with policy 30% on site provision of affordable housing.  On a site 
of 870 dwellings this would equate to 261 residential units.  The tenure split expected would be 
70% affordable rented tenure and 30% intermediate tenure.  This would mean 183 affordable 
rented homes and 78 intermediate tenure. 20% (174 units) of the units should meet the lifetime 
home standard and 2 % (17 units) the wheelchair home standard.  In the event that it is proven that 
30% on site affordable housing would not be viable, the developer must discuss with the Council 
the availability of grant funding to facilitate delivery of 30% affordable housing at no financial 
detriment to the developer.   
 
PCC Minerals And Waste Officer (Policy)  
No Objection - As an application for development on allocated land, there is no requirement for 
consultation with regards the Minerals Safeguarding Area (MW policy CS26), however the 
applicant should be encouraged to consider how to make best use of the underlying resource 
when developing the site (the MSA is for brickclay). 
 
The proposal site lies just outside the Waste Consultation Area (MW policy CS30) W8Q associated 
with the waste management facilities to the south, and although there is no requirement for this 
application to demonstrate how the proposal would not prejudice the wastes uses associated with 
the WCA, the applicant should be encouraged to consider the interaction between this proposal 
and the masterplanning for the wider urban extension SA1.5 to ensure that suitable proposals 
come forward for the area directly to the south of the current proposal site. 
 
I would also like to draw your attention to EIA proposals at the Dogsthorpe landfill site which may 
have cumulative impacts to take into consideration, including 18/02196/MMFUL, which includes 
the importation of approximately 600,000 tonnes of material over a 6 year period, and a Scoping 
request 19/00001/SCOP for the importation of approximately 135,000 tonnes of material.  
 
Please note there is also a S73 application, 18/028)15/WCMM for the landfill site which concerns 
amendments to the restoration scheme, and an extension of time for the importation of 
approximately 400,000 tonnes of restoration materials (which are required to be imported under 
the extant consent). 
 
PCC Wildlife Officer 
Objection – Until a measurable demonstration of biodiversity net gain using the Defra metric is 
provided.  Detailed discussion with Natural England is required to ensure adequate green 
infrastructure is provided on site to avoid negative impacts from increased recreational pressure to 
Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI.  The potential impacts on Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI must be assessed 
including water levels and quality, air quality and recreational pressure.  In respect of breeding 
birds, reptiles, badgers, bats, hedgehogs, and brown hare, the ecological management plan should 
cover the avoidance and mitigation measures to ensure their protection.  To substantiate the 
claims the proposal will deliver net biodiversity gain, the defra matric or similar should be submitted 
to provide a clear demonstration of the measurable net gain.  The provision of a green corridor 
along the northern boundary, incorporating the retained Norwood Spinney and buffer to Carr Dyke 
is welcomed.  However it is not clear what proportion of the site is proposed as green 
infrastructure, and this should be demonstrated to ensure adequate mitigation is provided to have 
absorb increased recreational pressure on the nearby SSSI.  Newly created habitats should be 
designed to maximise biodiversity benefits e.g. incorporating native aquatic planting into the 
drainage scheme, the use of species rich wild flower seeding in areas of grassland and open 
space.  The submitted construction environment Management Plan lacks all the necessary detail 

14



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

required in respect of ecology.  This should be updated accordingly or an Ecological Construction 
Method Statement could be provided to cover this.  A detailed Ecological Management Plan 
(setting out all ecological avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures as well as habitat 
management and ecological monitoring details), Ecological Construction Method Statement and 
Sensitive Lighting Scheme are required to be submitted for approval, prior to commencement.  
These documents may be secured by condition. 
    
2nd Consultation – The CEMP does now have an ecology section, but it is very basic.  There is still 
additional information required to be covered this could be submitted pre-determination or 
conditioned.  The defra metric or similar has still not been provided to demonstrate biodiversity 
gain.  The Wildlife Trust have also raised this issue.  Whilst the scheme may well provide 
biodiversity gain it should be evidenced.   
 
PCC Waste Management  
No Objections – Appropriate waste storage, access and provisions should be provided for any flats 
to be proposed.  Information and guidance of these requirements can be found in the RECAP 
Waste Management Design Guide.  Advice can be given if required in respect of commercial waste 
generation, including the school if required.  For residential development appropriate bin collection 
points for at least 2 bins per property would be required.  Where roads are to be adopted the 
turning area must be fully suitable to account for collection vehicles accessing the site on a regular 
basis.  Full tracking details will be required at the reserved matters stage to ensure vehicles can 
access the roads with ease.   
    
Highways England (HE)  
Objection – A holding objection was imposed until HE could review and assess all the technical 
information submitted to consider the impact of the development and any proposed mitigation 
required, to enable the strategic road network to continue to perform in accordance with the 
requirements of the Highways Act 1980.  It should be noted that this development is part of a larger 
allocation site in the Local Plan and it will need to be considered in that context and considering the 
impacts and mitigation of the whole development.    We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 21 June 2019.   
 
A holding objection – HE are working with the Local Highway Authority and the applicant’s 
consultants to understand and agree the technical information provided in support of the 
application.  It is likely that mitigation measures will be required where the local road network 
meets the A47 trunk road and assessment of this junction to ensure there is sufficient capacity and 
that it meets required design standard.  This work is ongoing.  We recommend that the application 
is not determined before 22 August 2019.   
 
A holding objection – Discussions are ongoing.  We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 22 October 2019.   
 
A holding objection – Discussions are ongoing.  We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 7 December 2019.   
 
A holding objection - Further work on the modelling to inform the impact of the development 
proposals on the A47 trunk road by the applicant’s consultants is ongoing. This modelling is 
required to clearly understand what mitigation is required and that it will not undermine the  
performance of the highway in accordance with the requirements of the Highways Act 1980.  We 
recommend that the application is not determined before 7 February 2020.   
 
A holding objection - Highways England are currently reviewing the technical information provided 
in support of this planning application. We recommend that the application is not determined before 
27 March 2020.   
  
A holding objection – Discussions are ongoing.  We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 26 May 2020.   

15



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

 
A holding objection - Highways England are currently reviewing the technical information provided 
in support of this planning application. We recommend that the application is not determined before 
24 July 2020.   
 
A holding objection – Discussions are ongoing.  We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 30 October 2020.   
 
A holding objection – Agreement of the transport assessment of the likely impacts of this proposed 
development on the A47 trunk road is close to being finalised.  Currently HE are discussing with 
the applicant’s consultants Stantec details of suitable trigger points beyond which mitigation will be 
required to enable the A47 to continue to perform in accordance with the requirements of the 
Highways Act 1980.  The proposed mitigation works to the junction of Newborough Road with the 
A47, and the A16/A47 junction will be subject to a safety audit.  We recommend that the 
application is not determined before 1 December 2020 to allow this to be resolved.   
 
A holding objection - Highways England are currently reviewing the technical information provided 
in support of this planning application. We recommend that the application is not determined before 
08 January 2021.   
 
A holding objection - Following detailed discussions with the applicant and the local authority, 
mitigation measures to address the impact of this development on the highway network need to be 
considered in conjunction with the overall accessibility requirements for the Norwood Extension. 
Consequently, a review is being concluded on how this can be taken forward. We recommend that 
the application is not determined before 3 February 2021 to allow this to be resolved. 
 
A holding objection – Discussions are ongoing.  We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 3 March 2021.   
 
A holding objection – Discussions are ongoing.  We recommend that the application is not 
determined before 2 April 2021.   
 
No Objection – Subject to the imposition if conditions.  Following extensive discussions with the 
developer’s technical team Stantec and Peterborough City Council (PCC) as local highway 
authority, agreement has been reached, on the impact of the proposed development on the A47 
trunk road and the level of required mitigation to ensure that the A47 can operate safely and 
effectively. It was agreed that there should be an initial trigger point on the number of dwellings to 
be delivered followed by an assessment based on a ‘monitor and manage’ process to assess 
levels of further delivery prior to the implementation of strategic highway interventions. 
 
This is to account for:  
 
• limited highway capacity on the A47 trunk road, the Newborough Road/A47 and A47/A16 
junctions;  

• the lack of suitably identified mitigation measures to mitigate the impact of the development, and;  

• the lack of a committed future strategic transport investment to the A16, A47 and the A16/A47 
junction needed to facilitate access to the Norwood Extension area of Peterborough.  
 
Given the significant lack of capacity without robust mitigation this will have a detrimental impact on 
the efficient and safe operation of the A47 trunk road and local road network. 
 
In line with the above approach, and in discussion with PCC, Highways England accepts that no 
highway intervention is required to mitigate the impact of up to 200 dwellings (Key Phase One) and 
that this can be considered as the threshold before strategic highway interventions are required.  
 
It is recommended that the delivery of the development is subject to monitoring of its impact on the 
performance of the highway network to provide the opportunity for the release of additional phases 

16



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

if it can be demonstrated there is sufficient capacity on the highway. Therefore, it is important to 
monitor the impact of Key Phase One. 
 
Historic England  
No Objection – The proposed development is located in close proximity to the Car Dyke, a Roman 
canal which survives as a extant landscape feature and water course. The Car Dyke is a rare 
example of a surviving Roman canal and is designated a scheduled monument.  Consented and 
built out developments to the wets of the site (Paston Reserve) have adopted a buffer zone to 
protect the landscape setting of the scheduled monument and this proposal seeks to also follow 
this approach of providing a buffer zone to protect the landscape setting of Car Dyke.  Given the 
quantum of development proposed (and the cumulative impacts on the scheduled monument from 
the development to the west) the impact of the built development would affect the current open 
setting of the scheduled monument which derives part of its significance from its fen edge setting. 
The existence of and retention of vegetation in the buffer zone would contribute towards softening 
the interface between the northern edge of the built development and the Car Dyke.  However if 
SUDS features are to be located within the 30-50m buffer then these should be designed and 
located in such a way as to maximise their distance from the Dyke and draw on the grain and 
appearance of natural water features so as not to compete or detract from the scheduled 
monument, while opportunities should be taken to enhance the management, visual amenity and 
public appreciation of this nationally important water course.   
 
The proposed development would cause an appreciable degree of harm to the significance of Car 
Dyke due to the changes in its landscape setting, and this includes a degree of cumulative harm 
from previously completed and consented development.  Measures to minimise the harm which 
would be caused to its significance are proposed and the Council should look for opportunities to 
further offset this harm and enhance its significance when weighing this harm against the public 
benefits of the proposals.  Historic England should be consulted on the detailed design and 
character of the buffer zone.       
 
Anglian Water Services Ltd  
No Objection – There are assets owned by Anglian Water within or close to the development 
boundary that may affect the layout of the site.  An informative making the developer aware of their 
responsibilities in respect of this should be added to any planning consent.  The foul drainage from 
this development is in the catchment of Peterborough Flag Fen Water Recycling Centre that will 
have capacity available for these flows. Development will lead to an unacceptable risk of flooding 
downstream.  Anglian water will need to plan effectively for the proposed development, if 
permission is granted.  Anglian Water will need to work with the applicant to ensure any 
infrastructure improvements are delivered in line with the development.  Therefore a condition 
requiring a phasing plan and an on-site drainage strategy will be required.    
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO)  
No Objection – I note the application is at outline stage with all matters apart from access to be 
dealt with at reserved matters stage.  My role as designing out crime Officer involves working with 
developers and Planners to design out crime and disorder from proposed development and 
promote healthy and safe communities and reduce the vulnerability to crime.  We would very much 
welcome further consultation as the application progress to the next stages.   
 
Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service  
No Objections – Subject to the imposition of a condition to secure the provision of fire hydrants.  
Access and facilities for the Fire Service shall be provided in accordance with Building Regulations 
Approved Document B5, Section 16.   
 
Environment Agency  
No Objection – Subject to the imposition of conditions in respect of contamination remediation, 
verification report, any unsuspected contamination, and foul water phasing details.  The applicant’s 
attention is brought to their responsibilities in respect of groundwater and contaminated land, flood 
risk activity permits, and the required 30m standoff distance with Car Dyke a Scheduled Ancient 

17



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 14 

Monument.  
  
Natural England - Consultation Service (31.05.2019)(29.09.20) 
No Objection - The proposed development in this location triggers Natural England’s Impact Risk 
Zones (IRZs) for the Nene Washes Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and Dogsthorpe Star Pit 
SSSI due to potential air and water-mediated impacts. The development site also falls within the 
residential IRZ for Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI on account of the potential for recreational pressure 
impacts. 
 
Hydrology  
Natural England is satisfied that the ES, including Chapter 7 Biodiversity and the Hydrology 
Assessment (Appendix D.6) and the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Appendix 
K.1), demonstrates that with proposed mitigation, the development is unlikely to have an adverse 
effect through changes in hydrology or water quality on the Nene Washes or Dogsthorpe Star Pit. 
The assessment shows that surface water is proposed to be discharged via the existing surface 
water outfall located c.50m north of Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI boundary and as such it is unlikely 
that surface water will be discharged to any part of the SSSI and so is unlikely to impact water 
quality within it. 
 
Air Quality 
Natural England has reviewed ES Chapter 12 Air Quality and a separate Technical Note prepared 
by PBA (AQ01, 16 May 2019), incorporating a nitrogen deposition contour map for Dogsthorpe Pit. 
We are satisfied that the detail provided in these reports confirms that the only exceedance of 
Natural England’s 1% ‘significance’ thresholds is for nitrogen deposition across a small extent of 
woodland within Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI (up to 125m from the A47 and up to 50m from the A16), 
at a maximum level of 2.7% of the critical load. Natural England supports the ES conclusion that 
this effect can be considered insignificant on the basis that the woodland habitat does not support 
the notified invertebrate interest of the SSSI and taking into account a range of other factors 
including:  
- Current NOx concentrations are more than 200% of the Critical Load for Dogsthorpe Star Pit 
SSSI hence the woodland habitat is unlikely to be sensitive to a potential predicted change of 1 – 
2.7%;  

- The maximum 2.7% exceedance for N deposition represents only 0.5% of future baseline 
deposition rates;  

- The assessment assumes no reductions in future baseline deposition rates;  

-  The assessment has modelled air quality impacts for the entirety of the proposed Norwood 
development;  

-  Additional sensitivity test modelling using 2022 emission factors indicate that reductions in 
vehicle emissions counteract the effect of the development traffic. Modelling shows predicted 
concentrations below the 2021 baseline;  

- Further mitigation / enhancement measures will be implemented including measures to minimise 
dust and vehicle emissions.  
 
Whilst Natural England is generally satisfied with the conclusions of ES Chapter 12 Air Quality and 
accompanying Technical Note AQ01 our advice is that minor revisions should be made to amend 
incorrect referencing of critical load / level and N concentration / deposition, for example section 4 
of the Technical Note referenced nitrogen deposition critical load (30 μg/m3). The N deposition 
critical load for Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI, advocated by Natural England air quality specialists in 
2016, is 10kg/ha/yr. This critical load is more stringent than those for woodland and are much more 
appropriate for the open water habitat present. It is not clear why critical levels are referenced for 
specific habitat when these are generic for all habitats as far as we are aware. It would be helpful 
for the reports to clarify whether it is the deposition or levels in the air that is potentially significant.  
We trust that delivery of proposed embedded and additional mitigation measures will be secured 
through appropriate planning conditions. 
 

18



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 15 

Recreational Pressure 
Given the existing shortfall in accessible greenspace provision across the wider Cambridgeshire 
growth area it is important for residential development to provide sufficient extent and quality of 
accessible greenspace to meet people’s recreational needs and to minimise additional pressure on 
more sensitive sites such as Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI. Whilst current levels of visitors to the 
nearby SSI are not considered to be having a detrimental impact on site habitats and notified 
invertebrate interest, appropriate management is needed to maintain this.  There is no official car 
parking for the SSI and at the closest point the development will be about 1.2km away, accessed 
via a pedestrian crossing of the busy A16.  Our view is that despite the lack of parking facilities and 
perceived barrier of access across the A16, this development due to its proximity and scale will 
result in additional visitor pressure to the site.  To address this visitor pressure a two pronged 
approach should be taken.  One, the delivery of appropriate high quality on site accessible 
greenspace. Focussed along the northern boundary.  And two, a financial contributions to secure 
agreed SSSI access management measures, through a legal agreement.  On site accessible 
greenspace should be carefully designed to be highly attractive alternative greenspace to the SSSI 
for regular visits such as dog walking.  We understand the site would deliver around 12ha of green 
infrastructure, approximately 7 ha of which will be informal parkland.  We advise it should be 
conditioned that green infrastructure is fully implemented ahead of occupation to ensure that it 
delivers the required mitigation from the outset.   
 
Other advice 
Biodiversity net gain should be demonstrated through a qualitative assessment.   This should focus 
on delivering habitat creation and enhancement appropriate to local ecology / conditions.  
Opportunities should be taken to incorporate biodiversity enhancements wherever possible e.g. 
native species / seed mixes in landscaping, amenity grassland areas. We advise that an ecology 
sensitive lighting scheme should be detailed and agreed through an appropriate planning 
condition. 
 
Natural England is satisfied based on the information provided in the submission documents that 
the proposed development is unlikely to have any adverse impact on the Nene Washes, SSSI, 
SAC, SPA and Ramsar site and Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI and has no objection to the application. 
This is subject to a mitigation strategy to address recreational pressure impacts to Dogsthorpe Star 
Pit SSSI being agreed, and delivery of all proposed mitigation measures being secured, through 
appropriate planning conditions. 
 
The Council, as Competent Authority under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, as amended (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), should have regard to the findings of the ES and 
associated technical documents when recording your HRA. In preparing your HRA you should 
have regard to the judgement of the Court of Justice for the European Union on 12 April 2018[1]. 
This has ruled that mitigation measures should be assessed within the framework of an 
appropriate assessment (AA) and that it is not permissible to take account of measures intended to 
avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or project on a European site at the screening 
stage. 
 
The Wildlife Trusts (Cambridgeshire)  
No Objection – This application is only for about 40-50% of the wider allocated site.  It is therefore 
difficulty to judge how the proposed green infrastructure and areas of habitat would integrate with 
the adjacent area, and provide a coherent linked network of green spaces.  It is not clear if there 
will be adequate provision of semi-natural green spaces.  In order to meet the recreational needs 
of the new residents and help to mitigate impacts on nearby nature conservation sites (such as 
Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI) by providing an attractive on-site alternative area for leisure activities 
such as walking, dog-walking, and enjoyment of nature, the proposal site should include a 
significant area of accessible semi-natural greenspace.  Natural England 2008 guidance on 
provision of Suitable Accessible Natural Greenspace (SANGs) suggests that 8ha of SANGs should 
be provided per 1000 population. For 870 houses, using an average occupancy of 2.4 people per 
house, the new population would be approximately 2088. The SANGs recommended according to 

19



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 16 

Natural England guidelines (8ha/1000 population) would therefore be 16.7ha.  It appears that the 
figure of semi-natural green space will be significantly lower than the 16.7ha recommendation.  
 
The proposal retains a 30m buffer to Car Dyke, retention of Norwood Spinney and the majority of 
the existing mature trees and hedges, as well as the creation of new woodland, grassland and 
wetland/SUDS features. It also proposes that a detailed Landscape and Ecology Management 
Plan would be produced. We welcome these measures, however, request a further assessment of 
whether the proposals can deliver a net gain in biodiversity, in line with national planning policy. 
The EIA has stated a net gain will be delivered, but has not provided a measured assessment to 
demonstrate this. We request the use of a recognised biodiversity metric (such as the 
Warwickshire Biodiversity Impact Assessment calculator). The Wildlife Trust experience from other 
recent planning applications on largely arable land suggests that the 35% open space proposed in 
this application (of which less will be natural habitats), will not be able to demonstrate a net gain 
and will result in a net loss in biodiversity contrary to local and national planning policies. 
 
Potential impacts on nearby designated sites (such as Dogsthorpe and the Nene Washes 
SSSI/SAC/SPA) include hydrological and air quality impacts as well as impacts from increased 
recreational pressure. An analysis of hydrological and air quality impacts on nearby sites was 
completed at the request of Natural England, and further specialist comments from Natural 
England should be sought on the results of these studies. With regards to recreational impacts, the 
closest site where impacts are likely to be greatest is Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI, managed as a 
nature reserve by the Wildlife Trust. The EIA concludes that the main activities of bird-watching 
and dog-walking are not likely to impact on the aquatic features of interest of the SSSI, however it 
should be noted that dogs swimming in the ponds could be detrimental.  The EIA concludes that 
there will be moderate adverse impacts on Dogsthorpe and minor adverse impacts on the 
associated County Wildlife Site as Little Wood. As noted in the EIA, it is proposed that a package 
of Visitor Access Management Measures will be discussed and agreed with the Wildlife Trust and 
Natural England. 
 
The Wildlife Trust (WT) has reviewed current access provision and considered a variety of options 
for once the new development is being occupied. The WT objectives for the site regarding access, 
promotion and engagement (as opposed to our ecological objectives) are that we would like 
Dogsthorpe Star Pit to be recognised as a Wildlife Trust nature reserve and for visitors to 
understand why it is a special place and to value and respect nature when visiting. Access will be 
restricted to specified access points and surfaced paths. Visitors walking their dogs will ensure 
dogs are on leads at all times. The site will be secured from unauthorised vehicle access. The 
habitats adjacent to paths and access points will be managed both to provide high quality habitats 
for key species and act as barriers to parts of the nature reserve with restricted access. Finally, the 
residents of the Norwood development(s) will be informed of the location of the nature reserve, that 
it is managed by the Wildlife Trust, a local charity, and will know where they can visit locally for a 
variety of recreational activities, including dog walking routes and areas where dogs can roam off 
lead.  Costs for the various works to achieve the above objectives have been given and these 
could be secured by way of a financial contribution secured by legal agreement.   
 
Sport England  
Objection - A development of this scale requires provision for on-site or off-site facilities for outdoor 
and indoor sport, to be secured via a s106 obligation. The only on-site provision for sport relates to 
the proposed primary school and associated playing fields, though this should not be included 
within the provision for community sport as it can only provide facilities for young children.  At this 
stage it is not possible for Sport England to give support to this application, as further information is 
needed on how the provision for indoor/outdoor sport will be provided, whether it will be on site or 
off-site, and if off-site how financial contributions will be secured and where the contributions will be 
spent. The Peterborough Playing Pitch Strategy (2017) can be used as an evidence base to 
identify projects relating to off-site priorities.  Sport England has developed the Sports Facilities 
Calculator (SFC) to help Assess the demand generated for community sports facilities.  This 
reveals that the development proposed does not generate sufficient demand to justify on-site 
provision, but a financial contribution to off site provision should be secured.   

20



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 17 

 
2nd consultation :- 
 
No Objection - The occupiers of new development, especially residential, will generate demand for 
sporting provision. The existing provision within an area may not be able to accommodate this 
increased demand without exacerbating existing and/or predicted future deficiencies. Therefore, 
Sport England considers that new developments should contribute towards meeting the demand 
that they generate through the provision of on-site facilities and/or providing additional capacity off-
site. The level and nature of any provision should be informed by a robust evidence base such as 
an up to date Sports Facilities Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy or other relevant needs 
assessment.  We understand the S106 obligation will now include a £800,000 contribution towards 
outdoor sport.  Therefore we are now in a position to support the application, as it will secure 
investment into sport and physical activity.   
 
Planning Casework Unit  
No comments to make on the environmental statement.  
 
Ramblers (Peterborough)  
No Objection 
 
Peterborough Cycling Forum 
Objection - All other cycling related issues concerning the proposed development are, to a great 
extent, irrelevant at this stage. Unless a suitable means of crossing the A47 is provided, residents 
who travel by foot or cycle, either through necessity or by choice, will have no safe or convenient 
route by which they can travel to the city centre, major centres of employment, leisure, retail and 
other facilities. The volume and speed of traffic on this section of the A47 make it essential the 
required crossing is grade separated. 
 
The Design and access statement states that there is an extensive network of pedestrian and 
cycles routes from Welland Road.  Whilst this is correct what that the statement fails to note is that 
Welland Road cannot be safely or conveniently accessed by cycle from this site.  There is no safe 
and convenient cycle route currently available between the site and the city centre.  There is a 
pedestrian and cycle bridge across the A15, west of the site, which has the potential to provide a 
route between Norwood Lane and Paston Ridings.  However currently this bridge only provides 
access to a Travellers site.  Even if a route were to be provided via this bridge sometime in the 
future, it would not be on the dominant desire lines from the new development.  The Bridleway to 
the southern edge of the allocation along A16, runs in the opposite direction to the city centre and 
employment areas and so is likely to be only used for leisure trips.  This route requires use of a 
Pegasus crossing to cross over the A16, but then does not provide a safe route to Welland Road.  
As pedestrians/cyclists would then need to use an uncontrolled crossing on the A47 immediately 
east of the A47/A16 roundabout to reach Welland Road.  The A47 ‘crossing’ is located on a multi-
lane, high speed section of road which carries a very high volume of traffic. It is at a point where 
drivers enter or exit the roundabout, often at speed, and where they will be focussing on the 
movement of other vehicles. Even if drivers observe a pedestrian or cyclist waiting to cross they 

are very unlikely to slow or stop at this point in order to give way.  Therefore this route dies not 

provide a safe or convenient route to Welland Road.   
 
Newborough & Borough Fen Parish Council  
Objection – The Parish have concerns about the amount of traffic that this development is likely to 
generate and the likely impact it would have on the village of Newborough.  They believe that 
unless careful considerations are made to Newborough Road, it could have a detrimental effect on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the village by its residents and their ability to travel to and from 
Peterborough.   

1. They are very concerned that traffic from the development will use the village of 
Newborough as a rat run, especially those travelling to and from Deepings or Spalding. 

2. They are very concerned that Newborough Residents travelling south along 
Newborough Road will have difficulties joining the A47 during peak periods as they will be 

21



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 18 

competing with traffic from the new development doing the same.   
They can foresee major difficulties with traffic joining the A47 and re-entering the development 
during peak times and this is likely to result in traffic using the village of Newborough to avoid these 
difficulties.  They therefore ask that thus application be declined until a safer, more viable access 
route onto the A47 or A16 is agreed with the developer.    
 
2nd set of comments - The Parish Council of Newborough and Borough Fen met on Tuesday 22nd 
September 2020 to discuss this application.  The Council raised concerns that the traffic entering 
Newborough Road, which is a country road, would require improvements from Norwood Lane 
upwards to incorporate the new estates. There were also concerns with the junction on the A47. 
 
Peakirk Parish Council 
Objection – We understand that this site has been allocated as part of the Norwood Urban 
Extension.  870 houses, a local centre and school under this application, and a further 1,130 
houses under the remaining allocation.  It will link up to the designated Paston Reserve site 
opposite (644 dwellings and a probable 1,500 place secondary school). Both developments will 
have direct vehicular access onto the Newborough Road, a single lane, 2-way carriageway 
currently approximately 6m wide, via a T junction.   
 
We have concerns about the volume and direction of traffic using Newborough Road. We have 
studied the documents included in the application, including Appendix A Pre-application Technical 
Notes, Appendix 1.4 Traffic Data and Road Network and Appendix F Traffic Assignment Diagrams 
and have the following comments: 
 
1. The current data seems to be based on surveys carried out between Monday 18th September 
and Sunday 24th September 2017, which, in our experience in Peakirk, could be out of date. 
2. The surveys were carried out at 4 points on either the A15 or A47. We can't see any record of 
traffic numbers using the rat run from the A15 Maxey roundabout at Northborough, through Peakirk 
and back onto the A15 via B1443 and Werrington Bridge Road or A47 via Guntons Road 
Newborough. 
The Transport Assessment is complex to understand for non- engineers, but we think it does 
acknowledge that 4.8% of the traffic in to and out of the site at peak times, will travel to or from the 
site via Newborough Road (Guntons Road) through Newborough. 
In doing this it make the assumption that: 
- southbound traffic on the A15 would not travel northbound on Newborough Road (the reasoning 
being that there are alternative routes further north for traffic to use) 
- southbound traffic on the A15 would not travel northbound on the A16 (the reasoning being that 
there are alternative routes further north for traffic to use) 
- traffic from the A16 would not travel to Newborough Road (the reasoning being that there are 
alternative routes further north for traffic to use). 
We challenge these assumptions based on data collected by local villages over the past few years. 
Peakirk Speedwatch data for 5/3/2019 8.05am to 8.05am recorded 445 vehicles entering the 
village from the Deeping Road. 
Peter Tebb Highways Services PCC 20th January 2015 carried out a vehicle flow check counting 
the number of vehicles exiting Peakirk along the B1443 Thorney Road towards Newborough 
between 8am and 8.55 am. He recorded 476 vehicles. 
Numbers for the following hour are much lower. 2/3/2019 Thorney Road B1443 towards 
Newborough 9.08 am to 9.38am 57 vehicles. 9/2/2019 Deeping Road into Peakirk 9am to 10am 87 
vehicles recorded. 
Not all of these vehicles will use Newborough Road to join the parkway, but we would like to know 
how many do this currently and how many extra vehicles also use Newborough road coming 
through Newborough from Mason's bridge? 
We can foresee that there will be major traffic hold ups and possibly accidents, as vehicles from 
the new site (agreed in the report as, 398 exiting the site and 114 entering the site in the morning 
peak hours and 308 entering the site and 141 exiting the site in the evening peak hours) tries to 
join or cross the constant flow of traffic already on Northborough Road and join the queueing traffic 
at the A47 junction. This could easily lead to more drivers turning right as they leave the site to find 

22



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 19 

an alternative route back through Newborough and/or Peakirk, adding to the already dangerous 
numbers on Gunton's Road and the B1443. 
We would ask that this application was declined until a dedicated, safer, more viable access onto 
the A47 or A16 is agreed with the developer. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 1106 
Total number of responses: 12 
Total number of objections: 9 
Total number in support: 0 
 
9 letters of objection have been received raising the following issues:- 
 

• The junction of A16 onto Thorney Road (B1443) would need to be closed to prevent traffic 
from Lincolnshire using the village of Newborough as a short cut (rat run) to the A47.  The 
B1443 and Gunton’s Road could not cope with any further traffic.  If this was addressed I 
would be happy to support the much needed building of homes     

• Would support the application if there was a walkway/bridge for access across the Parkway  

• Will this affect the Waltonboro caravan site on White Post Road South 

• 850 homes possibly 1000 vehicles using one entrance onto Newborough Road. We will 
have a total gridlock of traffic, as it tries to merge with the A47.  As Roman Fields progress ( 
opposite side of the road ) and schools are completed the increase in vehicles, pedestrians 
and school children are already raising concerns, add another 1000 vehicles and mayhem 
commences 

• 870 houses means 870 cars at 1 per house.  Building on farming land is a disaster, food is 
meant to be grown on fertile land for the people that live here in the United kingdom.  The 
Newborough Road is a narrow country road more cars joining the busy A47 would be 
chaotic.  If we need so many houses surely you should look at many infill sites first. 

• I am very concerned that traffic from the development will try to use the village of 
Newborough as a rat run, especially those travelling to and from the Deepings, Peakirk or 
Spalding. We have a school with young and old people crossing Guntons Road at different 
times, so traffic heading North could increase dramatically through our village, and we have 
no pedestrian crossing controls. 

• I believe that Newborough residents travelling south along Newborough Road will have 
serious danger issues joining the A47 during peak periods as they will be competing with 
traffic from the new development doing the same - potentially 1,600 vehicles - plus traffic 
already on the A47 Eastbound.  They will also be competing with traffic from the already 
congested roundabout at Dogsthorpe.  

•  My main concerns regarding this planning application are:- 1. There is to be 1 access point 
for both entering and existing the site. With the proposed 870 houses and other facilities 
this seems to be poor, especially as at peak times Newborough Road is busy and the 
junction with A47 is difficult to access especially if you are travelling west as it means 
crossing a very busy road with traffic coming off junction 20 (A47) very fast. 

• The residents have been experiencing mess and noise from the Paston Reserve 
development on the East side of Newborough Road for some time now and I am concerned 
this development may start before that is finished, especially as plans have been in pipeline 
for a secondary school behind my property which to date has no planning. 

• The entrance to this envelopment is directly opposite my property. 

• I believe traffic will use Newborough as a rat run and this will have a massive impact on the 
already excessive traffic flow through Peakirk.  Every minor road around Peakirk is used as 
a rat run during peak times and this will increase traffic in the opposite direction causing 
massive congestion at the railway crossing and at the junction of Thorney Road and St 
Pegas Road. 

• The only junction is on to Newborough Rd.  The developers should carry out a complete 
traffic survey of the whole area and develop entry and access points that would eliminate 

23



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 20 

traffic turning onto Newborough Rd preventing traffic impacts on nearby villages.   

• I believe that Newborough residents travelling south along Newborough Road will have 
 difficulties joining the A47 during peak periods as they will be competing with traffic from the 
new development doing the same. In order to overcome planning objections, I strongly 
recommend that, a new highway scheme is introduced to ensure that traffic exiting the 
development must turn south towards the A47 and prevent vehicles turning left from 
Newborough Road into the development when travelling south from Newborough. This would 
ensure Newborough village is unaffected by additional traffic, which would blight this 
community. In addition Newborough Road should be widened to create an additional lane to 
cope with the extra traffic joining the A47. I also request that a carriageway separator is added 
between the development junction and the A47 to prevent traffic making U-turns to head north 
after exiting the development. This section of road is key to reducing the effects of traffic 
through the village of Newborough and beyond. 

 
 

3 comments were received neither supporting nor objecting to the application.  They commented:- 
 

• Any kind of additional facilities in this area would be welcome.  The new houses built in the 
adjacent area over the last 7 years have no facilities apart from houses.  There are no open 
spaces for kids to play, no bus service, no shops (anyone without a car has to walk 20mins 
crossing the parkway to get to the nearest shop).  Residents in that area would welcome an 
access onto Newborough Road as Manor Drive is the biggest cul de sac I’ve ever seen.  
Would have liked more details of what is being proposed in the local centre.  Whilst 
cautiously supporting the development in principle, remain neutral until further details are 
given as to what is being proposed.     

• What protection is being planned for the Car Dyke? 

• There is no objection to the principle of one landowner bring forward their piece of the wider 
allocation in isolation but it is important that due consideration is given to the requirements 
of the allocation as a whole, and ensuring that this first phase does not prejudice or hinder 
the delivery of later phases.  The application proposes to deliver 870 residential units from 
Newborough Road.  Having a single point of access is not typically appropriate for larger 
developments of this scale.  The illustrative masterplan identifies other potential access 
points into adjacent land and most significantly the A16, but theses all need third party land 
to deliver.  In order to achieve access from Newborough Road various improvements have 
been proposed to the road and its junction with the A47. It appears these improvements 
assume a 40mph speed limit for the road rather than the current 60mph limit, and this along 
with implications for the proposals, will need to be clarified.  It is not clear whether the 
proposed inclusion of a footway to the east side of Newborough Road and widening of 
Newborough Road is deliverable, including drainage requirements, within the highway 
boundary or whether third party land is required.  This needs to be resolved.  In addition 
there are detailed matters relating to methodology of the Transport Assessment around trip 
rates and the application of discounts for meeting Travel Plan targets, which may require 
further consideration.  The masterplan whilst high level includes the provision of a local 
centre and a 2FE primary school in about 2.9ha of land.  Is this sufficient to meets the 
needs of the entire allocation, or just this application?  Is there detail as to the timing of the 
delivery of the school and how and when the school could be extended in future to meet the 
needs of the wider allocation.  The masterplan contains little detail on the layout and design 
of specific development areas, including allowances for drainage, landscape, open space 
and environmental mitigation.  The assumptions made for this application, how for example 
proposals for drainage interact with adjacent land, and how these relate to the requirements 
for the remainder of the allocation should be clarified to ensure future phases are not 
unreasonably burdened. The draft s106 heads of terms has topics only.  There is no 
publicly available information which details the conclusions of an assessment of the 
allocations entire infrastructure requirement, and the share that this application will be 
addressing and the share the remaining landowners will be expected to accommodate.  
There is no detail over the timing of the delivery of these requirements.  This application 
does not set out the mechanism for delivery of infrastructure on this site and the rest of the 

24



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 21 

allocation to ensure the timely delivery of infrastructure.  We fully support the delivery of the 
allocation and look forward to continuing to engage with all interested parties to ensure that 
a viable and sustainable development is brought forward.                 

 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main issues for consideration are: 
 

a) Principle of development 
 

The application site is located within the Urban Extension of Norwood, therefore the principle of 
residential use and supporting school and local centre uses are considered to be acceptable and in 
accordance with Policy LP5, and LP35. 

 
It was always envisaged that an outline application would come forward for the whole of the 
allocated site and then subsequent detailed/reserved matters applications would come forward for 
individual parcels.  This is in particular, and in accordance with Policy LP5, to ensure the 
development that comes forward is planned and implemented in a comprehensive co-ordinated 
way, through a broad concept plan, to ensure the timely delivery of key infrastructure.  The differing 
landowners of the whole of the allocation have been unable to agree to the preparation of a single 
outline application within the same timescales, hence why this outline application has come 
forward in isolation.  The other landowners did submit an Environment Impact Scoping Opinion at 
the end of last year, so they are working to bring forward a planning application for the remaining 
land within the allocation.   

 
In terms ensuring the delivery of infrastructure not just for this site, but the allocation as a whole, 
this application will provide sufficient land to accommodate a 3 form entry primary school which 
would meet the needs of the primary school for the whole 2,000 homes allocation.  Providing for 
the school under this first application would make sure there is sufficient land available for it to be 
delivered and allow it to occupy a reasonably central location within the whole of the allocated site.  
It is also proposed that this scheme would also provide 0.25ha site and deliver a local centre of 
shops and services for the whole allocation and wider population.  Again to give a reasonably 
central location for the local centre to serve the whole site, it makes sense to deliver this on this 
site.  These matters would be secured through the legal agreement.   

 
It is important that by allowing this development it would not in any way prejudice the delivery of 
the wider allocation coming forward.  In the illustrative masterplan indicative future links have been 
shown to show how this site could connect to the future parcels of land coming forward.  Ensuring 
means of future connections between the differing land ownership parcels will be secured through 
the legal agreement.       

 
The wider remaining allocation will have to take on the cost and delivery of the new junction on to 
the A16.  This land is not within the control of the existing applicant.  Viability assessments were 
considered not only for this site, but indicatively for the wider site also, to try and look equitably at 
the delivery of site infrastructure costs and this was found to be reasonable.   

 
It is not ideal to consider this allocation under differing outline applications dependent on 
landownership and there are risks that subsequent applications to not happen or are delayed. Also 
there are potential associated  risks in terms  of  the delivery of a  comprehensive and  co-
ordinated  development over  the whole  allocation. However, for various  reasons including  very 
different  delivery timetable of  the major  land owners, it has  not been possible  to  secure a  
single  application for the  whole  allocation.  Nevertheless, there is the need to balance the 
disbenefits against the need to ensure a steady supply of new housing development sites with 
planning permission. Officers are satisfied that the proposal before committed has taken all 
reasonable steps to ensure that delivery of this site would not prejudice the wider allocation coming 
forward.  It is therefore not considered reasonable to delay the determination and delivery of this 
site, as it appears that a single application in this instance would not come forward.    

25



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 22 

 
b) Parameter Plans/illustrative Master plan 

 
A parameter plan has been submitted in support of the application, to set out landscape 
parameters, built form parameters, and access and movement parameters.   
 
In respect of the landscape parameter the plan sets of the retained trees and vegetation.  This is 
mainly along the northern edge of the site in the buffer zone with Car dyke buts also in respect of 
some of the hedgerows and trees on site.  This is considered to be acceptable.  It also sets out the 
general provision of open space and green corridors.  In addition to this parameter plan for new 
open space, an open space parameter plan has been provided which more clearly defines the 
quantum and type of open space.  This will be secured through conditions and the legal 
agreement.  The table below summaries the provision:- 
 
 
 
 

 Site requirements 
(870 
dwellings/2.66 
dwelling) 

Site provision 
(23020 
population) 

+/- 

Natural greenspace 0.97ha 3.85ha +2.88ha 

Neighbourhood Parks 3.15ha 7.42ha +4.27ha 

Children and Young people 0.09ha 0.18ha +0.09ha 

Allotments 0.67ha 0.00ha -0.67ha 

Playing pitches/outdoor 
sports 

2.32ha 0.00ha -2.32ha 

Overall 7.20ha 11.95ha +4.75ha 

 
In terms of the built form parameter this sets out the maximum building’s heights across the site, 
with the maximum 3 storey height for dwellings being within the central middle area of the site.  It 
then reduces down to 2.5 storey and then 2 storey as the site moves towards its northern boundary 
with Car Dyke, western boundary with Newborough Road and 2.5 storey towards the eastern 
boundary with the remaining allocation.  The principle of these heights graduating down towards 
the boundaries is acceptable.  There is a large area of 3 storey height across the site and more so 
than would be expected in this urban fringe site, however it is set well within the allocation 
boundaries and intervening development and landscaping will help soften the scale and mass of 
the development therefore on balance it is considered to be acceptable.  
 
The built form parameters also sets the approximate location of the school and local centre and 
their position are considered to be acceptable.   
 
The access and movement parameter show identifies the approximate primary and secondary 
vehicle access corridors, including a linkages into the neighbouring land to connect into the future 
housing land parcels and the A16 new linkage corridor.  This is all considered to be acceptable in 
principle.    

 
Masterplan 

 

An illustrative masterplan has been provided for this site of 870 dwellings and for the whole of the 
allocation to show one possible way the site could be developed comprehensively.   
 
In pre application discussions it was proposed to achieve 800 dwellings on the site.  This has been 
increased to 870 dwelling and over an area of 19.56 ha of the site, it would give an average density 
of 44 dwellings per hectare.  Whilst this is relatively high, it is not deemed to be unacceptable.  It 
shows similar to the parameter plan the 2.9 ha school site, the 0.25ha local centre site, the 

26



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 23 

proposed drainage basins, landscaping and likely pedestrian and vehicles movement corridors 
throughout the site.   
 
The illustrative masterplan and parameter plans are considered to demonstrate an acceptable way 
that the site could be redevelopment.  The key principles of these will be secured through 
conditions and the legal agreement to ensure future detailed reserved matters deliver the essential 
requirements of the scheme.   
 

c) Highway Implications 
 
As a result of this part of the allocation is coming forward independently of the other land within the 
allocation, it has resulted in this application proposing to take all vehicle access from Newborough 
Road.  The illustrative masterplan for the whole allocation, proposes a new vehicle junction with 
the A16, but delivery of this is outside the landownership of this applicant.   
 
Newborough Road is a two way single carriageway rural road which runs along the western 
boundary of the site and links to the A47, approximately 180m to the south of the site and 
Newborough village to the north.   At its southern end is a left-in/ left-out T-junction with the A47, 
allowing the vehicles coming out from Newborough Road to turn eastward. At its northern end, it 
provides access to the village of Newborough. The road is approximately five to six metres wide 
and is subject to the national speed limit. Although there is some street lighting along the road at 
the junction with the A47, there is no pedestrian provision along the section fronting the Norwood 
Urban Extension.  
               
A Pegasus crossing is proposed across Newborough Road as part of the adjacent Paston Reserve 
development. This will allow pedestrians from this development to access the Manor Drive/Paston 
Reserve development (and the primary and secondary schools being built there) on the opposite 
side of Newborough Road.  This development would provide a footway along the eastern side of 
Newborough Road to the existing bridleway and connection to the Pegasus crossing when it is 
built.   This footway will also extend north to Norwood Lane where dropped kerbs will be provided 
to facilitate crossing of Newborough Road and access into the Paston Reserve development via 
Norwood Lane.   
 
The modelling undertaken in support of this application identifies the need for interventions to 
reduce the number of vehicles undertaking U-turning manoeuvres at the A47/A16 roundabout. The 
nature of these interventions will be identified through the further modelling and assessment work 
under the ‘Monitor and Manage’ process.  
 

A single vehicle access point will be provided from Newborough Road to the south-western section 
of the Site. This will be the primary vehicle access corridor to the site and provide a direct 
connection to the local centre and primary school.  The masterplan shows potential access points 
from within this application site where the development can connect into the adjacent parcels of the 
wider allocated site. 
 
Notwithstanding the concerns expressed with regard the  impact of  the development on the rural 
roads, the transport assessment had identified  how much traffic from the development would  
using these roads and  it has been concluded that the additional flows would be acceptable and 
that no mitigation is needed other than that proposed for Newborough Road.     
 
As has been identified earlier in this report, Highways England and PCC Highways are suggesting 
that the development be   subject to a monitor and manage planning condition. The idea is that 
through the monitoring process, the timely provision of highway mitigation measures is provided by 
the development. One  of  the key drivers behind  this  approach is  the fact that PCC is working 
with  the Combined  Authority and Highways England  on wider  improvement scheme  for the A47 
/ A16 and  there is  the desire to avoid the risk that  the development ‘installs’ highway 
improvements  that end  up having to be  removed / significantly revised by the  wider  Combined 
Authority / PCC  / Highways England scheme. 

27



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 24 

 
Comments have  been received  that express  concern over  the relative  inaccessibility to  the  / 
from the development site  by  cycle  and  foot. This  is  mainly as a  consequence  of  the location 
of  the  site  which  is  significantly ‘land locked’ by major arterial  roads that boarder  the site on 
two sides. There are no feasible additional measures that the applicant could implement over and 
above those proposed that could make improved access. 
 
Therefore subject to the imposition of appropriate highway conditions, the impact of the 
development on highway safety and the surrounding highway network is considered to be 
acceptable, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Local Plan.   
 

d) Viability/planning obligations 
 
Affordable housing 
 
In accordance with Policy LP8 of the Local Plan 30% of the residential units proposed on site 
should be affordable, with the tenure split 70% social rented and 30% intermediate/shared 
ownership housing.  The applicant submitted an open book viability appraisal for consideration as 
they calculated that the scheme could not be delivered if this level of affordable housing was 
required, as it would not be financially viable.  The financial information has been assessed 
(including by the District Valuer) and found to be sound, and it states that only 10% on site 
affordable housing on this site would be viable.  Whilst the 10% does fall substantially short of the 
30% policy requirement position, the financial information submitted supporting the scheme does 
demonstrates that this higher provision would mean that this housing allocation site would not be 
delivered.  Therefore the Officer recommendation is in this instance is that the shortfall in provision 
could be accepted. Notwithstanding the acceptance of only 10% affordable housing, the applicant 
has agreed to inclusion within the Section 106 of a requirement to bid for affordable housing 
funding to boost provision on the site.        
 
Infrastructure costs 
 
The financial viability assessment submitted demonstrated that the S106 pot available for 
infrastructure costs once all the costs taken into consideration would be approximately £3.9million.  
The applicant has offered to provide £4.4million s106 ‘pot’ to the Council to be split between all the 
different service/infrastructure needs generated by the needs of the development.  This does not 
cover the total infrastructure costs of the development, so Officers have tried to reasonably and 
fairly apportion this money between the competing priorities/requests.   Given the context of the 
viability position of the development.  
 
School - Primary 
 
The whole Norwood allocation for 2,000 houses requires the provision of a 3 form entry primary 
school.  The cost for a 3 form entry primary school is £11million.  So £11million split between 2,000 
houses would be £5,500 per house, so for 870 houses £4,785,000.  Whilst this development does 
not generated the full need for a 2 form entry school (approximately 1.3 form entry) that would 
have to be delivered to accommodate the needs of the school children from this development, as 
part form entry schools cannot be built.  The cost of a 2 form entry primary school is £7million.   
 
The applicant is proposing to give the Council 2.9 hectares which is sufficient land to provide a 3 
form entry primary school.  This would allow the land for building a 2 form entry primary school to 
means the needs of this part of the housing allocation.  It would also allow in future the expansion 
of the school by an additional 1 form entry to meet the needs of the remaining housing allocation.   
 
In addition money is proposed to be taken from the overall S106 pot of money to be put towards 
the overall cost of the £7million school, and it is proposed approximately £2,680,000 would be 
allocated towards this cost.  This is £2,105,000 short of what the education team requested to 
cover the primary educational needs of the 870 houses proposed.  Additional funding sources 

28



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 25 

would have to be sought to find the remaining £4,320,000 shortfall to provide the 2 form entry 
primary school on site.   
 
Secondary 
 
In terms of the Secondary school provision a housing development of 2000 houses can expect to 
generate 500 secondary age children (equivalent to a 3.3FE school).  Based on the cost of the new 
secondary school at Manor Drive/Paston Reserve adjacent to the site a 6 form entry secondary 
school cots £20million, this equates to £22,222 per pupil.  870 dwellings would likely generate 218 
secondary age pupils (1.4FE).  This would therefore require this development to make a 
contribution of £4,844,396 towards secondary education.  No financial contribution is being made 
from this scheme towards secondary school because the viability assessment says this cannot 
afford to do so.   
 
Sporting provision 
 
The occupiers of this new residential development will generate the demand for sporting provision.  
The only on site provision proposed is the playing field associated with the primary school.  Whilst 
this could provide some out of school hours community uses, it likely this could only provide 
facilities for young children.  Therefore the majority of the provision for outdoor/indoor sport will be 
through a financial contribution so these facilities can be provided/enhanced off site.  Using the 
Sport England facilities calculator to help assess the demand for community sports facilities that 
would result from this development, they have based this on an average of 2.5 person per 
household so for 870 houses, this would be 2,175 people.  This would generate the need for :- 
 

Facility Demand Cost (pro-rata) 

Sports Halls 0.63 court, or 0.16 of a 4 ct 
sports hall 

£378,887 

Swimming pools 23.71sqm or 0.11 of a 
swimming pool 

£410,452 

Artificial pitches 0.07 pitch £69,083 (3G pitch) 

 
The above amounts total £858,422 contribution requested for sport provision.  In view of the 
viability issues of the site it is proposed that £800,000 contribution of the S106 pot goes towards 
outdoor sport.  Sport England have raised no objection to this.     
 
Bereavement  
 
The development will potentially impact on bereavement services and a s106 contribution should 
be sought towards the provision of a new cemetery as existing facilities are nearing exhaustion.  
The estimate capital cost for the New Cemetery Project - purchasing 20 acres for 15,000 graves, 
will be £2,220,500,therefore £148.00 per bedroom however as the current demand for burials are 
at 20% compared to cremations, I request that the contribution per bedroom, per property should 
be £29.60.  At this stage we do not know the exact number of bedrooms per house proposed.  In 
view of the viability constraints it is considered £20,000 of the S106 pot be given to bereavement 
services.   
 
Ecology mitigation 
The proposed development would increase existing visitor pressures on the nearby Dogsthorpe 
Star Pit SSSI.  The Wildlife Trust manage this site and their objectives for the site regarding 
access, promotion and engagement (as opposed to our ecological objectives) are that they would 
like Dogsthorpe Star Pit to be recognised as a Wildlife Trust nature reserve and for visitors to 
understand why it is a special place and to value and respect nature when visiting. Access to be 
restricted to specified access points and surfaced paths. Visitors walking their dogs will ensure 
dogs are on leads at all times. The site would be secured from unauthorised vehicle access. The 
habitats adjacent to paths and access points will be managed both to provide high quality habitats 
for key species and act as barriers to parts of the nature reserve with restricted access. Finally, the 

29



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 26 

residents of the Norwood development(s) would be informed of the location of the nature reserve, 
that it is managed by the Wildlife Trust, a local charity, and will know where they can visit locally for 
a variety of recreational activities, including dog walking routes and areas where dogs can roam off 
lead. 
 
To protect the site from increased visitor pressure they have two mitigation strategies.  One which 
would involve creating additional natural greenspace on the land between the SSSI and A16 where 
dogs could be allowed off the lead, this would involve, paths, fencing, signage, dog bins etc and 
would take pressure off the more sensitive parts of the SSSI.  The total costs for this not including 
acquiring the land which belongs to the church commissioners, which would be required to be 
gifted as part of their development would be £487,550.  If this option was not possible the 
secondary option would be to put measures in place to restrict the visitor access to the SSI, with 
more fencing, signage, paths etc.  The total costs for this estimated at £410,300. 
 
Due to the viability constraints it is considered £100,000 of the S106 pot be given to the ecological 
mitigation of the SSSI.   
 
Sustainable travel 
 
£800,000 has been set aside to assist in the enhancement to sustainable travel from the site, this 
could be to help assist in the provision of bus travel from the site, or the improvement to cycling 
routes, in addition to the household welcome packs containing bike/bus vouchers.  If the provision 
of bus routes is not going to be possible as this is deliverable from a third party commercial 
company then it is proposed that the money should be re-directed to help the provision of 
education facilities for the site.                  

 

Members can see from the above information that there is a significant shortfall in the amount of 
S106 contributions being provided to cover the service needs/demands of this development and 
that only 10% rather than 30% is being proposed.  Members in their decision making will have to 
balance the benefits of scheme, including the delivery of this allocated housing site, against this 
shortfall in contributions, to come to a decision on whether the benefits outweigh the harm.   

 
e) Flood Risk/Drainage 
 

The application is located wholly within Flood Zone 1, the lowest flood risk zone.  It is defined as 
having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of flooding from rivers and streams.   

  
The site generally falls from south west to north east, with the lowest ground level at the north east 
point. There are a series of field drains within the application site.  The field drains flow toward the 
final outfall to the east and connect into Car Dyke via a piped crossing underneath the A16.  The 
proposed drainage system would similarly also outfall to the Car Dyke in this manner.   

 
As the site is within Flood Zone 1, there is no requirement to undertake a sequential or exception 
test.  The strategic flood risk for the local plan also considered the  suitably of the  site for the 
proposed uses prior to its allocation.     

 
The risk to the development from flooding from potential sources outside the site is therefore found 
to be low.   

 
In assessing the risk of flooding arising from this development, generally the proposed surface 
water arrangement should ensure that the volumes and peak flow  rates post development are no 
greater that the rates prior to the development.  In  addition the on-site drainage system should 
take account of predicted increased rainfall from climate change.     

 
To accommodate surface water runoff from the site it is proposed that a number of SUDS 
ponds/drainage basins be installed on the periphery of the built development within the site. The 
illustrative masterplan shows the creation of SUDS ponds and features, and it is anticipated that 6 

30



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 27 

such features would be provided.  Swales will also be provided as part of the drainage strategy to 
help manage surface water runoff.  Some traditional drainage methods for some building and 
roads would be used to then drain into the attenuation basins on site but this will only be 
considered where all other SUDS methods have been proven not to be viable. The Environment 
Agency will need to agree the discharge into Car Dyke as it is classed as a main  river.    

 
It is not considered the proposed development would result in any detrimental impact for 
neighbouring sites in terms of flooding.  It is not considered the principle of the drainage scheme 
would cause of increase flood risk to the site or surrounding sites.     

 
In respect of foul drainage, Anglian Water have stated that this development can  connect into the 
existing foul water sewer to the south of the site near Paston Parkway.  However due to the 
topography of the site and the location of the sewer the foul water will need to be  pumped. Anglian 
Water have requested foul water storage on site to mitigate the detrimental impact that additional 
flows would have on the existing system.  This will be designed at the detailed design stage.  All 
foul water connections would have to be agreed by Anglia Water.  Anglian Water  and the 
Environment Agency have raised no objections subject to conditions in respect of the phasing of 
development and the associated drainage infrastructure to ensure  that appropriate connections 
and capacity to prevent any adverse impact on their existing drainage infrastructure.          

  
The Environment Agency and the PCC as Lead Local Flood Authority raise no objection to the 
drainage or flood risk of the site, subject to the imposition of conditions.  The proposal is therefore 
considered to be in accordance with Policy LP32 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.     

 
f) Historic Environment/Archaeology 
 

Listed Buildings/Conservation Areas 
 

There are no listed buildings or Conservation Areas within the application site.  The heritage 
information submitted in support of the application identifies 6 listed buildings and 1 conservation 
area within a 1.5km radius of the application site.  Officers are in agreement with the findings of the 
report that conclude that none of these heritage assets has a material relationship with the site and 
therefore this proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon their significance.   

 
The proposal would therefore not have any adverse impacts on the surrounding historic 
environment or heritage assets in accordance with Policy LP19 and the NPPF.   

 
Car Dyke  

 
The application is bounded to the north by the Car Dyke which is a Scheduled Monument.  The 
southern boundary of the monument is partly within the application site.  The dyke extends 
approximately 3km to the west and 8000m to the east of the site boundary and varies between 40 
and 70m in width.  As a Scheduled Monument, the asset is considered to represent a heritage 
receptor of high value.   
 
The dyke is a water filled channel with a parallel earthen bank on its northern side, which although 
modified originated as a Roman canal.  The monuments southern bank is partially within the site, 
but is covered by dense trees and vegetation.  At the western end, the edge of the dyke is 
relatively open with a number of mature trees bounding it.  The value of the asset is mainly 
historical, as an important feature of the Roman historical landscape, and archaeological, through 
its alignment and function and any deposits within it.     

 
The development will have no direct effect on the scheduled monument.  In respect of assessing 
the impact on the setting of Car Dyke. It is proposed there would be a buffer of between 
approximately 40 and 100m between the monument and the proposed houses (with a minimum 
offset of 50m), this would provide both an ecological and archaeological buffer.  The buffers will 
contain sustainable drainage systems (SUDS).  This standoff includes the retention of trees and 

31



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 28 

other vegetation known as Norwood Spinney, which lie upon the monument and which extend 
southwards into the site.   
 
The adjacent Paston Reserve housing developments to the west of the site have also adopted a 
buffer zone approach to protecting the landscape setting of the scheduled monument.  Given the 
amount of development proposed and the cumulative impacts on the scheduled monument from 
other developments to the west, the new built development would affect the current open setting of 
the scheduled monument which derives part of its significance from its fen edge setting.  The 
retention and provision of vegetation in the buffer zone will contribute to softening the interface of 
the new housing and Car Dyke.  If the SUDS features are to be included in the 30-50m buffer zone 
they must be designed to maximise their distance from the dyke and be designed to appear as 
natural water features so as not to compete or detract from the monument.   

 
The proposed development would cause an appreciable degree of harm to the significance of Car 
Dyke due the changes in its landscape setting, and this includes a degree of cumulative harm from 
previously completed development adjacent.  However the retention of the Spinney Wood and 
provision of the buffer zone and enhanced landscaping in this area would all help to minimise the 
harm to the significance of this asset.  In accordance with the NPPF this less than substantial harm 
to the significance of Car Dyke, must be weighed against the public benefits of the scheme.  These 
include the bringing forward this allocated housing site including some affordable housing, 
improved open space and ecology benefits, the provision of primary school and local centre.  It is 
therefore considered in this instance the public benefits of the scheme would outweigh the harm to 
the heritage asset.  Therefore the proposal would accord with Policy LP19 and the NPPF.   
  
In addition to the above, separate Scheduled monument consent will be required to be sought 
separately by the developer.   

 
Archaeological investigation 

 
Archaeological investigation was carried out across the whole of the site in the form of a 
geophysical survey and trial trenching.   

 
The archaeological work recorded buried remains related to Early-Middle Bronze Age settlement 
and agriculture, as well as undated remains.  These were identified within 3 distinct areas within 
the site.  In the south-western part of the Site, large ditches and a watering hole of prehistoric date 
were recorded and are of limited archaeological value. In the north-western part of the Site, a large 
pit and ditch were recorded to contain Early Bronze Age pottery which is likely to relate to other 
archaeology elsewhere in the site.  In the centre of the Site, widely distributed features were 
identified including large ditches, small pits and gullies containing Early-Middle Bronze Age pottery, 
suggesting domestic and possibly industrial activity in this part of the site.   
 
All 3 zones will be affected by groundwork from proposed development, either through 
landscaping, SUDS, housing building etc.  Further archaeology trial trenching targeted on the area 
identified as significant will be required to be secured by condition, under a written scheme of 
investigation.  Undetected features may also be present on site therefore monitoring of all 
groundwork operations under archaeological supervision should also be secured by condition.  In 
the buffer zone with Car Dyke there will be landscaping and SUDS features.  Monitoring of all 
groundwork operations within the open space under archaeological supervision should also be 
secured by condition. 
 
Officer are satisfied that subject to the imposition of conditions the proposed development could 
take place without unacceptable impact on heritage assets and the archaeological 
remains/features on site, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.   
 

g) Ecology/Trees 
  
 Designated Sites 

32



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 29 

 
The Dogsthorpe Star Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is located approximately 50m 
east of the site at its closest point.  It is separated from the site by the A16.  It is a former clay pit 
designated as a SSSI for its diverse and interesting aquatic invertebrates  including 64 water beetle 
species, 5 of which are nationally rare and 35 nationally scarce.   The site also supports a range 
of plant communities with species that are scarce in Cambridgeshire.    Therefore in considering 
the potential impacts of this development on the SSI studies were undertaken and in particular in 
respect of air and water quality. The site is managed as a Local Nature Reserve by the Wildlife 
Trust.  In terms of hydrology it has been sufficiently demonstrated that this development in unlikely 
to have an adverse effect through changes to hydrology or water quality to Dogsthorpe Star Pit.  In 
terms of air  quality the submitted information has demonstrated that there would be no 
unacceptable impacts in terms on impacts on air quality.  In terms of recreational pressure the 
proposed development would result in increased visitor pressure to the SSSI which could result in 
harmful effects.  The approach taken to mitigate for this increased visitor pressure is to deliver 
appropriate high quality on site accessible greenspace focused along the northern boundary of the 
site to provide an attractive alternative to visiting the SSSI, and a financial contribution to help 
manage visitor access to the site to prevent harmful impacts.  It is considered that these two 
measures would satisfactorily deal with increased visitor pressure and associated management to 
prevent harm to the SSSI.           
 
In addition the submission also considered the direct and indirect impacts on the Nene Washes 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA), Ramsar and SSSI, as this 
development falls within the 5km buffer.  Part of the Nene Washes SAC lies 5.2km to the south of 
the site.  The seasonally flooding grasslands and grazing marsh parts of the Nene that are 
designated as SPA and SSI lie 4.7km south of the site. In terms of hydrology it has been 
sufficiently demonstrated that this development in unlikely to have an adverse effect through 
changes to hydrology or water quality to Nene Washes.        
 
Natural England is satisfied based on the information provided in the submission  documents that 
the proposed development is unlikely to have any adverse impact on the  Nene Washes, SSSI, 
SAC, SPA and Ramsar site and Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI and has no objection to the application. 
This is subject to a mitigation strategy to address recreational pressure impacts to Dogsthorpe Star 
Pit SSSI being agreed, and delivery of all proposed mitigation measures being secured, through 
appropriate planning conditions. 
  
Impacts on locally important sites were also considered, including the Little Wood County Wildlife 
Site (CWS).  The Little Wood CWS is an ancient semi-natural woodland  supporting more than 30 
woodland plant species, and is less than 2 hectares in size. There  would likely be increased visitor 
pressure by this development from dog walkers etc.  However it considered that the likely impacts 
would not warrant specific mitigation  measures.  In addition with the provision of enhanced green 
infrastructure on site and management mitigation contributions for Dogsthorpe Star Pit that they 
would become more attractive sites for such visitors.    
 
 Existing habitats on site 
 
The majority of the site compromises intensively farmed arable fields with a small area of 
broadleaved semi-natural woodland which contains a pond along its northern boundary.  There is 
an area of semi-improved neutral grassland along the north boundary of the woodland. The arable 
fields are delineated by mostly dry ditches which are bounded by narrow, semi-improved grassland 
margins, patches of scrub and species-poor, defunct hedgerows with trees. A small number of 
scattered trees are present within the site.  
 
The pond on site within the broadleaved woodland dries out yearly.  The pond on site will be 
retained, restored and enhanced and will form part of a network of ponds and other drainage 
features within the greenspace for the site. Within the illustrative masterplan it is proposed to 
create SUDS ponds and features, and it is anticipated that 6 such features would be provided.  
These features will deliver a net gain for biodiversity and increase the value of the site for 

33



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 30 

amphibians and reptiles as well as increasing the quality of foraging habitat available for bats in 
site.     

 
The majority of the mature trees and hedges across the site and the woodland patch that is 
Norwood Spinney will be retained/enhanced and will remain connected to Car Dyke and continue 
to be part of this continuous green corridor.  The dyke acts as a wildlife corridor connecting areas 
of woodland and other waterbodies in the district. The masterplan proposes a landscape buffer 
between the development and Car Dyke of 30m at its narrowest point.  This will provide open 
space/natural green space for the residents together with biodiversity enhancement and habitats 
for the site.  The provision of a green corridor along the northern site boundary incorporating the 
retained Norwood Spinney and buffer to Carr Dyke, as indicated on the Illustrative Site Masterplan, 
is welcomed.  Newly created habitats should be designed to maximise biodiversity benefits, for 
example by incorporating native aquatic planting into the drainage scheme and the use of species-
rich wild-flower seeding in areas of grassland and open spaces.   
 

The revised construction environmental management plan still lacks some of the required 
information, however this information can be secured by condition.   
 
The impacts on the developments on existing habitats is considered to be acceptable and the 
biodiversity enhancement measures proposed in the proposed buffer zone, retention and 
enhancement of exiting trees and hedges, new green infrastructure, new Suds and pond features 
etc would add biodiversity enhancement to the site.  It is therefore considered that the ecological 
impacts and enhancement to the site are acceptable and in accordance with Policy LP28.   
 

Protected Species 
  

Birds 
  

The 2015 breeding birds survey recorded 32 species of bird within the site, 5 red list and 8 amber 
list species.  The 2017 pilot breeding bird survey recorded 30 species of bird within the site 
including 5 red list and 5 amber list species.  Generalist species were recorded site wide 
throughout hedgerow and woodland habitat and there were no specific concentrations of activity.  
The overall assemblage of species was similar during the 2015 and 2017 survey, with no particular 
species identified as particularly reliant on the site. For a site of this size, abundance and diversity 
were low and the assemblage is not considered out of the ordinary.  Officers are in agreement with 
the conclusions reached that the impact on breeding birds is not considered to be a constraint to 
redevelopment this site.  The birds are legally protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981(as amended), an ecological construction method statement (ECMS) condition would be 
required to ensure protection during construction works.  The provision of bird boxes on site and 
green infrastructure provision to provide a different range of habitats would provide enhancement 
for breeding birds on site.   
 
Bats 
 
6 different bat species were identified by the desk study.  The most recent records were in 2012, 
and all closest records were 3.5km east of the site.  All the buildings on site (the bungalow, 2 barns 
and farm outbuildings) were considered to have negligible bat roosting potential.  With the 
exception of Norwood Spinney, the habitats within the site suitable for foraging and commuting 
bats is limited to the hedgerows and field margins.  The managed nature of these species poor 
hedgerows and fragmentation on all sides by roads means that the quality of these hedgerows for 
foraging bats is considered low.  Higher quality foraging habitat is present adjacent to the site, 
along Car Dyke to the north and in Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI to the east. Officers agree with the 
findings that the impact on bats is not considered to be a constraint to the proposed redevelopment 
this site.  Bats are legally protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981(as amended), 
consideration to minimising the impact on bats during construction should be secured through the 
ECMS.  The retention of the landscape buffer along Car Dyke will enhance the bat foraging habitat, 

34



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 31 

and a wildlife friendly lighting scheme including within the ECMS and within the proposed 
development to help minimise the impact on bats using the habitat features on site.    
 
Great Crested Newts and other amphibians 
 
The 2015 desk study undertaken had 1 record for common toad, common frog, and great crested 
newt (GCN) within 1km.  No GCN were recorded during the onsite surveys of 2015 and 2017.  
Common frog were recorded in the pond on site in 2015, this is a common and widespread 
species.  No common toad or other newt species were recorded in any pond surveys or during the 
reptile survey.   Great Crested Newts or Common toad are not therefore a constraint to the 
proposed redevelopment of the site.  The proposed SUDS features will significantly improve the 
suitability of the site for amphibians and therefore deliver a net biodiversity gain.   
 
 

Reptiles 
  
The 2015 reptile survey found no reptile species on site, and 1 grass snake on land to the east of 
the site.  The site supports habitat suitable for grass snake along the ditches and field margins and 
the road verge to the east of the site provides suitable dispersal habitat. It is therefore considered 
likely that the site supports a small population of grass snake of less than local level importance.  
Reptiles will therefore not pose a constraint to the redevelopment of the site. Reptiles are protected 
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981(as amended), and a precautionary method of working 
during construction/demolition will be recommended for inclusion in the ECMS.  The enhancement 
landscaping and habitat creation will be of benefit to reptiles.   
 
Badgers  
  
During the 2015 Extended Phase 1 Survey for the whole of the allocation, an outlier badger sett 
was recorded east of the current site.  No other setts or signs of activity were recorded within the 
site.  The arable fields, grassland, scrub and woodland within the site provide suitable foraging 
habitat for badgers. This sett remained in 2017 but is not within the current application site and no 
other signs were found in the 2017 survey. Badgers however still remain legally protected from 
harm under The Protection of Badgers Act (1991). Therefore, a precautionary method of working 
will be recommended for inclusion within the ECMS. The habitat creation opportunities embedded 
within the Masterplan will also benefit badgers.  
 

Water Voles 
 

Due to the unstable water levels and regular drying of the ditches, water vole are  considered 
unlikely to be using the site and so are not considered to be a constraint to development.  The 
retention and buffer along Car Dyke will also further benefit this species in the Local area.   
 

Officers are therefore satisfied all protected species have been fully considered in assessing the 
impacts of the proposed development upon them.  Subject to the above identified mitigation, 
ecological management plan and construction environmental management plans being secured by 
conditions the impact on protected species is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with 
Policy LP28 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.    
 
Whilst it is accepted that there will be biodiversity gain on the site, the requested Defra metric has 
not been provided to give a measurable demonstration as to exactly what the biodiversity net gain 
will be.  Whist this is disappointing it is not considered that the development could be resisted on 
the basis of its absence and through the conditions of this consent and the subsequent reserved 
matters the necessary biodiversity enhancements would be secured.  On that basis Officers 
consider the proposal to be in accordance with Policy LP28.   
 
In addition to the above the Council, as Competent Authority under the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017, as amended (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), should have regard to the 
findings of the ES and associated technical documents when recording your Habitats Regulations 

35



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 32 

Assessment (HRA). In preparing the HRA mitigation measures should be assessed within the 
framework of an appropriate assessment (AA). 
  

h) Landscape 
 

The site is located within the Landscape Character Area (LCA) 5 Peterborough Fen Fringe LCA, 
sub-unit 5a Norwood Fen Fringe.    

 
The LCA forms a transitional, gently undulating, arable agricultural area between Peterborough 
and the Fens, which has also been influenced by clay extraction activities (notably at Dogsthorpe 
Star Pit, now a Nature Reserve) and road infrastructure. Modern roads create visual and audible 
intrusion, although much of the LCA away from these detracting features is open and exposed. 5a, 
however, possesses a more intimate character with hedgerows, scattered trees and tree belts, 
including those that line local roads and the belt of tree at the site’s northern perimeter adjacent to 
Car Dyke (Roman ditch).  
 
The site itself, which is essentially flat, is bounded to the east and south by the A16 and the A47, 
where the site boundary is largely defined by drainage ditches, hedgerows, belts of trees, set back 
from the road edge by three large intervening arable fields. The A16 and the A47 intersect close to 
the site’s south-western corner, forming a major road junction. The site’s western boundary 
(adjacent to Newborough Road) is bordered by a hedgerow (along its western and partially 
southern section) and defined by scrub vegetation to the north-west. Woodland along the northern 
boundary physically and visually confines the site.  
 
Within the site, the large arable fields are separated by ditches and some hedgerows (with groups 
of trees) that, to some limited degree, restrict views within and across the site from external 
locations. Views of the site are possible from the A16, the A47 and Newborough Road, although 
more distant views are somewhat constrained by trees within and surrounding the site. The result 
is that there is very limited intervisibility between the site and the suburbs of Peterborough or the 
wider rural landscape to the north and east; a situation accentuated by the flat topography. 
Woodland along the northern boundary (Norwood Spinney) provides some physical and visual 
containment and enclosure to the northern part of the site.  
 
To the west of the site lies Paston Reserve, a mixed-use development. Planning permission was 
granted for up to 1050 dwellings with local facilities and a school in addition to existing houses 
constructed on the initial section of Manor Drive.  This now forms the urban edge of Peterborough.     
 
Various viewpoints were considered when assessing the impact of the proposed development on 
the existing landscape character.     
 
Inevitably, a housing development on a ‘greenfield’ site, which results in the loss of open farmland 
and some hedgerows and trees, will materially alter the character of the existing environment.  

 
In the short-term, the existing views from Public Right of Way to the south of the site from rural 
fields to housing would completely change, giving rise to a major/moderate adverse effect, which is 
significant.  

 
However in the long-term, with the bringing forward of the remaining allocation and the likely 
landscape buffer with the A47/A16, and the maturing of landscaping on this site these effects will 
be reduced to a level where it is considered there would be no significant effects. This 
development would be viewed in the context of the urban edge of Peterborough, enclosed by the 
roads of the A4, A16, Car Dyke and Newborough Road, limiting is impact on the wider rural setting.    
 
In landscape/visual terms, it is considered the proposed development could acceptably be 
accommodated on this site with no significant long-term visual effects. These effects would lessen 
over time as a result of the effective mitigation proposed as part of the masterplan. The landscape 
proposals will assist in the integration and improvement of the new settlement edge with the wider 

36



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 33 

agricultural landscape. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy LP27 
of the Local Plan.   
  

i) Contamination 
 
A contamination report was submitted in support of the application.  A further Phase II report is 
required to be secured by condition.  This further report would establish any necessary remediation 
or protection measures required to enable safe the development of the site, which would also be 
subject to agreement by condition.  The Environment Agency note that the previous use of part of 
the proposed development site as a farm with fuel storage presents a risk of contamination that 
could be mobilised during construction and go on to pollute controlled waters unless  suitable 
mitigation is  put in place . Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location because the 
proposed development site is located upon a secondary aquifer and surface water drains appear to 
be located on-site and adjacent to the site. Based on the submitted report they do have confidence 
that it would be possible to suitably manage the risk to controlled waters. They agree with the 
recommendation of the report for additional investigation around the exploratory position WS2 on 
Leeds Farm.  This should be delineated and an assessment should be made of any risk posed to 
controlled waters. Based on the results, further assessment or remediation made be required.  
They are content that this detail can be satisfactorily dealt with by condition.     
 
An unsuspected contamination condition should also be imposed to deal appropriately with any 
unknown contamination that may be uncovered during works.  Officers are satisfied that subject to 
the imposition of these conditions to deal with any contamination on site that the site would be 
acceptable for the uses proposed.  The development would therefore be in accordance with Policy 
LP33 of the Local Plan.     
 

j) Noise 
 
A detailed daytime and night-time fully automated sound survey was undertaken in order to 
establish the existing environmental and sound and vibration climate at suitable locations around 
the proposed development.  An acoustic model was prepared to be used in addition to these 
surveys.  The model includes the traffic flows from the surrounding road network.  Various 
scenarios were modelled.  To help understand the noise impacts during construction, the suitable 
of the site for residential in terms of securing acceptable internal and external noise levels for 
residents, the impact of noise from the school and local centre.   Where the assessment identified 
exceedance of acceptable noise levels of significant effects, mitigation measures were identified.   
 
The results of the assessment indicate that for the majority of the residential areas, noise levels are 
likely to fall below the proposed lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) of 55 dB. For a 
small area of residential provisions within 40 m to the main noise source in the area (Newborough 
Road and the A16) it is likely that noise levels may exceed the proposed LOAEL criteria for 
external amenity areas. For these residential areas it is likely that mitigation measures may be 
required. With mitigation in place, including orientation of dwellings/gardens, the proposed LOAEL 
is likely to be met and therefore, the acoustic impact on the proposed development would be 
negligible.  Suitable internal noise levels for proposed residential buildings are likely to be met 
through conventional external building fabric constructions. The specifications of the external 
building fabric will be detailed at the reserved matters stage accounting for the window sizes and 
internal layout.  
 
Traffic flows associated with the development (including cumulative traffic flows) have been 
assessed to determine the impact on the existing road network and the potential increase of noise 
on existing receptors. The level of impact that development traffic is likely to have on existing 
receptors is deemed to be negligible  
 
Noise impacts associated with the construction phase could impact on nearby properties. 
Therefore, mitigation measures will be incorporated through the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan to be secured by condition to minimise the impacts. This would include use of 

37



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 34 

best practicable measures. This should include things such as construction hours avoiding 
evenings and Sundays/Bank Holidays.  Locating noisy plant, loading and unloading areas away 
from sensitive receptors.  Using quite working methods and doing noisy operators during 
reasonable hours.  Keeping local residents informed of the proposed working schedule etc.  With 
these measures in places the impact would be deemed as negligible.   

 
All primary and secondary schools should be designed in order to comply with the Building 
Regulations and the guidance in BB93 “Acoustic design of schools - performance standards”. The 
acoustic assessment relating to the design of the internal and external construction of the school 
will therefore be included at the detailed design stage. Advice in relation to the potential noise 
impact from outdoor play areas and sport pitches will also be assessed at the detailed design 
stage and will be based on the advice in the document Guidance from Planning and Design for 
Outdoor Sport and Play, Fields in Trust, 2008.   
 
Officers accept that the assessment has demonstrated that with the use of appropriate mitigation 
measures, the site is suitable for development and that the proposed development would not result 
in any significant noise or vibration effects for occupiers or surrounding residents, in accordance 
with Policy LP17 of the Local Plan.    
 

k) Other matters 
 

Air Quality: 
 

The air quality assessment information submitted in support of the application is considered to be 
acceptable. 

 
Point of access opposite existing dwelling: 

 
The access is proposed to be positioned to the south Mayville house on the opposite side of 
Newborough Road and to the north of the buildings on Slate Farm.  It is recognised that the 
development will result in an increase in traffic passing by the properties on Newborough Road at 
all times of day and night and therefore there will be some impact on the occupants of the 
dwellings. However, this impact is not considered to be so great as to justify the refusal of planning 
permission.       

 
Impact on Caravan Site White Post Road South: 

 
There is no evidence that suggests that the site will be adversely impacted on by the proposed 
development.    

 
Planning Balance: 

 
In addition to the issues and harms identified in the above report.  The benefits of the scheme must 
be weighed in the balance.   

 
The main public benefits are the provision of housing, affordable housing, land for a primary school 
and a local centre.  However it has to be acknowledged that the full policy requirement of 
affordable housing would potentially not be delivered (subject to enhanced   provision being 
facilitated via Combined Authority or other funding source), due to viability issues.  Whilst the land 
for the school would be provided, insufficient financial contributions are secured to build the school 
and so additional funding will need to be sought, again this due to viability issues.   

 
Open space and play facilities for residents are proposed on site which is a benefit. 

 
In the short term, the proposal would result in a number of construction jobs. In the longer term 
employment would be provided from the local centre and school on site.  There would also be 

38



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 35 

additional household expenditure to support the local economy and community infrastructure. 
There would also be council tax income for the authority. 

 
In weighing in the balance the benefits of the development against the harms, it is concluded that 
the benefits would outweigh the harm, and therefore subject to the imposition of conditions and 
securing of a legal agreement, the development can be supported 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
 

- The site forms part of an allocated urban extension therefore the principle of housing, school 
and local centre uses are considered to be acceptable and in accordance with Policies  LP5 
and LP35.    

- Subject to conditions, the impact on the highway network is considered to be acceptable, in 
accordance with Policy LP13. 

- Viability appraisals have demonstrated why a policy compliant position in respect of affordable 
housing and S106 contributions cannot be achieved. 

- The proposal would not no result in any unacceptable landscape impacts, in accordance with 
Policy LP27. 

- The provision of a landscape buffer would assist in mitigating the impacts on the Car Dyke, in 
accordance with Policy LP19. 

- Issues of noise, contamination, drainage and ecology can be suitably dealt with by way 
conditions in accordance with Policies LP17, LP33, LP32, and LP28.   

 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Outline Planning Permission is 
GRANTED subject to securing a legal agreement, an appropriate assessment and the following 
conditions: 
 

1. Approval of details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (hereinafter called 'the 
reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any 
development is commenced. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the 
 development plan and any other material considerations including national and local policy 
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition 1 above, relating to 

the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority and shall be carried out as approved. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the 
 development plan and any other material considerations including national and local policy 
 guidance. 
 
3. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
 Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

39



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 36 

 
 Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
 Act 1990 (as amended).   

 
5. The proposed development is initially limited to the occupation of 200 dwellings (Key Phase 

One) only.  No further occupation of dwellings can beyond Key Phase One shall take place 
unless in line with a monitoring strategy it is demonstrated that: 

 
- further impact from additional trips from the development can be accommodated on the 

highway network (A47, Newborough Road/A47 and A47/ A16 junctions) in line with the 
agreed Monitoring Strategy, or  

- a fuller and more comprehensive and robust sustainable transport strategy is agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority, in conjunction with the Highways Authorities that 
provides suitable mitigation measures and highway capacity to support the role out of future 
phases of the development. Future phases will be predicated on agreed trigger points 
determined from the outcomes of comprehensive monitoring of trips generated by the 
development and on the surrounding highway network. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 

 
6. Prior to the first occupation of Key Phase One, a Monitoring Strategy, together with Travel 

Plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 

 The monitoring strategy, which provides for a system for vehicular trip monitoring shall  be 
 agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, in conjunction with the Highways 
 Authorities. The agreed system of vehicular trip monitoring shall include provisions for 
 annual surveys of vehicular trip generation to and from the site, the Newborough  Road/A47 
 junction and the adjacent highway of site occupiers’ travel patterns and it  shall incorporate 
 details of:  
 
 - The frequency, timing, duration and location of the vehicular trip surveys from the 
 development;  

     - The frequency, timing and scope of the travel pattern surveys;  

     - The format for reporting and evaluation of the above survey results;  

 - The timing for the submission of survey reports to the local planning authority and 
Highways Authority.  

  
     Reason: In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 

 
7. In the event a strategic highway intervention is identified and implemented to the A47 and 

A16 roads which provides for sufficient highway capacity to accommodate the impact of 
trips generated by this development, then subject to agreement in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the highways authorities, the requirement of 
condition 5 shall be discharged.   

  
 Reason:  In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 

 
8. No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place until, details of a 

scheme of widening of Newborough Road to 6m and appropriate traffic management 
measures on Newborough Road, from the proposed site access to the A47 junction shall 
be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed traffic 
management measures shall be implemented in accordance with those details prior to the 
occupation of any dwellings hereby approved. 

 

40



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 37 

 Reason: In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 
 
9. No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place until, details of 

appropriate traffic management measures on Newborough Road, from the proposed site 

access to the A47 junction shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning 

Authority. The agreed traffic management measures shall be implemented in accordance 

with those details prior to the occupation of any dwellings hereby approved. 

 

 Reason: In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 

10. Prior to the commencement of the development, details of the proposed site access onto 
Newborough Road based on plan 40766-5502-008A shall be submitted to and agreed by 
the Local Planning Authority. The access details shall include (but not exclusively), the 
access geometry, appropriate visibility splays in accordance with vehicles speeds on 
Newborough Road and any required improvements to Newborough Road. The access shall 
be implemented in accordance with those details prior to the occupation of any dwellings 
hereby approved. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 
 
11. No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place until, details of 

the proposed footway along Newborough Road from the proposed site access, northwards 
to the junction with Norwood Lane and southwards, to the proposed Manor Drive Academy 
access junction in broad accordance with information on plan 40766-5502-008A shall be 
submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The footway shall be 
implemented in accordance with those details prior to the occupation of any dwellings 
hereby approved. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highways Safety and in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
 adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. 
 
12. Prior to the commencement of each phase/sub-phase of development or any associated 

site clearance, a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for that phase / 
sub-phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The CEMP shall include for each phase/sub-phase of the construction/site clearance: 

 
 a) A scheme for the monitoring, reporting and control of construction noise and vibration 
 including hours of working and scope for remedial action. 
 b) A scheme for the control of dust and scope for remedial action in the event that dust is 
 identified as an issue or any complaints are received. 
 c) A scheme of chassis and wheel cleaning for all construction vehicles to include the 
 details of the location and specification of a fully working jetted drive-thru bath type wheel 
 wash system together with hard surfacing laid between the apparatus and public highway in 
 either concrete or tarmacadam, to be maintained free of mud, slurry and any other form of 
 contamination whilst in use.  A contingency plan including if necessary the temporary 
 cessation of all construction operations to be implemented in the event that the approved 
 vehicle cleaning scheme fails to be effective for any reason. 
 d)Haul routes to the site and hours of delivery. 
 e) Measures to ensure that vehicles can access the site upon arrival so there is no queuing 
 on the public highway. 
 f) Details of site compounds, storage area and contractor and visitor parking. 
 g) Details of the site enclosure or part thereof and gated site security. 
 H) Confirmation that tree protection measures are in place. 
 I) Confirmation that any demolition/construction will be carried out in accordance with the 

41



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 38 

 ecological management plan/method statement 
 j) A scheme for dealing with complaints. 
 k) Details of any temporary lighting which must not directly light the public highway. 
 h) Ecological protection measures  
 
 The CEMP shall thereafter be adhered to throughout the relevant period of construction. 
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, residential amenity and ecological protection in 
 accordance with policies LP13, LP17 and LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 This is a pre-commencement condition because the details to be approved are required to 
 be put in place before development commences for the duration of the development. 
 
13. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until the developer 

has contacted the Highway Control Team to agree the extent of a pre-condition highway 
survey and carry out a joint inspection of the condition of the public highway before site 
traffic uses the road/s. A similar inspection will take place on completion of the road.  

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Adopted 
 Peterborough Local Plan. 
 
14. Notwithstanding the submitted information no development above ground works shall take 

place, within each phase/sub-phase, until provision has been made for fire hydrants for that 
phase/sub-phase in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling/building to be served by the scheme written 
 confirmation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 that the scheme has been implemented in full and is certified as being ready for use. 
 
 Reason: In the interest of community safety and to ensure that adequate supplies are 
 available for fire fighting, in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
 (2019). 

 
15. The plans and particulars to be submitted as reserved matters for each plot/phase shall be 

accompanied by a detailed scheme for the provision, implementation, ownership and 
maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage scheme/infrastructure for that 
plot/phase.  It shall be based on the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy - Rev 
B, dated 14th November 2020.   

 
 The details shall include, but are not limited to the following: 
  
 Information about the design storm period and intensity, discharge rates and volumes  
 (both pre and  post development),temporary storage facilities, means of access for 
 maintenance, the methods employed to delay and control the surface water discharged 
 from the site and the measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
 groundwater and/or surface waters; 
 

 - A detailed surface water drainage plan; 
- Confirmation of source control and details of how run-off will be collected from all 
hardstanding; 
- Any works required off-site to ensure adequate discharge of surface water without causing 
flooding or pollution (which should include refurbishment of existing culverts and headwalls 
or removal of unused culverts where relevant); 
- Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site;   
- Construction details of all drainage assets and SUDS; 
- A timetable for its implementation;   

42



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 39 

- A management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall 
include the arrangements for adoption by an  appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, management and maintenance by a Management Company or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage scheme throughout its 
lifetime; and 
- Demonstration that it meets the government's national standards 
 
Once approved, the scheme shall be implemented, retained, managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. Please note that no hardstanding areas shall be 
constructed on site, until the associated surface water drainage strategy infrastructure is in 
place, to ensure adequate drainage of the site and prevent amenity or flooding issues.   
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, 
improve habitat and amenity and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage 
system.  In accordance with Policies LP19 and LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019). 
 

16. No building works which comprise the erection of a building required to be served by water 
services shall be undertaken in connection within any phase of the development hereby 
permitted until full details of a scheme including phasing, for the provision of mains foul 
sewage infrastructure on and off site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. No dwelling/building shall be occupied until the works have been 
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
 Reason :To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through provision of 
suitable water infrastructure. In accordance with PolicyLP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019). 

 
17. Prior to the occupation of any phase, the foul water drainage works relating to that phase 

must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
Reason To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding. In 
accordance with PolicyLP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  

18. Prior to construction above damp proof course, a Phasing Plan setting out the details of the 
phasing of the development shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved Phasing Plan.  

 
 Reason To ensure the development is phased to avoid an adverse impact on drainage 
 infrastructure.  In accordance with PolicyLP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
19. No building works, which comprise the erection of a building required to be served by water 

services, shall be undertaken in connection with any phase of the development hereby 
permitted, until full details of a scheme, including phasing/connection point/discharge rate, 
for the provision of mains foul sewage infrastructure on and off site has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be occupied until 
the works have been carried out on site in accordance with the approved scheme, and 
thereafter maintained as such.  

 
 Reason:  To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity, through  ensuring 
 appropriate provision of suitable water infrastructure.  In accordance with  Policy LP32 of 
 the Local Plan and the NPPF.   
 

20. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until Phase II report, based on 
the findings of Geo-environmental site assessment reference 301757-R03 (02) prepared by 
RSK dated April 2018, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

43



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 40 

Authority.  Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.     

 
 Reason: To ensure potential risks arising from previous site uses have been fully assessed 
 in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 178 
 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).  This is a pre-commencement condition 
 because contamination must be adequately identified and re mediated prior to construction 
 works taking place to prevent risks of pollution during the ground works and construction 
 process.   
 
21. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a remediation 

strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site has been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the 
following components:  

 
 1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:  

 - all previous uses;  

 - potential contaminants associated with those uses;  

 - a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and  

 - potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
 

 2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
 assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.   
 3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in   
 (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of 
 the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  
 4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
 demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 

 identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
 maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
 
 Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning 
 authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.  
 

 Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
 unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in 
 line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
22. On completion of remediation, two copies of a closure report shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority. The report shall provide verification that the required works regarding 
contamination have been carried out in accordance with the approved Method 
Statement(s). Post remediation sampling and monitoring results shall be included in the 
closure report. 

 
 Reason: To provide verification that the required remediation has been carried out to 
 appropriate standards, in accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
 (2019) and paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
23. If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 

Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

 

44



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 41 

 Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with, in accordance with Policy 
 LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 178 of the National Planning 
 Policy Framework (2019). 
 
24. No demolition/development shall take place/commence until a programme of 

archaeological work based on the archaeological investigations undertaken to date  for 
additional trial trenching, including a Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted 
to, and approved by, the local planning authority in writing.  No demolition/development 
shall take place unless in complete accordance with the approved scheme.  The approved 
scheme shall be implemented in full including any post development requirements e.g. 
archiving and submission of final reports. 

 
 Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to mitigate the 
 impact of their scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not 
 possible, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and 
 Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).   This is a pre-
 commencement condition because archaeological investigations will be required to be 
 carried out before development begins. 
 
25. No demolition/development shall take place/commence details of a watching brief for 

monitoring of groundworks have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter all works shall be carried in accordance with the approved 
brief.   

  
 Reason: In order to protect the designated heritage asset, in accordance with Policy LP19 
 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 

26. The plans and particulars to be submitted for reserved matters approval under condition 1 
shall include full details of the proposed 30-50m archaeological buffer zone along the 
northern boundary with Car Dyke, as shown on the illustrative master plan P16-0761_009 
Sheet 1 Rev E and Parameter.  Details of works within this buffer zone must be submitted 
to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority, to ensure unacceptable 
impacts on the Scheduled Monument are avoided.  Thereafter all works must be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details and the buffer zone maintained in perpetuity.   

  
 Reason: In order to protect the designated heritage asset, in accordance with Policy LP19 
 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy 
 Framework (2019). 
 

27. The plans and particulars to be submitted for reserved matters approval under condition 1 
shall be submitted to accord with the principles of the illustrative master plan P16-0761_009 
Sheet 1 Rev E and Parameter Plan - P16-0761_006 Sheet 01 Rev D. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure the key principle and parameters of the development are 
 comprehensively followed through the development for an acceptable design, appearance 
 and amenity within the development in accordance with Policies LP16, LP17, and LP21 of 
 the Peterborough Local Plan.    

 
28. Development shall not take place, before a strategic phasing plan, identifying any sub 

 areas for the area, based on the approved Parameter Plan and illustrative masterplan and 
 setting out the phasing of key infrastructure which must comprise any relevant drainage 
 works, development tranches, primary streets and strategic open space etc has been 
 submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be 
 carried out in accordance with the approved strategic phasing plan. 
 
 Reason: Reason: To allow consideration of the impacts of the development and to ensure 
 the timely delivery of the necessary infrastructure needed to support the housing 

45



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 42 

 development in accordance with Policy LP5 of the adopted Peterborough Local Plan. This 
 is a pre commencement condition as it is necessary to secure the phasing of key 
 infrastructure before any works commence. 
 

29. No development shall take place nor any submission of reserved matters applications 
under condition C1 shall occur or sub-area thereof (as identified by the strategic phasing 
plans secured under the terms of condition C28, until a Development Area Brief (DAB) for 
that area or sub-area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  This shall include amongst other things details of the proposed serviced plots for 
self build and custom build homes.  

 
 Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the relevant approved 
 DAB. Each reserved matters application shall be accompanied by a statement setting 
 out how the scheme complies with the requirements of the relevant DAB along with 
 elevations and design rationale plan to demonstrate this compliance. In the case of 
 lifetime homes and wheelchair housing, the scheme shall be accompanied by 

 plans/particulars demonstrating how the relevant standards are to be achieved 
  

 Reason: To secure the comprehensive and co-ordinated development of each part of 
 the site in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies LP5, 
 LP16, LP17, This is a pre-commencement condition as it is necessary to secure the 
 overarching design approach to the development before any works commence. 
 

30. The plans and particulars to be submitted as reserved matters under condition C1 shall 
 include details of the following, as appropriate: 
 - Details of the new vehicular accesses into the site; 
 - Details of new footpaths and cycleways including how these tie into the existing 
 foot/cycle ways and bridleways; 
 - Details of the internal access roads/cycleways/footways and junctions within the site 
 including where appropriate Urban Traffic Management Control; and 
 - Car parking, circulation areas and loading and unloading areas. 
 - Electric charging points/infrastructure; 
 - Details of connections into adjacent sites. 
 
 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

 Reason: In order to ensure that the highway network is suitable for the traffic volumes 
 predicted and to allow for safe/easy access by pedestrians, in accordance with Policy 
 LP13 of the Local Plan. 
 

31. No part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until the roads/footways 
and cycleways linking that part of the development to the existing public highway have 
been implemented in accordance with the approved details secured under condition C30. 

 Nor shall any dwelling/unit be occupied or brought into use until its access and parking 
 have been laid out in accordance with the approved details. These areas shall 
 thereafter be retained for the purpose of parking/turning and not used for any other 

 purpose. 
 

 Reason; In the interests of providing a safe means of access to the development which 
 does not prejudice the safety of the users of the existing public highway, in accordance with 
 Policy LP13 of the Local Plan.   
 
32. The plans and particulars to be submitted as reserved matters under condition C1 shall 

 include details of existing and proposed site levels including the finished floor levels of all 
 new dwellings / buildings and any associated parking shall be submitted to and approved 
 in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried 
 out in accordance with the approved details. 

46



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 43 

 
 Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with Policies LP16 
 and LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan.   
 
33. The plans and particulars to be submitted for reserved matters approval under condition 1 

shall include noise mitigation strategy based on the findings of an updated Noise 
assessment, based on the reserved matters layouts and shall include full details of 
proposed mitigation measures. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved mitigation measures which should be installed prior to the 
first use of the dwelling to which they relate, and shall thereafter be retained as such.    

 
Reason: In order to ensure adequate amenity for the future occupiers in accordance with 
policy LP17 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 

34. The plans and particulars submitted under condition 1 shall include details for all dwellings 
to meet Building Regulations Part M4(2), 5% of the dwellings to meet Building Regulations 
Part M4(3)(2)(a); and all rented tenure affordable housing to meet the minimum National 
Space Standards (as defined by Building Regulations). All housing development hereby 
approval shall achieve the Optional Technical Housing Standard of 110 litres per person 
per day for water efficiency as described by Building Regulation G2.  

 
 Reason: In order to meet housing needs and reduce impact on the water environment and 
 achieve water efficiency in accordance with policies LP8 and LP32 of the Adopted 
 Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
35. The plans and particulars to be submitted for reserved matters approval under condition 1 

shall include an ecological management plan and ecological method statement to 
demonstrate the measures that will be taken to ensure sufficient ecological protection and 
management takes place both during and after site works. Thereafter all works will be 
carried out in strict accordance with these approved details.    

  
 Reason: To protect features of nature conservation importance, in accordance with Policy 
 LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 170 and 175 of the National 
 Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 

36. The plans and particulars to be submitted as reserved matters for each plot/phase shall be 
accompanied by details to ensure that a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain (DEFRA 
metric 2.0 as may be revised) within that phase of the development.  This should amongst 
other thing include a scheme for bird and bats boxes where appropriate.  Cumulatively the 
site should achieve a 15% biodiversity net gain.     

  
 Reason: To ensure biodiversity enhancement of the site, in accordance with Policy LP28 of 
 the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraphs 170 and 175 of the National  Planning 
 Policy Framework (2019). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

47



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 44 

37. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 
 
- Location Plan – P16-0761_004 Sheet 02 Rev C 
- Site Location and Allocation - P16-0761_004 Sheet06 Rec C 
- Open Space Provision - P16-0761_011 Sheet 01 Rev C 
- Parameter Plan - P16-0761_006 Sheet 01 Rev D 
 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Copies to Councillor Andrew Bond, Councillor Darren Fower and Councillor Sandra Bond 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

48



The Site

Print Date: 24/03/2021

Committee Location Plan 20/00846/HHFUL 21 Cherryfields Orton Waterville Peterborough PE2 5XD. NTS

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
49



This page is intentionally left blank

50



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee 20 April 2021              Item no. 2 
 
Application Ref: 20/00846/HHFUL  
 
Proposal: Installation of external wall insulation with grey render at ground floor level 

and off-white render at first floor level, mosaic tile at first floor level to the 
rear, and the installation of 7no. new AC units located within acoustic 
housing and the removal of 2no. existing AC units, and associated 
alterations (Part-retrospective) 

 
Site: 21 Cherryfields, Orton Waterville, Peterborough, PE2 5XD 
Applicant: Dr J D Modha 
  
Agent: Mr Robert Gooding 
 GOOD-DESIGN-ING LTD 
Referred by: Councillor Howell 
Reason:  
Site visit: 29.07.2020 
 
Case officer: Mr Asif Ali 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 207123 
E-Mail: asif.ali@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surrounding Area 
The application site comprises a detached property located within a predominantly residential area. 
The dwelling has previously been extended and altered following a permission granted under ref: 
95/P0461, which approved two storey front and side extensions, along with single storey rear 
extensions and linking the previously detached garage to the main house. Additional single storey 
extensions to the rear of the dwelling and alterations have recently been approved under refs: 
18/00938/HHFUL and 19/01181/HHFUL. Properties within the surrounding area are mainly 
detached and at two storey height, however the neighbouring No. 22 Cherryfields is a detached 
bungalow. 
 
Proposal 
This proposal seeks the benefit of planning permission for the installation of external wall insulation 
with grey render at ground floor level and off-white render at first floor level, mosaic tile at first floor 
level to the rear, and the installation of 7no. new AC units located within acoustic housing and the 
removal of 2no. existing AC units, and associated alterations (Part-retrospective).  
 
To clarify development has been carried out on the application site without the benefit of planning 
permission and whilst this application is part-retrospective the application will result in: 
 
- the removal of the black mosaic tiles to the front elevation 
- the removal of the aluminium surrounds on the windows and on other parts of the building 
- the AC units located on the ground floor side elevation will be removed with the total proposed 
AC units on the property will be 7 
- the rear covered area will be amended so that it will be level to the previously approved single 
storey rear extension under ref 18/00938/HHFUL 
 
Further, the outbuilding clad in bamboo and grass on the roof is not included within the current 
application, Class E of Part 1 Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development Order (2015) 
places no restrictions on the type of external material that can be used. Officers from the 

51



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

Enforcement team have previously advised that the outbuilding appears to comply with the 
provisions of the above mentioned Class and as such would not require the grant of planning 
permission. 
 
Note 
The current application has been revised multiple times with the following being done: 
 
- The extent of the grey render has been reduced from the majority of the dwelling to just the 
ground floor level of the dwelling 
- Introduction of off-white render to the first floor level  
- Remove the black mosaic tiles from the front elevation at first floor level 
- Removal of aluminium surrounds on the windows and other parts of the building 
 
2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
19/01181/HHFUL Single storey rear extension and roof 

alterations 
Permitted  09/10/2019 

19/00503/HHFUL Proposed alterations with infill flat roof to 
side 

Permitted  28/05/2019 

18/01656/HHFUL Proposed first floor side extension Refused  13/11/2018 
18/00938/HHFUL Proposed ground floor rear extension 

including replacement of windows and 
doors 

Permitted  06/08/2018 

95/P0461 Erection of extensions as amended by 
revised plan, rev a dated 7.8.95 deleting 
north-east facing windows in front bedroom 

Permitted  14/08/1995 

 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 

52



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Pollution Team (07.04.21) 
Following consideration of the additional documentation this section no longer objects to the 
development on the grounds of noise subject to the following comments and conditions: 
 
Noise from AC Units 
The revised noise report LFAcoustics Revision 1.0 date 9/02/21 (ref 21 Cherryfields Noise v1.0 
090221) has concluded that the at current location of the ground sited AC units there is insufficient 
space to install an acoustic enclosure. They have proposed to relocate all the AC units to the flat 
roof, in two separate groups of three and four units.   
 
The LFAcoustic sound levels measured for each unit different unit differ from those included in the 
Nova Acoustics report. This difference has been queried with LFAcoustics and the following 
response was received "I have rerun the model with the Nova source data included (assuming a 
scaled frequency spectra as measured by Acoustic Enclosures)... The calculations indicate an 
increase in noise levels of 2 dB(A) at the closest neighbouring property, with a level of 24 dB 
LAeq,T predicted. Applying the 5 dB(A) correction to derive the rating level would result in a rating 
level of noise of 29 dB LAeq, T, which is equivalent to the prevailing background noise level".  
 
This section has a preference for a rating level to be 10dB below background, however it is 
recognised that a night-time background noise level of 29dB LA90(15min) is low. BS4142 2014 
states that "where background levels are low and rating levels are low, absolute levels might be as, 
or more, relevant than the margin by which the rating levels exceeds the background. This is 
especially true at night." Consequently, due to the low night-time background noise levels this this 
section is prepared to accept a rating level that does not exceed the night time background at any 
time. 
 
Therefore, to ensure noise from the AC units is suitably attenuated the following conditions shall be 
attached to any planning permission granted: 
 
Condition:  
Prior to use all the AC units will be relocated into suitably attenuated acoustic enclosures in 
accordance with the details and specifications included in Section 4, Appendix B of LF Acoustics 
Noise Report ref 21 Cherryfields Noise v1.0 090221.docx. Once implemented the acoustic 
enclosures will be retained and maintained as such in perpetuity. 
 
Condition  
The rating level of noise emitted from the site should not exceed 29dB LAeq 15 minutes at any 
time.  The noise levels should be determined at the nearest noise sensitive premises.  The 
measurements and assessment should be made according to BS:4142:2014. 
 
 
Orton Waterville Parish Council (23.03.21) (Final Comments) 
Stand by its previous comments made on 17/07/2020. There is also concern that there is now an 
increase in the number of ac units on a residential property which is out of keeping with the area. 
There also appears to be no consideration to neighbouring properties of the aesthetics of having 
this many number of air conditioning units, especially as the application is part-retrospective. 
 
 
Orton Waterville Parish Council (27.10.20) (Comments on first revision) 
No further comments to make. 
 
 
Orton Waterville Parish Council (17.07.20) (Original comments) 
Objection, for the following reasons: 
 

53



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

- Cladding and finishes now applied to the above property are not in keeping with the design, 
appearance and materials of the surrounding residential properties. They appear to be designed 
for use on a commercial property.  
- Clause 3 of the original planning application has been breached. The original brickwork was not 
black - the bricks on this development are a very light red and darker red. The shiny black glittery 
tiles on the front and back of the house are not in keeping with any other property in the 
surrounding area.  
- The planning application states 2 air-conditioning units on the flat roof, the plans show differently, 
with one on the rear elevation. Currently there appears to be brackets for 3 air-conditioning units 
on the flat roof, one unit is currently fitted. It needs to be confirmed how many units are to be fitted.  
- The AC units will cause a noise disturbance for neighbours. They are also being sited with no 
regard to the visual amenity of the neighbours.  
- Outbuilding has appeared within the rear grounds of the property which it is not shown on any 
plan. Should planning permission be sought for the building? 
 
 
PCC Enforcement Team  
No comments received. 
 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 17 
Total number of responses: 26 
Total number of objections: 26 
Total number in support: 0 
 
 
26 comments were received during the public consultation from 8 different addresses. All the 
comments received were in objection to the proposal.  
 
The comments objecting to the proposal can be summarised as follows: 
- The attenuation units for the AC Units will be large. The view from my bungalow will be 
extraordinarily unsightly and more in keeping with an industrial/commercial area. 
- There has been no application to locate the AC units to the rear of the ground floor where they 
would be inconspicuous to surrounding the neighbours.  
- Proposed external finishes, to the rear are not aligned to the original building or other residential 
properties in the area.  
- Black mosaic tiles are not in keeping with the existing materials in use on this or other properties. 
They are a highly polished shiny finish off which the sunshine reflects and have resulted in closing 
our kitchen blinds when the sun is reflected off these tiles.  
- Current grey render is a breach of planning and should be covered in the same off-white render 
proposed.  
- Mosaic tiles on the rear elevation should also be replaced with off white render. Just because 
they are sited to the rear elevation does not make them anymore acceptable to Clause 3 Policy 
LP17. The tiles to the front have been deleted, why not the rear? 
- The original planning application has been totally ignored, breached and treated with contempt.  
- Noise survey indicates that some noise reduction measure should already be in place, but there 
are none.  
- Even if this application fails, existing AC units still need acoustic reduction methods and should 
be part of an enforcement action.  
- The number of AC units for a domestic property, even of its size, seems a little over the top.  
- No permission sought, until notice of enforcement action was made to the owner/agent, when 
additional units started appearing on the property.  
- The AC units to the rear of the house in direct line of sight and sound and relatively close to our 
principal bedroom windows, for No.14 Cherryfields.  
-  

54



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

- The proposed enclosure for the AC units are large and visible from my property and no colour or 
finish description is given.  
- Outbuilding not included within this application, is clad with bamboo and palm leaves for a roof, 
who knows what could appear.  
- The property owner has considered common walkways and utility strips as his land and continues 
to grow plants over the public highway.  
- The drive has been concreted over without any surface drainage.  
- The number of AC units will be increased and placed directly over our garden and the noise 
levels of these units in such close proximity to our garden and over an open space of less than 
2.5m is clearly not acceptable. We also sleep in the summer with the windows to the rear open so 
any level of noise will cause sleep to be disturbed.  
- Pollution from AC units also cause concern. 
- No visuals of the AC unit housing have been submitted.  
- The original brickwork was not in black, the bricks on this development are a very light red and a 
darker red.  
- Reading the noise survey for the existing AC units, mentions that should more than 2 units be 
running together they recommend acoustic enclosures be used, to reduce the noise to an 
acceptable limit. Any further AC units installed will only add to the already identified levels of noise, 
acoustic enclosures should be used on all of the AC units right now, as it is a fact that more than 2 
units have been running together and have done for some time.  
- Plans submitted are not accurate to the existing situation of the application site. 
- There is a discharge vent directly onto 22 Cherryfields wall, not sure what this is for, if it is a 
tumble drier or AC unit, but it is not detailed on the plan or mentioned in the description.  
- The hard surfacing does not appear to be comply with Class F requirement with no provision to 
direct run-off water from the hard surface to a permeable or porous area or surface within the 
curtilage of the dwellinghouse.  
- Relocating the AC units to the rear garden away from the neighbouring properties would screen 
the view of the AC units.  
- Large industrial type black cabling system for the AC units have already been installed and are an 
additional eyesore.  
- The alterations have been carried out poorly by non-accredited builders and it is not known 
whether any building regulations have been breached. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
 
- Design and character of the site and surrounding area 
- Noise 
- Neighbour amenity 
- Other 
 
a) Design and character of the site and surrounding area 
 
The revised proposal would result in off-white render at first floor level and grey render at ground 
floor level, black mosaic tiles would be proposed at first floor level on the rear elevation. The 
existing dwellinghouse was finished in white paint to the font elevation and a dark red brick on the 
side elevation, as such the existing dwellinghouse differed from the general character of the 
surrounding area which is character with a two tone finish to the dwellinghouses. The surrounding 
dwellinghouses are generally finished in brick to the ground floor level and either timber cladding or 
render at first floor level. Another consideration for Officers is what the Applicant can carry out 
without the benefit of planning permission. The Applicant would be able to paint his dwellinghouse 
a grey colour without the need for planning permission the provision of Class C Part 2 of Schedule 
2 of the GPDO (2015), however, the installation of external wall insulation finished in grey colour 
would require the benefit of planning permission under Class A Part 1 of the same Schedule of the 
GPDO (2015). As such it is considered that Officers seeking to amend the original design to a 
more acceptable design sympathetic to the surrounding area is reasonable.  
 
The revised proposal would add an off-white render at first floor level, breaking up the extent of the 
grey render on the side elevation as well as allowing for a more sympathetic external finish being 
more prominent within the streetscene. The grey finish would be limited to the ground floor level 
which would not be as prominent within the street scene as the original proposal as such it is 
considered that the revised proposal would mitigate on balance against an adverse level of impact 
on the street scene.  
 
The black mosaic tiles to the rear would be in a less prominent position than the front elevation, 
and whilst the location of the mosaic tiling to the rear elevation would not automatically mitigate 
against the impact on the street scene, it is considered that the mosaic tiling is in a much less 
prominent position. Officers would agree that finishing the black mosaic tiling in an off-white render 
instead would be an improvement, however, the proposal as submitted can only be considered and 
it is considered on balance that the black mosaic tiling to the rear would not adversely impact the 
streetscene to an adverse level. The black mosaic tiling would be limited to the first floor level and 
would be viewed against the dark roof tiling of the single storey extension and two storey element 
of the dwellinghouse and as such it is considered that the impact on balance will be acceptable.  
 
The acoustic attenuation units housing the AC Units will be located on the rear and side elevations 
at first floor level. The acoustic units will be finished in powder coated aluminium with the colour to 
mirror the grey colour proposed on the ground floor level. The acoustic unit located on the side 
elevation will be screened by the single storey element located to the front of the acoustic unit. 
Further, the acoustic attenuation unit would be screened from views from the street scene by virtue 
of the neighbouring building at No.22 Cherryfields. The acoustic attenuation unit to the rear of the 
site would be visible from the side and rear of the street scene, however, it is considered that the 
units would not adversely impact the design and character of the site and surrounding area. 
Therefore, it is considered that on balance the acoustic units would not result in an adverse level of 
impact on the design and character of the surrounding area.  
 
The proposed extension of the glazed area at single storey would be built in similar matching to the 
existing materials used at the rear of the application site, as such the proposal would not adversely 
impact the design and character of the surrounding area.  
 

56



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

In light of the above it is considered on balance that the proposal would not result in an adverse 
level of impact on the site and surrounding area in accordance with Policy LP16 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
b) Noise 
 
The Council's Pollution Control team no longer objected to the development on the grounds of 
noise following the information and mitigation provided as part of the revised proposal. As part of 
their comments Pollution Control recommended the inclusion of two conditions first with regards 
the attenuation acoustic encloses and their installation before the first use of the AC units, this is 
considered reasonable and necessary given the mitigation provided by the units which allow the 
AC units to be acceptable.  
 
Second, the Council's Pollution Control team recommended the inclusion of a condition which 
would ensure that the rating level of noise emitted from the site should not exceed 29dB LAeq 15 
minutes at any time, this was recommended due to the low night-time background noise levels and 
as such the recommendation was made by the Pollution Control team. It is considered that the 
condition is also reasonable and necessary to ensure that there is no adverse level of impact on 
the amenity of the adjacent neighbour properties in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
c) Neighbour amenity  
 
Whilst the attenuation acoustic enclosures will be visible by the adjacent neighbouring properties, 
the closest of which will be No.22 Cherryfields. However, given the above recommendation by the 
Council's Pollution Control team it is considered that the proposal would not adversely impact the 
amenity of the adjacent neighbouring properties including No.22 subject to the inclusion of the 
necessary conditions as recommended by Pollution Control.  
 
Further, the proposal would not result in any further overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking 
impact on the adjacent neighbouring properties.  
 
In light of the above it is considered that the proposal will be in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
d) Other 
 
Objections were raised in relation to the revised proposal by Orton Waterville Parish Council and 
neighbours, the issues not raised above will be addressed below.  
 
- Increase in the number of AC units on a residential property which is out of keeping with the area.  
Whilst the number of AC units itself is not directly considered, Officers did consider the impact of 
the design and noise impact which are both material considerations.  
 
- The attenuation units for the AC Units will be large. The view from my bungalow will be 
extraordinarily unsightly and more in keeping with an industrial/commercial area. 
The attenuation units will be large but would be sited back from the neighbouring properties to 
provide some mitigation against a dominance or overbearing impact.  
 
- There has been no application to locate the AC units to the rear of the ground floor where they 
would be inconspicuous to surrounding the neighbours.  
Officers can only consider the application as submitted, and whilst Officers do try to work with the 
Applicant to improve an application, a decision does need to be made on the application as it 
stands.  
 
- The original planning application has been totally ignored, breached and treated with contempt.  
This application has been treated on its merits and a recommendation has been made based on 

57



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

the submitted information.  
 
- Noise survey indicates that some noise reduction measure should already be in place, but there 
are none.  
A condition will be recommended to be included to ensure that the noise reduction measures are 
put in place by the first use of the AC Units. 
 
- Even if this application fails, existing AC units still need acoustic reduction methods and should 
be part of an enforcement action.  
If the application is refused then the necessary action can be taken by the Enforcement team with 
regards any matters which require planning permission.  
 
- The number of AC units for a domestic property, even of its size, seems a little over the top.  
Officers cannot comment on the level of appropriateness of the number of AC units proposed, and 
have taken into account the necessary material considerations.  
 
- No permission sought, until notice of enforcement action was made to the owner/agent, when 
additional units started appearing on the property.  
This is not a material consideration.  
 
- The AC units to the rear of the house in direct line of sight and sound and relatively close to our 
principal bedroom windows, for No.14 Cherryfields.  
The Council's Pollution Control team has taken into account the noise impact of the AC units and 
have raised no objections subject to the inclusion of recommended conditions.  
 
- The proposed enclosure for the AC units are large and visible from my property and will be 
across the end wall, no colour or finish description is given.  
The proposed enclosures will be powder coated aluminium units finished in a grey colour.   
 
- Outbuilding not included within this application, is clad with bamboo and palm leaves for a roof, 
who knows what could appear.  
The Outbuilding is not included within the application, Officers from the Enforcement team have 
previously advised that the outbuilding complies with the provisions of Class E Part1 of Schedule 2 
of the GPDO (2015) and as such would not necessarily require the benefit of planning permission.  
 
- The property owner has considered common walkways and utility strips as his land and continues 
to grow plants over the public highway.  
Unauthorised works to the public highway are dealt with by the Highway Maintenance team.   
 
- The drive has been concreted over without any surface drainage.  
Works associated with the hardstanding have not been included within the current application.  
 
- The number of AC units will be increased and placed directly over our garden and the noise 
levels of these units in such close proximity to our garden and over an open space of less than 
2.5m is clearly not acceptable. We also sleep in the summer with the windows to the rear open so 
any level of noise will cause sleep to be disturbed.  
Concerns with regards the noise impact of the AC units have been addressed above.  
 
- Pollution from AC units also cause concern. 
No such concerns were raised by the Pollution Control team.  
 
- No visuals of the AC unit housing have been submitted.  
A photo of an example unit housing was provided by the agent and indexed onto the file as a 
supporting document on 29-03-2021. 
 
- There is a discharge vent directly onto 22 Cherryfields wall, not sure what this is for, if it is a 
tumble drier or AC unit, but it is not detailed on the plan or mentioned in the description.  

58



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

Officers queried this matter with the Agent and it was confirmed that this was not a vent but some 
part of the previous boundary treatment.  
 
- Relocating the AC units to the rear garden away from the neighbouring properties would screen 
the view of the AC units.  
The application can be assessed as submitted and the considerations given are outlined above.  
 
- The alterations have been carried out poorly by non-accredited builders and it is not known 
whether any building regulations have been breached. 
Building Regulations are looked at by the Building Control department of the Council, and any 
contraventions can be reported to them via email or phone on 
buildingcontrol@peterborough.gov.uk and 01733 453422.  
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
- The proposal would not on balance impact the design and character of the site and surrounding 
area in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019); and 
- The proposal would not on balance adversely impact the amenity of the adjoining surrounding 
neighbours in accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions:  
 
C 1 The development hereby approved must be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
  
 - Proposed First Floor Plan and Location Plan (Drawing number 201156-06 Revision B) 
 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan (Drawing number 191040-05 Revision B) 
 - Proposed Elevations (Drawing number 201156-07 Revision D) 
  
 Reason: To avoid doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 
  
 
C 2 Within 2 months from the date of this permission, the proposed grey aluminium edging and 

the AC units on the side elevation at ground floor level shall be removed. The AC units 
hereby approved shall not be installed until the all the AC units have been removed in 
accordance with the approved plans.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of neighbour amenity and character of surrounding area, in 

accordance with Policies LP16 and LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 
C 3 Prior to first use all the AC units hereby approved will be relocated into suitably attenuated 

acoustic enclosures in accordance with the details and specifications included in Section 4, 
Appendix B of 'Assessment of Noise Mitigation Proposals - February 2021' (Ref. 21 
Cherryfields Noise v1.0 090221.docx, received 17-02-2021). Once implemented the 
acoustic enclosures will be retained and maintained as such in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of neighbour amenity in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
 

59



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

C 4 The rating level of noise emitted from the AC units hereby approved should not exceed 
29dB LAeq 15 minutes at any time.  The noise levels should be determined at the nearest 
noise sensitive premises. The measurements and assessment should be made according 
to BS:4142:2014. 

  
 In the event of any reasonable noise complaint being received by the Local Planning 

Authority, the Developer or their successors in Title, shall be required to undertake a full 
noise assessment to demonstrate compliance with the above noise limit and submit this 
within 28 days of notice issued by the Local Planning Authority. Should such an 
assessment fail to demonstrate compliance, then further mitigation measures shall be 
submitted alongside the noise assessment and implemented in accordance with the 
submitted details within 28 days of written approval by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of neighbour amenity, in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
  
 
C 5 The development hereby approved shall use the following materials in accordance with the 

approved plans: 
  
 - First floor level - Off-White render BS2660-4046 
 - Acoustic attenuation units - Powder coated aluminium in a grey colour same colour as the 

ground floor grey render 
  
  
 Reason: In the interest of design and character of the site and surrounding area in 

accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
 
Copies to Councillor Kim Aitken, Councillor Julie Howell and Councillor Nicola Day 
  
 

60



The Site

Print Date: 24/03/2021

Committee Location Plan 20/01502/FUL 266 Eastfield Road Eastfield Peterborough PE1 4BE. NTS

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
61



This page is intentionally left blank

62



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee 20 April 2021     Item No. 3 
 
Application Ref: 20/01502/FUL  
 
Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling, construction of replacement dwelling plus 

construction of 3no. new dwellings, along with access, parking and 
landscaping alterations. 

 
Site: 266 Eastfield Road, Eastfield, Peterborough, PE1 4BE 
Applicant: Allerton Developments 
 Allerton Developments 
Agent: Mr Andrew Tregay 
 Boon Brown Architects Ltd 
 
Referred by: Councillor Yasin  
Reason: Highway and traffic impacts, and setting an unacceptable precedent for 

future development 
 
Site visit: 31.03.2021 
 
Case officer: Mr Jack Gandy 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 452595 
E-Mail: jack.gandy@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site comprises No. 266 Eastfield Road, a residential dwelling located on an L-
shaped plot to the western side of Eastfield Road and within a predominantly residential area. 
Access is provided directly onto Eastfield Road. The application site does not fall within, but it is 
adjacent to, the Park Conservation Area. Whilst the surrounding area is predominantly residential 
in use, to the north of site is No. 270 Eastfield Road, also known as The Limes, which has extant 
planning consent for extensions and works to provide 24no. assisted living units. 
 
Proposal 
Permission is sought for the demolition of the existing dwelling, No. 266 Eastfield Road, with a 
replacement dwelling to be constructed in its place. In addition, 3no. two-storey dwellings, 
comprising 1 detached dwelling and 2no. semi-detached dwellings, are proposed to the rear of 
site, each with parking and private garden spaces. An access road is proposed to link the rear of 
the site to the existing access opening to Eastfield Road. Swing gates are proposed adjacent to the 
front elevation of the replacement dwelling and finally a bin collection point is proposed to the front 
of site, surrounded by soft landscaping provisions. 
 
Amendments 
Following comments received by consultees, members of the public and in the opinions of officers, 
the following amendments were made: 
 
- Deletion of Plot 5: A fifth dwelling was proposed to the rear-most part of the site, nearest to the 
boundary shared with No. 7 College Park.  
- Setting back of entrance gates: The entrances gates to enable access to the 3no. dwellings to the 
rear of site have been relocated from being adjacent to the bin collection point to being set in 1.8 
metres behind the front elevation of Plot 1. 
- Bin Collection Point: The bin collection to the front of site is to be enclosed with soft landscaping 
to three elevations, rather than a hard boundary that was previously proposed. 

63



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

 
Other information 
'The Limes' at No. 270 Eastfield Road has extant planning consent for 24no. assisted living units 
granted under 17/02482/FUL. There is, however, another planning application being considered by 
the Local Planning Authority, under planning application reference 20/01534/WCPP to vary the 
previous plans approved. Although this planning application has not yet been determined (at the 
time of writing this report), the impacts of the development proposed within the curtilage of No. 266 
Eastfield Road have taken into account both the approved and varied development, in the event 
that the pending application is approved. 
 
2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
00/01294/FUL Single storey rear extension to provide 

ancillary residential accommodation 
(amended plans received 18.12.2000) 

Permitted  21/05/2001 

 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP02 - The Settle Hierarchy and the Countryside  
The location/scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Proposals 
within village envelopes will be supported in principle, subject to them being of an appropriate 
scale. Development in the open countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met. 
 
LP03 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development 
Provision will be made for an additional 21,315 dwellings from April 2016 to March 2036 in the 
urban area, strategic areas/allocations. 
 
LP08 - Meeting Housing Needs  
LP8a) Housing Mix/Affordable Housing - Promotes a mix of housing, the provision of 30% 
affordable on sites of 15 of more dwellings, housing for older people, the provision of housing to 
meet the needs of the most vulnerable, and dwellings with higher access standards 
 
LP8b) Rural Exception Sites- Development for affordable housing outside of but adjacent to village 
envelopes maybe accepted provided that it needs an identified need which cannot be met in the 
village, is supported locally and there are no fundamental constraints to delivery or harm arsing. 
 
LP8c) Homes for Permanent Caravan Dwellers/Park Homes- Permission will be granted for 
permanent residential caravans (mobile homes) on sites which would be acceptable for permanent 
dwellings. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 

64



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP28 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  
Part 1: Designated Site  
- International Sites- The highest level of protection will be afforded to these sites. Proposals which 
would have an adverse impact on the integrity of such areas and which cannot be avoided or 
adequately mitigated will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances where there are no 
suitable alternatives, over riding public interest and subject to appropriate compensation.  
- National Sites- Proposals within or outside a SSSI likely to have an adverse effect will not 
normally be permitted unless the benefits outweigh the adverse impacts. 
- Local Sites- Development likely to have an adverse effect will only be permitted where the need 
and benefits outweigh the loss. 
- Habitats and Species of Principal Importance- Development proposals will be considered in the 
context of the duty to promote and protect species and habitats. Development which would have 
an adverse impact will only be permitted where the need and benefit clearly outweigh the impact. 
Appropriate mitigation or compensation will be required. 
 
Part 2: Habitats and Geodiversity in Development 
All proposals should conserve and enhance avoiding a negative impact on biodiversity and 
geodiversity.  
 
Part 3: Mitigation of Potential Adverse Impacts of Development 
Development should avoid adverse impact as the first principle. Where such impacts are 

65



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

unavoidable they must be adequately and appropriately mitigated. Compensation will be required 
as a last resort. 
 
LP29 - Trees and Woodland  
Proposals should be prepared based upon the overriding principle that existing tree and woodland 
cover is maintained. Opportunities for expanding woodland should be actively considered.  
Proposals which would result in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodland and or the loss of 
veteran trees will be refused unless there are exceptional benefits which outweigh the loss. Where 
a proposal would result in the loss or deterioration of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order 
permission will be refused unless there is no net loss of amenity value or the need for and benefits 
of the development outweigh the loss. Where appropriate mitigation planting will be required. 
 
LP32 - Flood and Water Management  
Proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk management in line with the NPPF and 
council's Flood and Water Management SPD.. Sustainable drainage systems should be used 
where appropriate. Development proposals should also protect the water environment. 
 
LP33 - Development on Land Affected by Contamination  
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused. 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Tree Officer (15.03.21) 
No objections: Request that a full and detailed landscaping scheme/plan is submitted for 
consideration/approval, including details of the proposed native species hedge and replacement 
tree planting. 
 
PCC Archaeological Officer (18.03.21) 
No objections: The proposed development site is located in an area which has witnessed no 
archaeological investigations. In the absence of conclusive evidence, the archaeological interest 
and significance of the site and immediately surrounding area cannot be determined with any 
satisfactory degree of confidence. 
 
A programme of trial trenching should be secured by condition in order to determine the presence, 
character state of preservation and date of potential buried remains. 
 
PCC Conservation Officer (05.01.21 and 15.03.21) 
Objection: The detached frontage building is sited on a spacious plot which is consistent with its 
surroundings. Its demolition and replacement with a strangely narrow building which is proposed to 
be shifted to the far extent of the boundary in order to shoehorn an access road in.  
 
The resultant substantial formal access width and proposed dwelling being squeezed to the 
boundary of the plot will undoubtedly appear contrived.    
 
The Conservation Officer advises that he does not particularly support the principle of this 
proposal, nor the resultant contrived scenario of a wide access with detached dwelling pushed to 
the extent of the plot. If officers are minded to support development here in some form, further 
considerations need to be made on an acceptable design and material appearance of the 
proposed frontage dwelling.  
 
Additions were allowed at The Limes due to the very large building and plot that accompanies it. 
This is a different scenario entirely.   
 
Updated comments (15.03.21) 

66



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

Subsequent to amended plans, the Conservation Officer advises that his views do not change for 
the overall development and the contrived new frontage building and access. However, there are 
no issues raised with the relocated gates nor the reduction from 4 to 3 units to the rear. 
 
The bin store remains in a poor position on the frontage, however the proposed landscaping and 
existing fencing on the frontage would conceal it to a degree.  
 
PCC Wildlife Officer (16.03.21) 
No objections: Hedgehogs have been confirmed as being on site, so all excavations >0.2m should 
be covered overnight or a means of escape installed (e.g. a ramp). Open ended pipework should 
be covered overnight and equipment and materials appropriately fenced off if left on site.  
 
Recommended that the boundary treatment plan be conditioned, and any close board fencing 
should include hedgehog holes to allow hedgehogs to forage among the gardens. 
 
Any external lighting should be LED, on a sensor if possible and directed away from the trees. 
 
PCC Pollution Team (11.03.21) 
No objections: Recommends that a condition be secured relating to unsuspected contamination 
that may be found during the period of construction. 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (29.03.21)  
No objections:  The increase in traffic use would not be considered adverse, owing to the small 
number of proposed dwellings served.  The alignment and gate location would not likely result in 
excessive speeds.  There are no concerns with the proposed layout. 
 
The traffic generation associated with the proposal is also not considered to be significant, with 
limited peak-hour increases detailed within the Transport Statement. 
 
Pedestrian visibility splays measuring 2.0 x 2.0m would also be required.  It is evident from the 
plans that this may not be achievable to the south as a result of the proximity of the access to the 
neighbouring plot.  However, the existing access (as well as a number of others in the vicinity) 
does not currently meet this requirement.  Furthermore, DMRB-compliant splays (Figure 3.3, CD 
123 Rev 2) are achievable within the access as a result of its 5.5m width.  This is again mitigated 
by the width of the footway at this location.  Therefore, whilst the desirable solution may not be 
achievable, compliance with national guidance is achieved. 
 
Cycle storage is confirmed within the Transport Statement, to be provided in accordance with the 
Appendix C of the PCC Local Plan.  Details of proposed cycle parking should be conditioned, 
owing to the lack of garages proposed for each of the dwellings. 
 
10 vehicular spaces are proposed which is considered to be in accordance with Appendix C of the 
PCC Local Plan.  The site is also considered to be well-served by more sustainable means. 
 
The following conditions are therefore suggested: 
- Details of cycle parking 
- Parking and turning areas to be provided, demarcated and retained 
- No gates shall be erected within 6 metres of the public highway 
- The proposed access would need to be provided prior to first occupation of any dwelling 
- Provision and compliance of 2.4m x 43m vehicular visibility splays prior to first use of the access 
and maintained thereafter and retained free from any obstructions over 600mm in height above 
carriageway ground level. 
- Wheel washing facilities 
- Details of a Construction Management Plan 
 
PCC Waste Management (18.02.21) 
No objections in relation to waste services and provisions. 

67



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

 
PCC Lead Local Drainage Authority (01.02.21) 
No objections: The submitted drainage scheme for the site is accepted and request that it be 
secured by condition. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 10 
Total number of responses: 16 
Total number of objections: 15 
Total number in support: 1 
 
16. letters of representation have been received from local residents and one Councillor. This 
comprises 15no letters of objection and 1no. letter of support. The following matters are raised: 
 
Support 

− There are other comments about the buildings looking out of place I don't think that is necessary 
the case. The houses are of high quality and will bring much needed housing in the area.  

− Would be keen to see some sort of security gates as aware of quite a few burglaries in the area. 
 
Objection 

− Invasion of privacy. 

− The level of development is too large for a small piece of land, making it out of character within 
the existing area. 

− The dwellings in this part of Eastfield Road have a layout whereby they are all exclusively 
detached in form, adjacent to the public highway and served with large front and rear gardens. 
The proposed dwellings are to the rear of site and therefore any proposal would breach the 
layout character. 

− The dwellings to the rear are far too large and aesthetically overbearing. If reduced to single 
storey level, this would address the issue of excessive bulk, whilst reducing the number of 
bedroom and resultant car parking requirement. 

− The proposed parking arrangement is contrived and far too dense. 

− The proposal will result in up to 11 vehicles on-site. 

− Little or no account has been taken of the visibility to the south, looking towards the traffic lights 
at the junction of Eastfield Road and Broadway. Not only is visibility in that direction limited to 
approximately 30 metres, for vehicles coming out of Broadway, but vehicles frequently emerge 
from Broadway at speeds far in excess of 30 mph. 

− When attempting to drive out of my property (No. 262 Eastfield Road), it is necessary to wait 
from traffic light to turn green to avoid vehicles entering Eastfield Road from Broadway. A similar 
comment was received from the occupiers of No. 264 Eastfield Road. 

− Cars frequently 'jump' the lights from Broadway and invariably emerge into Eastfield Road at 
speeds considerably in excess of 30mph. 

− The vehicle swept path drawings take no account of vehicles entering or leaving the site from 
the south, where the safety issues lies. 

− It is difficult to believe that the larger vans would be able to turn around on-site and leave in a 
forward gear. The maximum width of the plot in front of the 4no. dwellings, at the turning head, 
is approximately 10.5 metres. The average 7.5 tonne van is approximately 8.5 metres long. 

− The proposed dwellings in particular are extremely ill conceived, far too large, and aesthetically 
overbearing, being almost 10m high to the ridge. This is ludicrous, totally inconsiderate, and a 
wholly unacceptable mass to inflict on the area. This height exceeds that of the Eastfield Road 
dwellings adjacent to the plot. 

− The proposed dwellings would be considerably less obtrusive if they were reduced to single 
storey or one-and-a-half storey. This would, of course, reduce the income generated from the 
site, but a developer's profit is no reason to consent approval, for an otherwise unacceptable 
scheme.  

− The site appears to resemble a car park, with some houses.  

68



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

− The proposal will result in, up to, 11 vehicles on the site, instead of the current 2. The provision 
of 11 spaces fails to meet parking standards, which would be for 12 spaces, and that is required 
as a ' minimum '.  

− The level of noise and general disturbance caused by this large number of vehicles entering, 
leaving and manoeuvring within the site, behind the existing properties would be highly 
unacceptable. 

− This density of traffic within the site would be passing by No. 264 Eastfield Road's back door at 
little more than 1.5m distance. As such a satisfactory boundary treatment is required, where 
nothing at all is shown in the drawings. The current boundary fence of approximately 1.5 metres 
in height is unacceptable for separation between the number of vehicles which will use the road 
and No. 264 Eastfield Road. 

− A large proportion of modern passenger vehicles are tall, with eye levels of the occupants 
sufficient to see over the present fence, into the whole of our back garden. 

− No account has been taken of the visibility to the South, looking towards the traffic lights at the 
very busy junction of Eastfield Road, and Broadway. 

− If a commercial vehicle, unable to enter the site, stopped on Eastfield Road, which is highly 
likely, those vehicles emerging from Broadway would need to use the centre of the 3 lanes, at 
that point, to pass it, a lane which accommodates traffic running in the opposite direction to that 
traffic from Broadway. Road users, almost universally, when their own lane is blocked, will 
simply move across to the opposite direction lane, with no regard for traffic coming in that 
direction. One (stolen) vehicle attempted to negotiate the bend at such a speed that he was 
unable to retain control of the car, and collided with a lighting standard on his right hand side of 
the road. 

− In addition to entry / exit problems, it is difficult to believe that the larger vans would be able to 
turn around, on site, and leave forwards. The maximum width of the plot in front of the 4no rear 
dwellings, at the turning head position is approximately 10.5m. The average 7.5 tonne van is 
approximately 8.5m long and can be as much as 9m long. 

− The above point has a considerable bearing on access for firefighting appliances. Building 
Regulations Approved Document B, Volume 2:2019 requires that vehicle access must be 
provided to a position not more than 45m from any part of a building. The total distance from the 
highway to the furthest point in plot 5 is approximately 80m, therefore an appliance would be 
35m from the highway. The Regulations also require that a dead end access road more than 
20m long must be provided with a turning facility, with an absolute min of 16.8m diameter, as 
mentioned above, the plot is only 10.5m wide. Whilst Planning and Building Regulations are 
separate, but inextricably connected issues, we cannot believe that any Local Authority would 
approve a scheme that failed to meet the necessary firefighting requirements.  

− As a planning agent, I have acted as agent for another, very similar, backland development at 
the rear of 152 St. Paul's Road (reference 20/01509/OUT), which was assessed by the same 
Case Officer. This was a far simpler scheme, for only 2 single storey dwellings, with better 
separation to existing, adjacent dwellings, but which was judged unacceptable.  These 
comments appear to be directly applicable to the development currently proposed. 

− The modest amendments do not make this a more attractive proposal. 

− The revised scheme has barely addressed any of the substantial issues which we brought to 
your attention in the original application. 

− This is still a poor design in general, impacting negatively on local residents in various ways, 
and including potentially hazardous commercial vehicle movements in Eastfield Road. 

− This is a bad proposal for this area, taking my privacy (No.264 Eastfield Road), and that of 
surrounding neighbours. 

− The proposed development would create traffic problems along Eastfield Road.  

− This development is far too much and it does not blend well with the existing dwellings around 
the site.  

− The demolition of No. 266 Eastfield Road is completely unnecessary.  
- The rear 3no. dwellings are far too large, overbearing and located far too closely together. Their 
height is more than the existing houses on Eastfield Road.  
 
The Broadway Residents Association have submitted two letters of objections. The following 

69



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

matters are raised: 

− No. 266 Eastfield Road is one of several substantial good quality detached houses built around 
the 1930s close to the junction with Broadway. It forms part of a row of similar properties which 
make an important contribution to the character of the area.  

− -The proposal to demolish it to provide simply an access route through to a development of five 
infill houses will be seriously detrimental to Eastfield Road and to the Park Conservation area 
which it adjoins.  

− The proposal for five semi-detached, three storey properties crammed into the back garden of 
one former property will result in significant degradation to the character of the area and 
adverse effect on the amenity of neighbouring properties.  

− There is also concern about the loss of green space and the impact on wildlife in this area 
adjacent to the Conservation Area.  

− There will be increased traffic close to a busy road junction. 

− The proposal constitutes back garden grabbing and should be refused on environmental 
protection and planning grounds. It is contrary to the Council's planning policies in many 
regards. 

− The Peterborough Local Plan (adopted July 2019) does not accept destruction of good housing 
stock to enable more intensive development. In Policy section 6.4.6 it is stated that "Large 
existing houses in generous plots, including older properties and those in conservation areas, 
will also help to meet this particular need". The policy therefore seeks to prevent the loss of 
larger houses close to the city centre. 

− The proposal is contrary to Policy LP16: Design and the Public Realm. The proposed 
development would diminish the character of the area, which comprises good sized traditional 
detached properties in generous gardens. The proposal is for a highly cramped over-
development of a back garden. Around three quarters of the site would be covered by buildings, 
roads and parking areas, which is a significant over development. 

− Considerable restrictions were imposed on building the extension at No. 270 Eastfield Road, 
which is designated "of special character". The restrictions successfully ensured that the 
extension was in character with the established house. The proposed property at Plot 1 is right 
on the boundary with 270 Eastfield Road, unlike the existing house, and will detract from the 
recognised special character of No. 270 Eastfield Road. 

− The proposal is contrary to Policy LP17: Amenity Provision on existing occupiers. The proposed 
development fails to meet all of these to various degrees: i) Houses on plots 2 and 5 are less 
than one metre from boundaries with neighbouring properties in College Park and Eastfield 
Road and will closely overlook gardens leading to loss of privacy; ii) Extensive back garden 
space and several trees will be lost, to the detriment of many neighbouring properties and the 
adjacent Park Conservation Area; iii) There will be a significant increase in noise from 
occupants and traffic; iv) The huge bulk of the proposed houses on Plots 2-5 and their close 
proximity to boundaries will inevitably result in overshadowing and loss of light, particularly to 
properties to the north west; v) The footprint and size of the proposed closely packed three-
storey 10 metre high houses, very close to boundaries on Plots 2-5 will have an overbearing 
effect on neighbours, particularly with houses on Plots 2 and 5 being less than one metre from 
the boundaries and the house on Plot 5 being less than three metres away from the house at 7 
College Park; vi) The additional traffic to five properties will increase pollution from exhaust 
fumes; and vii)There will be considerable light pollution from the development and necessary 
street lighting and signs. 

− The proposed development will adversely affect the amenity of residents at No. 270 Eastfield 
Road. The front of the dwelling on Plots 2-5 will directly face windows and overlook gardens and 
accommodation on the approved plans for 270 Eastfield Road. The proposal will have a 
significant adverse impact on 222 Broadway whose garden and home will be overlooked. 

− The proposal is contrary to Policy LP28 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation. In section 6.5 
of the Planning Statement, it is claimed that the ecological assessment concludes that the site is 
of low ecological value. This is incorrect as nowhere in the submitted Ecological Appraisal is it 
concluded that the site is of low ecological value.  

− In fact, in the Ecological Appraisal it is stated that "The proposal will result in the loss of a native 
rich hedgerow" and "there is potential for impact on protected species" which include bats and 

70



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

native birds, both of which are abundant on site. Bats are very commonly seen in the Broadway 
Residents Area, particularly at dusk. The Ecological Appraisal confirmed the presence of bats in 
the garden at No. 266 Eastfield Road. Further studies should be required before any 
development is allowed as bats are well established in the Park and surrounding Conservation 
area. 

− The Ecological Appraisal is incorrect in stating that there is no connectivity with wider habitats in 
that there are large gardens in Broadway, Broadway Gardens and Park Crescent providing an 
extensive green corridor to Central Park, where bats are known to roost. 

− A wide variety of bird species, including sparrow hawk and green woodpecker are frequently 
seen in the area and even red kite are not uncommon. Hedgehogs are also seen in local 
gardens and their presence was noted in the Ecological Appraisal. The extensive loss of green 
space in the proposed development will undoubtedly result in loss of species diversity. 

− The submitted ecological assessment does not provide recommendations on increasing 
biodiversity which can be incorporated into the build, but rather actions that might ameliorate the 
effects of the damage done by the development. 

− Some of the proposed ecological mitigation would be impossible to implement within the 
development proposed.   

− No details of landscaping are proposed. 

− The revised Arboricultural Assessment gives no consideration of the pressure that is likely to 
come from future occupants of proposed properties on plots 2-5 to remove the three remaining 
trees, two of which are the large lime trees with preservation orders. These trees form part of a 
line of four lime trees, all of which have preservation orders and make a major contribution to 
the amenity of the area. The proposed houses would be little over 10 metres from the lime 
trees, which are greater than 20 metres tall and have canopies that would extend over a large 
proportion of the rear gardens on proposed plots 2-5. As these trees are to the south of the 
proposed houses on plots 2-5 they will severely shade the houses and gardens and it is highly 
likely that occupants will in the future claim that the trees need to be severely pruned because 
of shading or removed because they are a danger to the houses.  

− A valuable lime tree was removed without warning in May 2020 yet appears on the submitted 
drawings as existing.  It is difficult to understand why this tree does not appear in the table of 
trees assessed in the survey done on 1 April 2020 and is removed from proposed site plan 
(dated 22 Oct 2020) in the arboricultural assessment rather than being marked as one of the 
trees listed for removal. The tree is completely removed from revised arboricultural assessment 
submitted 10 December 2020. It is highly likely that the tree officer would have objected to 
felling of this tree and no more damage to the local environment should be permitted. 

− The Peterborough Local Plan (adopted July 2019), Policy 6.24.10 Trees and Woodland also 
notes that the council is committed to increasing the overall tree canopy cover, and therefore 
opportunities for new tree planting should be explored as part of all development proposals. 
There are five trees removed in this proposal and there is no new tree planting proposed. 

− The proposed development provides 11 parking spaces for residents and visitors. This indicates 
that there will be a very significant increase in traffic to and from the site. The entrance is only 
25 metres from the traffic lights at the busy junction of Eastfield Road with Broadway and is 
likely to add to existing hazards by reason of traffic entering and leaving the site. 

− The entrance will be a risk for pedestrians as there are no visibility splays to the pavement. The 
visibility splays marked on plans simply cover views across the pavement to the road. 

− The application cites the development at 270 Eastfield Road as a precedent however this is not 
comparable.  

− The application cites the back-garden development at 220 Broadway as a precedent. This is 
again not comparable and the development highlights why backland development is 
inappropriate.   

− The existing location plan is inaccurate in that it does not include the recently completed large 
extension on the south side of 270 Eastfield Road, now a special needs facility. 

− The existing location plan is inaccurate in that it shows a large old extension to the rear of 270 
Eastfield Road and that was demolished more than a year ago. 

− The existing and proposed site plans are inaccurate in they show a curved boundary with 222 
Broadway. It is clear from the OS map that the boundary is straight and not following the 

71



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

meandering poor quality fence installed a couple of years ago by the owner of 266 Eastfield 
Road. 

− The existing site plan is inaccurate in that it shows a large lime tree in the north-west corner of 
the plot. Unfortunately, as noted above, this mature tree was recently removed, prior to 
submission of this proposal. 

− We note the letter of support from a Mr Khan at No. 33 Park Crescent for the proposed 
development and we would point out that there does not appear to be any link or relationship in 
planning terms between these properties. We are sure the Council will attach such weight and 
credibility to such a letter of support as is appropriate. 
 

 
Councillor Yasin has objected to the proposal on two grounds: 
 
Traffic issues 

− The proposal provides 11 parking spaces for residents and visitors. This indicates that there will 
be a very significant increase in traffic to and from the site. The entrance is only 25 metres from 
the traffic lights at the busy junction of Eastfield Road with Broadway and is likely to be a hazard 
for existing traffic and traffic entering and leaving the site. 

 

− The entrance will be a risk for pedestrians as there are no visibility splays to the pavement. The 
visibility splays marked on plans simply cover views across the pavement to the road. 

  
Inappropriate citation of precedent development 

− The proposal cites the development at 270 Eastfield Road as a precedent. This is a very poor 
precedent as the 270 Eastfield Road development did not require demolition of the existing 
house, is on a very large site, does not consist of multiple closely packed houses, has retained 
the character of the existing property and is at least 10 metres from the boundary at the rear of 
the development. This contrasts with the proposed development at 266 Eastfield Road where 
the house on plot one is right on the boundary with number 270 and the houses at the rear are 
less than one metre from the boundaries of properties in College Park and Eastfield Road. 
 

− The proposal cites the back-garden development at 220 Broadway as a precedent. This is 
again a very poor precedent as the 220 Broadway development did not require demolition of the 
existing house and the existing property retains a large garden, the development being on a 
former orchard beyond the formal garden. Even with these caveats, the development cannot be 
considered a success as it is visually dense and has degraded an attractive green area and 
adversely affected the amenity of several surrounding properties in Broadway Gardens, 
Broadway and College Park. The limited appeal of the development is shown by the fact that to 
our knowledge only one of the three properties has been sold despite repeated marketing 
efforts over the past 15 years. In addition, the permission was granted prior to inclusion of the 
property in the Park Conservation Area and it is unlikely that the development would be allowed 
now. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 

72



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

The main considerations: 

− Principle of development 

− Design and impact to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Park 
Conservation Area 

− Neighbour amenity 

− Future occupier amenity 

− Meeting housing standards 

− Highway safety and parking provision 

− Trees 

− Ecology 

− Flood, water and drainage management 

− Archaeology 

− Contamination 
 
a) Principle of development 
 
The application site falls within the urban area of Peterborough and, more specifically, within an 
established residential area well-served by services and facilities. The proposal represents the 
construction of dwellings within the sizable rear garden to No. 266 Eastfield Road. This backland 
development is not specifically precluded by adopted national and local planning policies. As such, 
the principle of residential development is accepted under Policies LP2 and LP3 subject to 
assessment of the material planning considerations below. 
 
b) Design and impact to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Park 
Conservation Area 
 
The application site does not fall within the Park Conservation Area (CA), but the CA abuts to the 
southern boundary. As such, the impact to the setting of the Park Conservation Area must be 
considered. Section 72(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) requires special regard to be paid to the desirability of preserving 
conservation areas such as the Park Conservation Area. This is further emphasised within the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) which requires that significant weight be placed on the 
need to preserve heritage assets. 
 
In addition to the above, the adjacent building to the north, known as 'The Limes', is a locally listed 
building with an Article 4 Direction. The Local Planning Authority has a duty under the NPPF when 
considering whether to grant permission for development which affects a non-designated heritage 
asset, or its setting, to have regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset. 
 
The surrounding area comprises a mixed layout of dwellings. Nos. 260 to 266 Eastfield Road 
comprise two storey dwellinghouses with similarly-sized front gardens. The rear gardens are also 
similar in size, minus the large, L-shaped garden of the application site. Within the immediate area, 
there is variation to layout character. For example, opposite the driveway serving the application 
site, is a site where planning approval has previously been granted for 'backland development' for 
3no. dwellings. Backland development has also occurred within the curtilage of No. 220 Broadway 
to the south, where permission was granted for the construction of 3no. detached dwellinghouses 
and to the north of site is 'The Limes' (No. 270 Eastfield Road), which has planning permission to 
provide 24no. assisted living units including parking and landscaping arrangements, all which 
would be served on the large site. Finally, neighbouring dwellings to the north-west of the 
application site (College Park) are of a more modern estate development in a cul-de-sac layout. 
These predominantly comprise detached two storey dwellings on modest-sized plots, situated 
close to the highway. 
 
It is noted that the Council’s Conservation Officer has objected to the proposal, advising that it 
would fail to preserve the setting of the Park Conservation Area.  In addition, the Conservation 

73



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

Officer has objected in terms of the principle of development, and harm to the setting of The Limes.   
 
It is not considered that the three dwellings proposed in the rear garden would unacceptably 
impact upon the established layout character of the surrounding area. As described above, 
backland development is an existing characteristic within the immediate area and there are no 
local or national policies that would specifically preclude such development.  The footprint of the 
3no. proposed dwellings to the rear, plus their respective rear gardens, are considered to be 
similar to other properties within the locality. Whilst it is acknowledged that the gardens to the 
existing properties along Eastfield Road are larger, the proposed gardens are larger than those of 
the nearest dwellings along College Park and thus it is not considered that this factor is 
unacceptable. Furthermore, the siting of Plot 4 is considered to appropriate to avoid any terracing 
effect with No. 7 College Park. It is not considered that the proposal would appear cramped or 
overdeveloped, with dwellings of appropriate size/scale for the plot served by adequately sized 
gardens, parking and access.   
 
The Conservation Officer considers that the proposed access to serve the rear dwellings to be 
contrived and overly wide, with the proposed replacement dwelling being described as narrow as a 
result of the requirement to construct the revised access. Beginning with the existing dwelling, No. 
266 Eastfield is considered to be pleasant in its appearance, but it has been harmed predominantly 
by its rendered, flat roof extension to the front elevation. Whilst other dwellings in the row have had 
render applied, the use of render to these dwellings is considered to be proportionate and 
enhances the appearance of these neighbouring dwellings, unlike the appearance of the 
application site. The Conservation Officer has also not specifically objected to the demolition of the 
existing dwelling and whilst local concerns have been raised against the demolition of the dwelling, 
Officers do not consider it is of such architectural merit that its demolition could be resisted. It is not 
considered that the loss of the dwelling would unacceptably impact upon the existing character of 
the surrounding area. 
 
The proposed replacement dwelling would measure approximately 6.3 metres in width and 7.3 
metres in height up to its ridge (excluding the chimney). The overall width of the existing dwelling is 
approximately 9.1 metres. Therefore, the proposed dwelling would be approximately 2.8 metres 
less in width, however, the proposed dwelling does contain details including sash windows, bay 
windows, plinth detailing that attempt to provide a positive and proportionate appearance to 
counteract this reduction in width. Balancing the revised dwelling against the proposed access: the 
width of the existing access measures approximately 3.7 metres, which would extend to 5.5 metres 
when measured adjacent to the footway. The proposed access width is required to ensure safe 
two-way traffic flows for the first 10 metres into the site. The expansion of the access would be 
visible within the street scene. In character and appearance terms, the impact is not considered to 
be unacceptable for two reasons: Firstly, the existing fence and hedge to the front of site could be 
removed without planning consent, provide a clear opening into the site that is visible from the 
street scene, which is similar to what would result from the proposed access. Secondly, the access 
serving Nos 283B, 283C and 283D Eastfield Road, opposite the application site, measures 
approximately 5 metres in width to provide for two way traffic. Although the Conservation Officer is 
uncomfortable with the proposed access, there are existing accesses of similar proportions within 
the immediate area. Overall, and on balance, Officers do not consider that the proposed 
replacement dwelling and the proposed access to be unacceptably out of character such that 
unacceptable harm would result to the visual amenity of the locality, or the setting of nearby 
heritage assets.  
 
The proposed dwellings to the rear of site would have similar proportions to each and would utilise 
details to provide further identity to each dwelling are considered to be similar in appearance and 
proportions. There is separation provided between the dwelling to enable 'breathing space' which 
is considered sufficient to avoid them being unacceptably crammed in. The proposed dwelling 'Plot 
4' is situated further forward beyond the front elevations of Plot 2 and 3, but this is not considered 
to be unacceptable. 
 
Officers are aware that the dwellings proposed to the rear of site measure approximately 9.8 

74



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

metres in height from ground level to the ridge (excluding the chimney) which are taller than the 
more standard two storey dwellings along the frontage of Eastfield Road. However, the nearest 
dwelling to Eastfield Road, Plot 2, would be approximately 58 metres from the public highway, 
which would also be predominantly screened by the existing dwellings along Eastfield Road that 
are set back from the public highway. On balance, it is not considered that the proposal would 
adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the site or surrounding area as this taller 
height would not be unduly prominent within the public realm. It would be necessary to secure full 
details of materials by way of a planning condition along with site levels to ensure that the site is 
not built up significant such that the height of the dwellings was increased.  
 
With regards to other design matters, the proposed gates to the vehicular access would be situated 
approximately 1.8 metre behind the front elevation of the proposed replacement dwelling. This was 
revised from its previous position adjacent to the bin collection point. It is considered that the 
location of these in-swinging gates, whilst visible from the street scene, would not adversely impact 
upon the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area.  
 
The proposed bin collection point store would be located to the front of site. In terms of use, its 
position is necessary to enable refuse collection. Officers do share concerns with neighbouring 
residents about its visual impact within the streetscene. However, the Applicant has agreed to the 
use of soft landscaping to screen the collection point when directly facing the site. Given that bin 
storage areas are provided within the curtilage of each proposed dwelling, it is considered that this 
collection point would predominantly remain empty except on collection days, thus limiting the 
visual harm of bins from site and within the street scene. 
 
The Local Planning Authority has a duty under paragraph 190 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (2019) to identify and assess the significance of any heritage assets that may 
be impacted upon by a proposal to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset's 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.  For this proposal, the key assets identified include 
the Park Conservation Area to the south-west which has an adopted Appraisal, and the locally-
listed The Limes. The Council’s Conservation Officer provided an assessment of the proposal via 
comments received and efforts were made to improve the proposal, which include improvements 
to the bin collection point, revising the location of the vehicular gate and altering the design and 
appearance of Plot 4 (following deletion of what was Plot 5). It is not considered that the proposed 
backland development would result in significant harm to the setting of the Park Conservation Area 
or adversely impact upon the setting of the Article 4-listed No. 270 Eastfield Road, also known as 
The Limes.  
 
The NPPF (paragraph 196) requires that development which results in less than substantial harm 
to designated heritage assets be weighed against the benefits of the proposal.  Further, Paragraph 
118, and more broadly Section 11, of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy 
LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) support developments would development that makes 
effective use of under-utilised land and it is considered such applies here given the current, 
substantial garden that serves No. 266 Eastfield Road.  Further, the proposal constitutes a windfall 
housing site which the Local Plan relies upon in regards to ensuring that housing delivery meets 
with the Local Plan targets.  Whilst the Council has a demonstrable five year housing land supply, 
and it meeting the housing delivery test by over 100%, the provision of windfall housing does carry 
some weight.   
 
On the basis of the above, Officers consider the proposal to be in accordance with Policies LP16 
and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
c) Neighbour amenity 
 
There are a number of residential dwellings surrounding the site, with dwellings served by Eastfield 
Road (Nos. 260 - 264 Eastfield Road and 'The Limes'), College Park (No. 7 College Park) and 
Broadway (No. 222. Broadway). 
 

75



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 14 

Eastfield Road neighbours 
With regards to the dwellinghouses along Eastfield Road, the access road would abut to the side 
boundaries of Nos. 264 and 266 Eastfield Road, with the 3no. dwellings to the rear of site.  
 
It is accepted that the proposal would result in additional movements to/from the site in close 
proximity to the rear garden area of No.264.  However, the movements are not considered to 
generate such a significant level of noise/general disturbance that unacceptable levels of harm 
would result to occupants.   
 
The curtilage of Plot 2 abuts to the rear boundaries of Nos. 260, 262 and 264 Eastfield Road, with 
the proposed dwelling covering the width of the rear garden to No. 264 Eastfield Road. The garden 
to No. 264 Eastfield Road measures approximately 27 metres in depth. At this distance, it is not 
considered that the proposed dwelling would cause adverse overbearing or overshadowing impact 
that would unacceptably impact upon the use and enjoyment of this garden. One window is 
proposed to the first floor of the facing side elevation, which would serve a bathroom. Given that 
this is not a primary habitable room, it is considered reasonable to secure obscure glazing to this 
proposed opening through a planning compliance condition.  
 
Plot 2 would also be visible to Nos. 260 and 262 Eastfield Road. It is not considered unacceptable 
overbearing or overshadowing effects would impact upon the enjoyment and use of these 
neighbouring dwellings their garden. There are first floor window opening proposed to the rear 
elevation, however it is considered that clear views into the rear garden of No. 262 Eastfield Road 
would not occur given the oblique angle from this proposed opening into the garden. For No. 260 
Eastfield Road, Officers consider that some views would be gained into this neighbouring rear 
garden, but it is not considered that the impact would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy 
given that the views would be to the rear-most portions of the garden. 
 
Finally, The Limes (No. 270 Eastfield Road) to the north of site is a sizable complex across a large 
site. It is not considered that the proposed dwellings to the rear of site would appear excessively 
overbearing or prominent across this neighbouring site given their set back nature. Some views 
would be obtained given that the proposed dwellings would be set back approximately 17 metres 
from the south-facing elevation of The Limes, but on balance this is not considered to be 
unacceptable. 
 
No. 7 College Park 
No. 7 College Park is adjacent to the north-west boundary of the application site. This detached 
dwelling would be nearest to the proposed dwelling 'Plot 4', where there would be approximately 
7.5 metres between the two storey elevations of each building, which is reduced to approximately 4 
metres when accounting for the proposed single storey side element. It is considered that there is 
sufficient separation between the dwellings to avoid unacceptable overbearing impacts and 
shadows to the rear garden and conservatory of No. 7 College Park would only fall across this land 
during early morning periods. This time frame is considered to be too short to cause unacceptable 
harm to occupants.  
 
Finally, it is not considered that the occupiers to No. 7 College Park would have an unacceptable 
reduction in their privacy. There are no windows to the side elevation of that neighbouring property 
and therefore no views would be established to the dwellinghouse via this elevation. Furthermore, 
there are no upper floor windows proposed to the north-west facing elevation of Plot 4. There are 
opening proposed to the first floor rear elevation serving bedrooms, but it is not considered that 
they would overlook the conservatory or patio areas to No. 7 College Park. As such, Officers do 
not consider the proposal to unacceptably impact upon this neighbour. 
 
No. 222 Broadway 
Finally, the rear garden serving No. 222 Broadway abuts to the south-west boundary of the 
application site. With the rear elevations of the proposed 3no. dwellings to be set approximately 16 
metres from this boundary, it is not considered that any undue harm to this neighbour would result. 
No. 222 Broadway is served by a very large garden, large in both in depth and width, which is 

76



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 15 

considered to be sufficient to enable the neighbours to enjoy both their property and their garden 
without a loss of privacy. Furthermore, there are two lime trees to the boundary protected through 
a Tree Preservation Order (T15 and T17). It is considered that these protected trees would provide 
further screening and privacy to this neighbour. 
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
d) Future occupier amenity 
 
All four of the proposed dwellinghouses are considered to be spacious and laid out appropriately. 
Each of the proposed habitable rooms, including bedrooms and living rooms, are considered to be 
served by acceptably sized windows to allow both adequate light provision whilst avoiding an 
unacceptable sense of enclosure. With regards to Plots 2 and 3, i.e. the semi-detached pair, it is 
considered that the proposed layout is acceptable to avoid unacceptable noise and disturbances. 
 
Bin storage is proposed within each dwelling's garden, which is considered to be acceptable and 
furthermore, there are access points either side of the dwellings to enable bins to be moved out 
from the rear gardens. The bin collection point is proposed to the front of site, near to the site 
access, which is proposed to be surrounded in landscape. Whilst concerns have been as to the 
impact of the bin collection point upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area, the 
collection area is considered to be appropriate for refuse collectors and the Waste Officer has 
raised no objections to this matter. A condition is proposed to ensure this area, as well as the bin 
storage points within the private gardens areas, are retained for these purposes only and that no 
hard enclosure is provided.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
e) Meeting housing standards 
 
Policy LP8 requires all new dwellings be constructed to accord with Part M4(2) of the Building 
Regulations (often referred to as lifetime homes standard) unless there are exceptional reasons to 
justify otherwise. 
 
Level access is proposed to all of the dwellinghouses, each with their own private, principal 
entrance points. The required clearance of 1.2 metres are also proposed to each dwelling beyond 
the front door and upper floor landings are considered to be acceptable. Ground floor sanitation 
facilities are also considered to be acceptable, with sufficient clearances provided between the 
toilets and wash basin to enable wheelchair turning (if required). The general clearance spaces to 
the dwelling are considered to be appropriate to enable the dwellings to meet the requirements of 
Part M4(2). 
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP8 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
f) Highway safety and parking provision 
 
Turning first to parking provision, under adopted parking standards, two spaces are required to 
serve dwellings with two or more bedrooms. 
 
Of the four dwellings proposed (1no. replacement dwelling, 3no. 'new' dwellings), each would have 
two bedrooms, so there is a minimum need of 8no.parking spaces plus 1 visitor space. 9 parking 
spaces are proposed and the Local Highway Authority (LHA) has not objected to their layout. 
Tracking diagrams have also been provided to demonstrate that all parking spaces are accessible 
and vehicles could enter the site, turn and exit in a forward gear. The private rear gardens are 
large enough to accommodate cycle parking without impacting upon the enjoyment and use of the 

77



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 16 

gardens. 
 
Objectors have raised concern with regards to the turning availability for delivery vehicles which it 
is noted can be a daily occurrence.  The proposal includes a turning area which would ensure 
vehicles can enter and exit the site in a forward gear.   
 
With regards to access in and out of the site, the proposal would utilise the existing access, albeit 
widened to 5.5 metres in width. It is accepted that three additional dwellings would generate more 
movements than the existing single dwelling.  However the Local Highway Authority do not 
consider the increase in traffic to be unacceptable and it is considered that the public highway has 
capacity to accommodate the limited additional trip generation. The position of the gate and the 
road alignment would not likely result in excessive speed being generated on-site which could 
pose a risk to pedestrian users of the footway.  
 
Finally, the Local Highway Authority consider that vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays can be 
adequately conditioned rather than requested prior to determination. The LHA advises that the 
required x-distance (2.4 metres) would predominantly fall within the existing footway and the splays 
themselves, at 43 metres in length would fall across the existing public highway.  
 
With regards to vehicle-pedestrian visibility splays, 2.0 x 2.0 metre visibility splays would normally 
be required for shared accesses.  However, it is evident that the splay to the southern boundary of 
the access would overlap onto the neighbouring plot at No. 264 Eastfield Road and therefore 
cannot be provided. However, the Local Highway Authority quote that splays compliant with 
guidance from the 'Design Manual for Roads and Bridges' (DMRB) can be achieved as a result of 
the access, which is further mitigated by the width of the footway. This would ensure that adequate 
visibility was provided of oncoming pedestrians to vehicles exiting the site, and thus the Local 
Highway Authority raise no objection. 
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
g) Trees 
 
The site contains a number of trees to its boundaries. Two trees protected by a Tree Preservation 
Order, which are adjacent to the south-west boundary of the site, which abuts to the Park 
Conservation Area boundary. Further to an arboricultural impact assessment (AIA) and 
arboricultural method statement (AMS) submitted by the Applicant, the Council’s Tree Officer has 
raised no objection to the proposed development. The Tree Officer however requests further 
details to be submitted, specifically a landscaping plan, comprising replacement tree planting and 
details of the proposed native species hedging. It is considered that this matter can be secured 
through a planning compliance condition.  It is considered to be appropriate for details to be 
secured prior to first occupation of any dwelling and the planting to take place no later than the first 
planting season after occupation of any dwelling. 
 
It is noted that objections have been received which raise concern with regards to the future 
pressure to prune/fell the trees within the site given their siting in relation to the gardens proposed.  
The mature lime trees within the site which are protected, are located to the rearmost areas of the 
gardens serving Plots 2-4.  Whilst some shading would result due to their orientation to the south 
of the dwellings, all plots would be afforded areas of garden which would not be subject to 
considerable overshadowing or leaf litter.  It is considered therefore that any future pressure to 
prune/fell could reasonably be resisted.   
 
Objectors have also raised that 1no. mature lime tree was felled prior to the submission of the 
application.  As this tree was not subject to any formal protection, its felling did not require the 
benefit of any consent.  
 
On the basis of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP29 of the 

78



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 17 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
h) Ecology 
 
Further to review of the proposal, the City Council's Wildlife Officer has raised no objections, 
subject to the following matters being secured through appropriate planning conditions. 
 
Firstly, from the information submitted, it is advised that hedgehogs have been confirmed as being 
on site. The Wildlife Officer therefore suggests that all excavations greater than 0.2 metres in depth 
be covered overnight or a means of escape installed. Any open ended pipe-work should also be 
covered and materials fenced off. These matters could be secured through a planning compliance 
condition and thus one is recommended covering these matters. 
 
In addition, the Wildlife Officer recommends that the boundary treatments are secured through a 
planning condition, to ensure that appropriately sized openings can be installed within the fencing 
to allow easier movement for hedgehogs passing between gardens. Details of the boundary 
treatments would be secured through a condition regardless and reference to the need to provide 
hedgehog holes shall be included. 
 
Finally, the Wildlife Officer suggests that any external lighting should be LED and be on a sensor (if 
possible), directed away from trees. To ensure that only appropriate external light provisions are 
installed, it is considered necessary to secure these details as a planning condition, prior to first 
occupation of any dwelling.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP28 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
i) Flood, water and drainage management 
 
No part of the application site falls within Flood Zones 2 or 3. Therefore, whilst there are more 
dwellinghouses within the curtilage of the site, it is not considered that they would be at 
unacceptable risk of flooding. 
 
A drainage strategy has been submitted by the Applicant covering foul and surface water drainage. 
Further to review of the strategy, the Council’s Drainage Officer has raised no objections to this 
scheme and recommends that a condition be secured to ensure that the sustainable drainage is 
completed prior to first occupation of any new dwelling. This is considered to be reasonable and 
this shall be secured as a planning compliance condition. 
 
Policy LP32 requires all new dwellings to accord with the Optimal Technical Housing Standard of 
110 litres per person per day, as defined in Building Regulations G2, to ensure efficient water 
usage. This matter can be secured under a planning condition. 
 
On the basis of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy LP32 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
j) Archaeology 
 
The City Council's Archaeologist advises that the application site is within an area that has 
witnessed no archaeological investigations. Without evidence, the archaeological interests and 
significance of the site and the immediate area cannot be acceptably determined. Therefore, it is 
recommended that an archaeological programme comprising trial trenching methodologies and 
assessment should be secured to determine the presence, state of preservation and date of any 
potential buried remains. Officers consider these matters are reasonable to secure through a 
planning condition. 
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough 

79



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 18 

Local Plan (2019). 
 
k) Contamination 
 
There is no record of known contamination associated with any part of the application site. As 
such, the City Council's Environmental Health Officer has raised no objections to the proposed 
development. In the event of any unexpected contamination being uncovered during construction, 
it is considered necessary and essential for the contamination to be dealt by way of a planning 
condition. This would require a method statement to be submitted to the planning department for 
assessment and approval to deal with this contamination.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 
 
Other matters not considered above 
 
- Proposals considered elsewhere: Comments were raised about the determination of planning 
applications elsewhere in Peterborough, specifically planning application 20/01519/OUT - Land to 
the rear of No. 152 St Pauls Road. In the view of Officers, this property and its immediate setting is 
an entirely different character and layout to that considered under this current planning application 
and thus is not relevant to the determination of this application. In any event, all proposals must be 
considered on their own merits.   
 
- Inappropriate precedents: This proposal has been assessed on its own merits. Notwithstanding 
this, backland development is not specifically precluded in any local or national policies. 
 
- Building regulations: Unless specific Building Regulations matters are covered under adopted 
planning policies, such as Part M4(2) under Policy LP8 or Policy G2 under Policy LP32, matters of 
building regulation compliance are not material planning considerations. 
 
- Fire safety: No comments were received by Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue. Officers are aware 
of building regulation requirements with regards to the distance of dwellings from the public 
highway through Approved Document B. Sprinkler systems can be utilised and thus it is 
considered necessary to secure details of these matters prior to first occupation of Plots 2, 3 or 4. It 
is reiterated however that fire safety is assessed through the building control stages post 
development to avoid the planning duplicating other legislation and it may well be the case that the 
Applicant cannot implement any planning consent (if granted) if building regulations approval 
cannot be obtained. 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
- The principle of development is acceptable. 
- The character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Park Conservation Area would not 
be adversely impact upon by the proposed development, in accordance with Policies LP16 and 
LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The proposal would not adversely impact upon the amenity of nearby neighbours, in accordance 
with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The amenity of future occupiers would be acceptable, in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The dwellings would be constructed to appropriate housing standards, in accordance with Policy 
LP8 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The proposal would not unacceptably impact upon the safety of the surrounding highways, in 
accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- Trees on and immediately surrounding the site would not be unacceptably impacted upon by the 

80



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 19 

proposed development, in accordance with Policy LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The proposal would not unacceptably impact upon any protected species on-site or within the 
immediate area, in accordance with Policy LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The proposed development would not be at adverse risk of flooding, in accordance with Policy 
LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- No known buried heritage assets would be adversely impacted upon by the proposed 
development, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
- The application site would not unacceptably impacted by any known contamination, in 
accordance with Policy LP33 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). 
  
 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
  
 - Location Plan (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL100) 
 - Existing Site Plan (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL112) 
 - Proposed Site Plan (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL101, Revision F) 
 - Topographical Survey (Drawing number MSL35467-T) 
 - Vehicle Swept Paths (Drawing number P20032-SMCE-ZZ-XX-DR-C-0101, Revision P04) 
  
 Plot 1 
 - Proposed Ground Floor and First Floor Plans (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-

PL102, Revision A) 
 - Proposed Elevations (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL103) 
  
 Plots 2 and 3 
 - Proposed Ground and First Floor Plans (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL104, 

Revision A) 
 - Proposed Second Floor Plan (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL105, Revision 

A) 
 - Proposed Front and Rear Elevations (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL106, 

Revision A) 
 - Proposed Side Elevations (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL107, Revision A) 
  
 Plot 4 
 - Proposed Ground and First Floor Plans (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL108, 

Revision C) 
 - Proposed Second Floor Plan (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL109, Revision 

C) 
 - Proposed Front and Rear Elevations (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL110, 

Revision C) 
 - Proposed Side Elevations (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL111, Revision C) 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
 

81



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 20 

C 3 No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place unless and until 
details of the following external materials to be used have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

   
 - Walling (samples); 
 - Roofing (samples); 
 - Cills and lintels; 
 - Windows and doors; 
 - Roof lights;  
 - Driveway and access surfacing; and 
 - Rainwater goods. 
  
 The samples/details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the 

product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be 
carried out except in accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained as such.  

   
 Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 

accordance with Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
   
  
 
C 4 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until a scheme for the 

hard and soft landscaping of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the following:- 

             
 - Planting plans including species, numbers, size and density of planting; 
 - Details of the proposed native species hedge  
 - Details of replacement tree planting  
 - Details of all hard and soft boundary treatments, including gates; 

- Details of appropriately sized holes within boundary treatments to ensure hedgehog 
movements are not harmed and 

 - Hard surfaces including driveways and patios. 
            
 The approved hard landscaping scheme (boundary treatments and hard surfaces) shall be 

carried out prior to the occupation of the dwelling to which it relates and retained thereafter.  
          
 The soft landscaping shall be carried out within the first available planting season following 

first occupation of the dwelling to which it relates or alternatively in accordance with a 
timetable for landscape implementation which has been approved as part of the submitted 
landscape scheme. 

          
 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme (except 

those contained in enclosed rear gardens to individual dwellings) that die, are removed or 
become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall 
be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or their 
successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being replaced. 
Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall 
themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

           
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of this area and to preserve the amenities of 

neighbouring occupants, in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP17 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019). 

  
 
C 5 Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, the foul and surface water 

drainage scheme set out within the document 'Drainage Strategy' (Document reference 
document (P20032-SMCEZZ-XX-RP-D-0001, Rev. P06) shall be completed. The approved 

82



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 21 

scheme shall be retained, managed and maintained in accordance with the agreed 
management and maintenance plans. 

  
 Reason: To ensure appropriate drainage measures are retained for the longevity of the 

dwellings permitted, in accordance with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
 
C 6 No development shall take commence unless and until a programme of archaeological 

work, including a Written Scheme of Investigation (comprising trial trenching 
methodologies, assessment and analysis), has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No development shall take place unless in complete 
accordance with the approved scheme. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full 
including any post development requirements e.g. archiving and submission of final reports. 

    
 Reason: To mitigate the impact of the scheme on the historic environment when 

preservation in situ is not possible, in accordance with paragraph 189 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure that no groundworks harm potentially 
important buried heritage. 

  
 
C 7 Prior to first occupation of the relevant dwelling, the following windows shall be fitted with 

obscure glazing to a minimum of Pilkington Level 3 and be non-opening unless the parts of 
the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in 
which the window is installed:  

 
 - Plot 1 at first floor to the north facing side elevation;  
 - Plot 2 at first floor to the west-facing side elevation; 
 - Plot 3 at first floor to the east-facing side elevation; and 
 - Plot 4 at first floor to the east-facing side elevation.   
 
.  The obscure glazing shall be continuous and shall not incorporate any clear glazing 

features. The windows shall subsequently be retained as such in perpetuity. 
  
 Reason:  In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants and future occupants, 

in accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
 
C 8 Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings on Plots 2, 3 or 4, as shown on the drawing 

'Proposed Site Plan (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL101, Revision F)', details 
of a scheme for the provision of internal fire sprinkler systems shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall specify the technical 
details of the sprinkler systems, a plan for each unit for where they would be installed and 
details on how they would operate. The approved sprinkler system shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of each dwelling and shall 
be retained in perpetuity. 

   
 Reason: In the interests of ensuring appropriate fire safety measures. 
  
 
C 9 Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, the areas shown for the 

purposes of parking and turning on the drawing Proposed Site Plan  (Drawing number 
4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL101, Revision F) shall be provided. Such provision shall 
thereafter be retained for these purposes associated with the dwellings hereby permitted, 
and not put to any other use. 

  

83



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 22 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

  
 
C10 No development shall take place, excluding works of demolition, unless and until full details 

of the finished levels, above ordnance datum, of the ground floor of the proposed building, 
in relation to existing ground levels have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved levels. 

  
Reason: In the interests of accessibility for future occupiers as well as in the interests of 
surrounding neighbour amenity, in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).    

  
 
C11 No development shall commence unless and until fully operational wheel cleaning 

equipment has been provided on the exit from the site with the public highway, and it shall 
be maintained free from mud, slurry or any other form of contamination whilst in use. All 
vehicles leaving the site shall be served by the wheel cleaning equipment which is to be 
sited to ensure that vehicles are able to leave the site and enter the public highway in a 
clean condition and free of debris which could fall onto the public highway. The wheel 
cleaning equipment shall be retained on site in full working order for the duration of the 
development. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
 
C12 Prior to first occupation of any dwelling on Plots 2, 3 or 4, the widened vehicular access 

shown on the drawing 'Proposed Site Plan' (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-
PL101, Revision F) shall be constructed and hard surfaced in accordance with the details 
approved under condition C4 above. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
 
C13 Prior to first use of the widened access hereby permitted, vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays 

measuring 2.4 metres (from the back edge of the carriageway along the centre line of the 
proposed access) x 43 metres (measured along the channel line of the public highway from 
the centre line of the proposed access) shall be provided to both side of the access. The 
visibility splays shall thereafter be retained and kept permanently clear of all obstacles 
above 600mm in height from ground level in perpetuity.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
 
C14 Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or 
re-enacting that Order with or without amendment), the vehicular access hereby permitted 
shall only be gated in accordance with the details as shown on the drawing 'Proposed Site 
Plan' (Drawing number 4091-BB-XX-XXX-XX-A-PL101, Revision F). The gate shall open 
inwards only and shall be maintained and retained as such thereafter.  

 

84



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 23 

 No enclosures or boundary treatments shall be constructed forward of the front principal 
elevation of Plot 1 unless those expressly authorised by this or any future planning 
permission.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the visual amenity of the surrounding area, 

in accordance with Policies LP13, LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
 
C15 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 3 Class L of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the residential units hereby 
permitted shall each be a single residential unit within Class C3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with 
or without modification) only.   

   
 Reason: The site is not served by sufficient parking to accommodate the demands 

generated by small-scale houses in multiple occupation such that harm would result to 
highway safety from such a use, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019). 

  
 
C16 During construction works, all construction trenches and excavations greater than 0.2 

metres in depth shall be covered overnight and a method of escape for mammals, 
specifically hedgehogs, shall be provided to each trench (such as a ramp). All open-ended 
pipework shall be fully covered and equipment and materials shall be secured with 
appropriate fencing if left on-site.  

  
 Reason: In the interest of preserving the biodiversity value of the site, in accordance with 

Policy LP28 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
 
C17 Prior to first occupation of any residential unit hereby permitted, details of all external 

lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details shall include the technical specification of the light fittings (including product codes 
and supplier), as well as plans as to where the lights would be fitted. The approved lighting 
shall be installed prior to first occupation of the dwelling to which it relates and thereafter 
maintained as such. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of future resident amenity, their security and to ensure that there is 

no adverse impact to surrounding wildlife, in accordance with Policies LP17 and LP28 of 
the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

  
 
C18 The development hereby permitted shall achieve the Optional Technical Housing Standard 

of 110 litres of water usage per person per day. 
   
 Reason: To minimise impact on the water environment, in accordance with Policy LP32 of 

the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
 
C19 No development shall take place unless and until the tree protection measures within the 

rear garden detailed within the documents ‘Arboricultural Impact Assessment (reference: 
20-4237, version 2, dated 29 October 2020) and ‘Arboricultural Method Statement’ (20-
4238, version 2, dated 29 October 2020)) have been installed. The protective fencing shall 
be retained throughout the duration of construction of the development hereby permitted.  
No materials or equipment shall be stored within the area enclosed by the tree protection 
measures during the period of construction.   

85



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 24 

    
Reason: In order to safeguard retained trees, in accordance with Policy LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 

 
C20 Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification): 

 
- No rear extensions to Plots 2, 3 and 4 shall be constructed; 
- No side extensions to Plot 4 shall be constructed; 
- No roof enlargements to Plots 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall be constructed; and 
- No outbuildings to Plots 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall be constructed; 

 
other than those expressively authorised by this permission or any future planning 
permission. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of surrounding neighbours, as well as the amenity 
of trees on-site and immediately off-site, in accordance with Policies LP17 and LP29 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 
 
Copies to Councillors Joseph, Nawaz and Yasin 
 

86



The Site

Print Date: 24/03/2021

Committee Location Plan 21/00132/FUL 60 Hodney Road Eye Peterborough PE6 7YJ. NTS

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
87



This page is intentionally left blank

88



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee 20 April 2021      Item No.4 
 
Application Ref: 21/00132/FUL  
 
Proposal: Proposed 2 bed bungalow 
 
Site: 60 Hodney Road, Eye, Peterborough, PE6 7YJ 
Applicant: Mr Peter Scott 
  
Agent: Mr John Hartley 
 J J & J Hartley 
Referred by: Councillor Steve Allen 
Reason: Call in if LPA are likely to recommend refusal 
 
Case officer: Mr Asif Ali 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 207123 
E-Mail: asif.ali@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation:  REFUSE   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site Description 
The application site is located to the rear of the existing dwellinghouse at No.60 Hodney Road 
adjacent to a substation located to the north of the application site. To the east of the application 
site is Wollfellhill Road, the access of the proposed bungalow would be onto Wollfellhill Road. 
Hodney Road is located outside of the Eye Village Boundary. and as such the application site is 
located outside of the village boundary too. The properties located on Hodney Road are 
characterised by large gardens and large properties facing onto Hodney Road. No.60 Hodney 
Road is located on a corner plot with Woolfellhill Road directly to the east of the site. Beyond the 
northern boundary of the application site and beyond the substation there is open countryside with 
3 clusters of development located along Woolfellhill Road, with the closest Fell Farm approximately 
163m away from the application site measured from boundary to boundary.  
 
The application site also has a Willow which is protected by a provisional tree preservation order 
(TPO) 21/00003/TPO as T.1 Willow, served on 05.02.2021.  
 
Background  
A previous application ref 20/01565/FUL was withdrawn with a view to re-submit and call-in to 
Committee. The current application is the re-submission of the said previous application.  
 
Proposal 
The application seeks the benefit of planning permission for a proposed 2 bed bungalow with a 
attached garage building and associated alterations.  
 
The proposed development would measure approximately 19.8m long, the ridge height of the 
development will be approximately 4.9m and the eaves height of the development will be 
approximately 2.45m. 
 

89



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
20/01565/FUL Proposed bungalow Withdrawn 

by Applicant  
15/01/2021 

03/01634/FUL Two storey side extension Permitted  11/12/2003 
95/P0764 Erection of detached bungalow Refused  06/11/1995 

 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development  
 
Paragraphs 77 to 79 - Rural Housing 
 
Paragraph 163 - Flood Risk - Site Specific FRA  
 
Paragraph 164 – Flood Risk for some minor development and change of use 

 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
 
LP02 - The Settle Hierarchy and the Countryside  
The location/scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Proposals 
within village envelopes will be supported in principle, subject to them being of an appropriate 
scale. Development in the open countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met. 
 
LP08 - Meeting Housing Needs  
LP8a) Housing Mix/Affordable Housing - Promotes a mix of housing, the provision of 30% 
affordable on sites of 15 of more dwellings, housing for older people, the provision of housing to 
meet the needs of the most vulnerable, and dwellings with higher access standards 
 
LP8b) Rural Exception Sites- Development for affordable housing outside of but adjacent to village 
envelopes maybe accepted provided that it needs an identified need which cannot be met in the 
village, is supported locally and there are no fundamental constraints to delivery or harm arsing. 
 
LP8c) Homes for Permanent Caravan Dwellers/Park Homes- Permission will be granted for 
permanent residential caravans (mobile homes) on sites which would be acceptable for permanent 
dwellings. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP13d) City Centre- All proposal must demonstrate that careful consideration has been given to 

90



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

prioritising pedestrian access, to improving access for those with mobility issues, to encouraging 
cyclists and to reducing the need for vehicles to access the area. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP29 - Trees and Woodland  
Proposals should be prepared based upon the overriding principle that existing tree and woodland 
cover is maintained. Opportunities for expanding woodland should be actively considered.  
Proposals which would result in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodland and or the loss of 
veteran trees will be refused unless there are exceptional benefits which outweigh the loss. Where 
a proposal would result in the loss or deterioration of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order 
permission will be refused unless there is no net loss of amenity value or the need for and benefits 
of the development outweigh the loss. Where appropriate mitigation planting will be required. 
 
LP32 - Flood and Water Management  
Proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk management in line with the NPPF and 
council's Flood and Water Management SPD.. Sustainable drainage systems should be used 
where appropriate. Development proposals should also protect the water environment. 
 
LP33 - Development on Land Affected by Contamination  
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused. 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
 

91



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Tree Officer (16.02.21) 
Objection- 
The Willow's position on the plan would appear to be inaccurately positioned, and in fact, it is 
located further from the eastern boundary of the property, towards the position of the proposed 
dwelling. 
 
The root protection area (RPA) of the Willow would appear to extend at least to the main roof ridge 
line, of the proposed dwelling and may be beyond, and in the opposite direction beyond the grass 
verge adjacent to the eastern boundary, possibly suggesting an off-set RPA in this area? 
 
Please note, not only will the construction of a large part of the proposed dwelling impact upon the 
RPA of the Willow, but also the installation and construction work to form the new drive 
entrance/cross-over from the public highway, the drive, turning area and car parking space. 
 
I object to the proposal, as I consider the proposed development will have an adverse and 
detrimental effect on the mature Weeping Willow, which has considerable public visual amenity 
value to both Hodney Road and Woolfellhill Road, and the surrounding area. 
 
As requested previously, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) including an Arboricultural 
Method Statement (AMS) should be submitted to comply with the Council's Local Plan Policy LP29 
and BS5837:2012, as the proposed development will clearly have a significant impact on the RPA 
of the protected Willow. 
   
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (09.03.21) (Final) 
As the application is to be determined without revision, the LHA would have to raise objections to 
the proposals and recommend refusal for the following reasons; 
 
RR1 
As the garage is of substandard internal dimensions to be considered to provide a parking space, it 
has not been demonstrated that adequate facilities can be provided within the curtilage of the site 
for the parking and turning of 2 vehicles. As a consequence, the manoeuvring of vehicles likely to 
be generated by the proposed development would have an adverse effect on the safety of users of 
the adjoining public highway. 
This is contrary to Policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan. 
 
RR2 
It has not been demonstrated that an access of adequate width with appropriate vehicle-to-
pedestrian visibility splays can be provided. As a consequence, the manoeuvring of vehicles likely 
to be generated by the proposed development would have an adverse effect on the safety of users 
of the adjoining public highway. 
This is contrary to Policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan. 
 
Eye Parish Council (19.03.21) 
Object for the following reasons-  
 
Outside the village envelope. 
Overdevelopment of the site. 
Concern with the narrow access of the site. 
Willow tree is incorrectly shown on the plans and should remain as suggested by the Tree Officer. 
Agree with the Tree Officer's comments. 
 
Anglian Water Services Ltd (04.03.21) 
Provide comments for major applications for 10 dwellings or more, or if an industrial or commercial 
development, 500m2 or more.  
 

92



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

The Applicant should check for any Anglian Water assets which are cross or are within close 
proximity to the site. Please be advised that if there is any public sewers or a pumping station 
within the vicinity of the development site then any encroachment should be clearly reflected in the 
site layout. 
 
North Level District Internal Drainage Board (11.02.21) 
We must object to this application as no details with regards to disposal of surface water has been 
provided.  
 
Michael Britton (16.02.21) 
I can confirm the Application falls below the threshold for the requirement of offsite POS (non-
Strategic) PCC Section 106 Contributions. 
 
The Application would appear to not affect any existing Public Open Space but has the potential to 
affect PCC Landscaping (Highway Verge) please make a note on any Permission granted that no 
building materials are to be deposited on the verge during the construction of a dwelling unless 
authorized by PCC's Highway Department. 
 
Archaeological Officer (22.02.21) 
No objection in principle, subject to the implementation of an archaeological programme of 
evaluation by trial trench(es). Although the proposed development is relatively limited in scale, it 
has the potential to impact adversely on potential buried remains associated with the Roman Car 
Dyke, a monument of national significance. 
 
PCC Pollution Team (17.02.21) 
No objection subject to the inclusion of a unsuspected contamination condition. 
 
Local Highway Authority (23.02.21) (Initial) 
Contrary to the annotation on the drawings, there does not appear to be an existing vehicular 
access to Woolfellhill Road from the application site. There is an access gate, but no hard-surfaced 
vehicular access across the highway verge. This will require a S184 from the LHA. 

- The drawing also appears to indicate that the ‘exg. Vehicular access’ extends across the 
width of the Woolfellhill Road carriageway as well as the verge. 

 
Vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays of 1.5m x 1.5m are required on both sides of the access to 
the new property, measured from and along the highway boundary, and kept free from any 
obstructions over 600mm in height.  
 
Any gates must open inwards. 
 
As a 2-bed bungalow, the new dwelling must have 2 parking spaces, clear of the highway. 

- The proposed garage is of inadequate internal dimensions (min 3m x 6m required) to be 
considered to provide a parking space. 

- The single parking space annotated on the drawing appears to obstruct the manoeuvring 
of vehicles within the site. 

 
It must be demonstrated that 2 vehicles can park and turn within the site, and the currently 
proposed garage could not be counted as a parking space.  
 
 
Waste Management (18.02.21) 
No objection. 
 
Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service  
No comments received. 
 
 

93



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 13 
Total number of responses: 20 
Total number of objections: 19 
Total number in support: 0 
 
 
 
19 comments were received in response to the public consultation, 18 were in objection to the 
proposal and 1 comment was received neither in support or objection to the proposal. 
 
Further, 1 Petition was also received in objection to the proposal with 31 signatures from 25 
different addresses.  
 
 
The comments objecting to the proposal can be summarised as follows: 
- Concerns about the beautiful willow tree which is part of the nature of the village, and is protected 
by a temporary TPO. Willow is a visual amenity and damaging a significant and prominent tree 
would be against the 'Environmental Capital' ethos.  
- Concerns that the road is extremely muddy especially around the entrance to the field which is 
directly behind the property, the road floods regularly through the winder and gets quite dangerous 
and the amount of farming vehicles that use this vehicle is high and regularly leaves mud.  
- Vehicles visiting the site during construction would increase the flow of traffic and cause 
disruption, further the dust and dirt is already fairly high and this would be increased during building 
works.  
- Nuisance and noise disruption is also concerning.  
- Access is off a single track road.  
- Site appears to be too small to accommodate a residential dwelling and would surely impact on 
the adjoining neighbour.  
- Proposal seems unnecessary and unsuitable as there are more suitable sites with less impact on 
the local area.  
- Measurements of the proposed bungalow would not appear to match the size of the proposed 
plot. 
- Currently the property has no access onto Woolfellhill Road, which is a 60mph road, a new 
vehicular access point would be a safety issue to everyone using both Hodney Road and 
Woolfellhill Road. Public traffic has increased enormously due to lockdown, and there is no 
footpath or other alternative route on Woolfellhill Road.  
- Surface water flooding also makes this intended entrance hazardous putting vehicles and 
pedestrians at an increased risk.  
- May set a precedent for building in gardens which would spoil the outlook for others. The 
proposal could result in a ribbon of properties trickling down Woolfellhill Road, the end result would 
change the rural character of Hodney Road.  
- Outlook of the surrounding countryside would be severely compromised.  
- The proposed building will be detrimental for all neighbours.  
- Both Hodney Road and Woolfellhill Road are outside of the village envelope and as such are 
considered a rural location.  
- Other applications for additional houses in the area have always been refused.  
- Proposal will have an adverse effect to our daylight, sunlight and privacy in both the garden and 
habitable rooms for the adjacent neighbour. The proposed bungalow would also cast a huge 
shadow over the garden and rooms to the rear of the property. Further the proposal which is built 
to the boundary fence has 3 windows to the rear and will overlook our back garden.  
- Property has already been overly development from the original building and has resulted in the 
original building being developed well over 50% of its original footprint.  
- We note that an application to build a bungalow in the rear of the property has previously been 
submitted and refused, 95/P0764/APPEAL. There have been several applications by neighbours to 
build similar dwellings and these have all been refused. All houses along this road have large 

94



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

gardens and therefore if this application was granted then this would set a precedent for future 
application. This is a quiet road in a rural area and should remain as such.  
- The drainage board have commented on the lack of disposal of surface water, it is common 
knowledge that this section of Woolfellhill Road regularly floods causing significant damage to the 
grass verge which result in extreme muddy conditions and vehicles becoming stuck.  
- Building of the proposal would expose the pumping house and electricity substation even more, 
concern also raised for the hedging which runs from the White Post Road South the full length of 
the rear of the properties on Hodney Road to the paddock on Woolfellhill Road which provides 
housing for local wildlife and the proposal could result in its removal or damage.  
- Recently approached by the Applicant questioning why we had objected.  
- Over 85% of the people living down the street of Hodney Road have come together and had a 
social distance discussion about the proposal and recent application and we are firmly against the 
planning.  
- The proposal would be more or less built in their back garden for 62 Hodney Road.  
- There are already too many houses as well as too much traffic down the road.  
- The proposal will be a direct invasion of our privacy at No.58b Hodney Road as our bedroom 
patio doors and balcony will look straight down onto the proposed bungalow and it will also be in 
direct line of sight from the rear kitchen door and decking. 
- The proposed bungalow's access will be opposite the access gate to our garden and will be 
facing directly down our land.  
- Proposal would change the view of the landscape and the aesthetics of the area. 
- There is no local need for this property within the road due to the extensive development to the 
east of Eye village and the Newborough development to the west of this part of Hodney Road 
offering more than sufficient alternative accommodation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

95



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
 
- Principle of development 
- Design and character of the site and surrounding area 
- Neighbour amenity 
- Highway safety and parking provision 
- Future occupier amenity 
- Trees 
- Flood risk 
- Archaeology 
- Pollution Control 
- Other 
 
a) Principle of development 
The application site is located outside of the village envelope of Eye as well as the boundary of the 
urban area as defined by Policy LP2 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
LP2 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) outlines a number of exemptions which allow 
development to be carried out in locations outside of the village envelope. In assessing the 
proposal against each of these exemptions:  
 

• The proposal is not for agricultural, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and access to 
natural greenspace, transport or utility services purposes.  

• The proposal does not meet the rural exemption test set within Policy LP8 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

• The proposal is not in accordance with Policy LP11 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

• The proposal is also not a minerals or waste development in accordance with the separate 
Minerals and Waste Development Plan Documents.  

 
In light of the above it is considered that the principle of the proposal cannot be supported, as the 
proposal is not in accordance with Policy LP2 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
b) Design and character of the site and surrounding area 
The proposal would be built within the rear of No.60 Hodney Road which would not respect the 
context of the site and surrounding area with the proposal not in keeping with the local patterns of 
development. The properties located on Hodney Road are served by large gardens with vehicular 
accesses onto Hodney Road. The existing pattern of the development keeps dwellings to the front 
with the large gardens allowing for a sympathetic border to the rear fields and agricultural fields to 
the rear of the site. The proposal would not respect the context of the site and not sit comfortably 
within the area.  
 
Further, the development would result in the application site appearing to be overdeveloped and 
cramped in appearance due to the amount of development on site. The proposed development 
would measure approximately 19.8m long, the ridge height of the development will be 
approximately 4.9m and the eaves height of the development will be approximately 2.45m. The 
size and scale of the proposed bungalow would result in the proposal being overly dominant within 
the area and would be of out of character in its design.  
 
In light of the above it is considered that the size, scale, setting, layout and design of the proposal 
would result in an adverse impact on the design and character of the site and surrounding area, 
not in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
 
 
 

96



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

c) Neighbour amenity  
 
No.62 Hodney Road 
No.62 is located to the west of the application site and is a detached property with a large garden 
which ends in line with the northern boundary of the application site. The proposal would be 
located adjacent the rear garden of No.62. The separation distance building to building at the 
closest point will be approximately 11m. The proposed building will be clearly visible over the 
shared boundary treatment given the size and scale of the proposal. Is it noted that the proposal 
would be set off the boundary by 2m with the attached garage set off the boundary less than that, 
however, given the length of the entire proposed building at around 19.8m and the height of 4.9m 
the proposal would be dominant within the rear garden of No.62. It is therefore considered that the 
proposal would be overbearing by virtue of its size and scale of the development would result in an 
unacceptable level of impact on the adjacent neighbouring at No.62.  
 
The proposal has 3 windows to the rear of the proposed development which will face No.62; 2 of 
the windows serve a bathroom and ensuite which can be reasonably conditioned to be obscure 
glazed and as such there will be no adverse overlooking impact. Further, the rear elevation of the 
proposal also has a bedroom window, however, this is a secondary window and as such it can also 
be reasonably conditioned to be obscure glazed to mitigate against any adverse level of 
overlooking into the neighbours garden.  
 
No.58B Hodney Road 
No.58B is located across Woodfellhill Road to the east of the application site. No.58B is a two 
storey dwelling with an access off Woolfellhill Road. The resident at No.58B raised concerns with 
regards impact on privacy to their main rear amenity area and rear habitable windows. It is 
considered that the proposed bungalow would be set beyond the rear garden boundary of No.58B 
and only a small portion of the proposal will be directly opposite the rear garden of No.58B. 
Further, the separation distance of 10m from boundary to boundary is considered sufficient to 
provide a reasonable separation distance to not result in an adverse overlooking impact into the 
main amenity area for No.58B.  
 
In light of the above it is considered that the proposal will result in an adverse level of impact on the 
amenity of No.60 by virtue of the size and scale of the proposal not in accordance with Policy LP17 
of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
d)  Highway safety and parking provision 
The Local Highway Authority made a recommendation to refuse the proposal due to insufficient 
information being provided that adequate facilities can be provided within the curtilage of the site 
for the parking and turning of 2 vehicles, it was noted by the LHA that the garage is of substandard 
internal dimensions to be considered to be provide a parking space. As such the manoeuvring of 
vehicles likely to be generated by the proposed development would have an adverse effect on the 
safety of users of the adjoining public highway.  
 
Secondly, the LHA stated that it has not been demonstrated that an access of adequate width with 
appropriate vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays can be provided as a consequence, the 
manoeuvring of vehicles likely to be generated by the proposed development would have an 
adverse effect on the safety of users of the adjoining public highway.  
 
For the sake of clarity, the issues raised by the LHA could be resolved, however, this could 
potentially result in an adverse impact on the future occupier amenity by reducing the amenity area 
of the proposed development, which will be covered as a standalone issue, and could also result in 
an impact on the Willow which is protected by a provisional TPO. As such given that to resolve the 
issues raised above would result in an adverse level impact on future occupier amenity and the 
protected Tree. 
 
Given the above it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policy LP13 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).    

97



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

 
e) Future occupier amenity  
As part of Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) the amenity of future occupiers must 
be considered. The proposal is a two bed property and it is considered that the current amenity 
area located to the front of the application site would be insufficient for the main amenity area. The 
agent supplied a Site Plan providing details of the tree location and root spread, the details of 
which are viewed as inaccurate by the Council's Tree Officer. Taking into account the details 
submitted, as well as the comments of the Tree Officer and Officer's site visit, it is considered that 
the Willow tree would take up a large area of the main amenity area for the application site and 
would not allow for an adequate provision of amenity for the future occupants.   
 
The siting of the Willow tree is also likely to result in an impact on the adequate natural light 
provision into the main lounge area, however, the main lounge area is served by two further 
windows.  
 
Given the above it is considered that the proposal would not provide sufficient amenity provision for 
future occupiers and as such it is considered that the proposal is contrary to LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
f) Trees 
The Council's Tree Officer has taken the view that the position of the Willow, which is protected by 
a provision TPO 21/00003/TPO, appears to be inaccurately positioned and should be located 
further from the eastern boundary of the property towards the position of the proposed dwelling. 
The Tree Officer also viewed the '6 metres root spread' as identified on plan named 'Proposed Site 
Plan with Weeping Willow shown' as inaccurate.  
 
The Tree Officer noted that the root protection area (RPA) of the Willow would appear to extend at 
least to the main roof ridge line of the proposed dwelling and may be beyond.  
 
The Tree Officer made remarks in reference to the width of the plot, Officers measured the width of 
the plot at a similar place as identified on the submitted Proposed Plans and the measurement was 
in line with 18.6m.  
 
The Tree Officer objected to the proposed as the construction of the proposed dwelling and the 
installation and construction work to form the new drive entrance/cross-over from the public 
highway, the drive, turning area and car parking space will impact upon the RPA of the Willow. No 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment was provided as part of the application, and neither any 
technical details were provided in reference to the construction of the proposed development to 
demonstrate that works can be carried out without adverse impact on the protected Willow. The 
Agent did request to deal with these matters by way of a condition, however, these matters would 
form part of the material consideration for the principle of the development and in line with Policy 
LP29 adequate consideration must be given to the impact of the development to any existing trees. 
Details have not been provided to accurate identify the extent of the RPA as well as the impact of 
the proposed development including the driveway.  
 
Given the provisional TPO on the Willow and the lack of accurate technical details with regards the 
RPA and construction of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposal is contrary 
to Policy LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
g) Flood Risk 
The application site is located within Flood Zone 1, however, concerns were raised over the 
drainage of surface water and as such the North Level District Internal Drainage Board has 
objected as no details were provided with regard to disposal of surface water.  
 
Paragraph 164 of the NPPF (2019) identifies some minor development should still meet the 
requirement for a site-specific flood risk assessment. Given the proposal for a new house within an 
area where the drainage of surface water raises concerns and the lack of details provided with this 

98



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

application it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Paragraph 164 of the NPPF and Policy 
LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
h) Archaeology  
The Council's Archaeological Officer raised no objection in principle subject to the implementation 
of an archaeological programme of evaluation by trial trench due to the potential impact on 
potential buried remains associated with the Roman Car Dyke. 
 
The Agent previous did indicate that they would be able to accept the above as a condition, as 
such the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
i) Pollution Control  
The Pollution Control team raised no objections and recommended the inclusion of a unsuspected 
contamination condition. It is considered that the condition is reasonable and proportionate.  
 
In light of the above it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP33 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
j) Other 
The Eye Parish Council made comments objecting to the proposal due to overdevelopment of the 
site as well as supporting the objection put forward by the Tree Officer, and also noting that the site 
is outside the village envelope and concerns over the narrow access to the site. 
 
Whilst the majority of the neighbour comments have been addressed above some issues have not 
been addressed and they will be addressed below.  
 

- Firstly, the traffic from the construction period would not be considered a reason for refusal 
due to the minor level of development and its temporary nature, and this would also be 
different from the potential impact on the Willow during the construction period which is a 
material consideration.  

- Whilst application are decided on a case by case basis it is considered that the proposal 
can set a precedent within the street for similar developments.  

- The extension of No.60 Hodney Road would not be a material consideration for this 
application.  

- Planning application ref 95/P0764 did apply for the permission for the erection of a separate 
dwelling unit alongside No.60 Hodney Road which was refused and the appeal for that 
application was also dismissed, this was considered during the application stage.  

- The current application does not propose the removal of any hedging which runs along the 
rear of the properties of Hodney Road. 

 
6 Conclusions 
 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below. 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
REFUSED for the following reasons: 
  
R 1 The proposal for the erection of a bungalow would be located on land outside of the Eye 

village envelope and outside the urban boundary of Peterborough. Further, the proposal 
does not meet the rural exemptions allowed under Policy LP8 and neither meets Policy 
LP11. The development, comprising development outside of the village envelope, is 
contrary to Policy LP2 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

  

99



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

R 2 The proposal by virtue of its siting in the rear garden of No.60 Hodney Road would not be in 
keeping with the local pattern of development within Hodney Road. The proposal, by virtue 
of its size, scale and massing would create an overly dominant development that would be 
out of character with the context of the site and surrounding area. The development would 
result in the overdevelopment of the application site causing a cramped form of 
development. Therefore it is considered that the proposal would result in an adverse impact 
on the design and character of the site and surrounding area, contrary to Policy LP16 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

  
R 3 The proposed bungalow, by virtue of its size, scale and massing sited along the boundary 

and in close proximity to No.60 Hodney Road would result in an unacceptable level of 
impact on the main amenity area of No.60 Hodney Road. The proposal would result in an 
adverse impact on the main amenity area of No.60 Hodney Road and would be contrary to 
Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
R 4 The proposed development would result in dwellings being served by inadequate parking 

provision. The proposal is required, in accordance with adopted parking standards, to 
provide 2no. on-site parking spaces as well an turning areas to ensure that vehicles 
entering the site can leave in a forward gear. Insufficient information has been provided 
with regards the proposed parking and turning area provision on site in order to adequately 
assess whether the manoeuvring of vehicles likely to be generated by the proposed 
development can be achieved without having an adverse effect on the safety of users of the 
adjoining public highway. Therefore, the proposal does not provide sufficient information to 
demonstrate that the parking and turning areas for 2no. vehicles can be achieved on site in 
accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

  
R 5 The proposed development has not demonstrated that an access of adequate width with 

appropriate vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays can be provided at the application site. 
Therefore, the manoeuvring of vehicles likely to be generated by the proposed 
development would have an adverse effect on the safety of users of the adjoining public 
highway by virtue of a substandard access with insufficient vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility 
splays which would result in an adverse impact on the safety of the users of the adjacent 
highway. As such the proposal is contrary to Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019). 

  
R 6      The proposed development has not clearly demonstrated that a sufficient amount of 

outdoor amenity space will be provided to the future occupiers of the application site. The 
size and location of the Willow tree (protected by a provisional TPO) has not been 
adequately addressed by the application to demonstrate that the area to the side of the 
proposed development would be large enough to provide a sufficient amount of outdoor 
amenity space for the future occupiers of the development. As such the proposal does not 
adequately demonstrate that the private amenity space is well designed and located, and 
as such is contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
   
R 7 The construction of the proposed dwelling and the installation and construction work to form 

the new drive entrance/cross-over from the public highway, the drive, turning area and car 
parking space will impact upon the root protection area of the Willow tree (protected by a 
provisional TPO). No Arboricultural Impact Assessment was provided as part of the 
application, and neither any technical details were provided in reference to the construction 
of the proposed development to demonstrate that works can be carried out without adverse 
impact on the protected Willow. The necessary accurate and technical details have not 
been provided to accurate identify the extent of the root protection area as well as the 
impact of the proposed development including the driveway as well as the impact from the 
construction works. As such it has not been demonstrated that the construction of the 
proposed development and associated works can be carried out without adversely impact 
the root protection area of the Willow tree (protected by a provisional TPO). Therefore the 

100



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

proposal has not demonstrated adequate consideration of the impact of the proposal on the 
Willow tree in question contrary to Policy LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 
R8 Insufficient details have been provided with regards the disposal of surface water in relation 

to the proposed development. Given the location of the application site within an area of 
flooding caused by surface water it is considered that without the necessary details the 
proposed development has not demonstrated that an acceptable level of mitigation will be 
provided to prevent a risk of flooding caused by surface water within the area. Therefore, 
the proposal would be contrary to Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
Copies to Councillor Nigel Simons, Councillor Steve Allen and Councillor Richard Brown 
 

101



This page is intentionally left blank

102


	Agenda
	4.1 19/00272/OUT - Land Off Newborough Road, North Of A47 And West Of A16 Paston Peterborough PE4 7AA
	Item 1 19.00272 - Leeds Farm Final Committee Report

	4.2 20/00846/HHFUL - 21 Cherryfields Orton Waterville Peterborough PE2 5XD
	Item 2 20.00846-HHFUL Cherryfields Final Committee Report

	4.3 20/01502/FUL - 266 Eastfield Road Eastfield Peterborough PE1 4BE
	Item 3 2001502FUL - 266 Eastfield Road Eastfield Peterborough PE1 4BE- Committee Report

	4.4 21/00132/FUL - 60 Hodney Road Eye Peterborough PE6 7YJ
	Item 4 2100132FUL - 60 Hodney Road Eye Peterborough PE6 7YJ Committtee report


